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Dear Shareholders,

In 2022, an extraordinary and challenging vyear,
almost all the world’s economies were affected by
the continuous resurgence of the once-in-a-century
pandemic, reshaping of the global industry supply chain,
and geopolitical challenges.

These came on top of extant issues such as persistent
inflation, climate change impact and lingering effects
from the pandemic. Each of these elements would have
been a challenge for the global ecosystem, but their
collective consequence was far reaching for our industry
as the ’'super-cycle’ year 2021 quickly metamorphosed
into a semiconductor downcycle in 2022.

Trading condition was exacerbated by lockdowns of the
Group’s main subsidiaries in China as a result of Covid
cases discovered in such cities. Consequently, the
Group’s offices and warehouses in China had not been
able to operate in a normal manner.

Looking forward to 2023, we will continue to strengthen
our advantages in various specialized technologies,
constantly optimize product structure in close alignment
with market trends, and accumulate new momentum
for high-quality development. New opportunities will be
identified from challenges and new prospects will be
opened up in a changing environment.

We will unswervingly innovate with international vision to
create new products for our customers all over the world
and make achievements by establishing development
projects in new areas of technology.

Thank you.

LAM KEUNG
Chairman
30 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

b Y
& E AT R 5 T
2022 2021 Changes
20224 20214 29
USD’000 usD’000
FEIT FET
Key financial information TEUBER
Revenue N 121,710 022,040  (45.2%)
Gross profit £ 7 8,396 12,588 (33.3%)
(Loss)/Profit for the year N/NSIE7 PN X
attributable to the owners of the  FE (E18),/F)8
Company (1,584) 2171  (172.96%)
As at/ As at/
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021 Changes
20225 20214
128318, 12A31R/
BEzH B E%H
IEFEF IEFE b3 )
UsD’000 UsSD’000
FETT FET
Total assets BEEMRSE 65,805 77,200  (14.76%)
Total liabilities BERRE 31,327 42868  (26.92%)
Cash and cash equivalents ReERkBEEEY 2,343 7,670  (69.45%)
Total equity U R 34,478 34,332 0.43%
Key financial ratios ETEMHEE
Gross profit margin E ) & 6.9% 57% 21.05%
Net (loss)/profit margin F(ER) /FEX -1.3% 1.0% (230.00%)
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings &M E AN #E (FE)
per share (HK cents) J&F B (1.51) 2.08 (172.60%)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OVERVIEW

The Group primarily engage in the sourcing and sale
of IC products and the provisions of IC application
solutions and value-added services to suit the needs of
our customers. Our business is focused on fast-growing
and emerging market categories, with an emphasis on
providing environmentally-friendly and energy-saving
solutions.

After years of continuous efforts, the Group has become
a well-established fabless semiconductor application
solutions provider specialising in the provision, design
and development of IC application solutions and sale
of ICs for consumer and industrial products. The aim
of the Group is to strengthen our market position within
the IC application solutions industry by increasing our
market share and enhancing the quality of our services.
We believe that this will bring sustainable growth to our
business and create long-term value in the Group for our
Shareholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group focuses on the consumer and industrial
product sectors, we source and sell IC products and
electronic components. We also provide IC application
solutions and value-added services to suit the needs
of our customers. While our application solutions can
be utilised in a wide range of electronic products, we
specialise in the following five major product categories:
(i) mobile devices and smart charging; (ii) motor control;
(iii) sensors and automation; (iv) light-emitting diode
(“LED”) lighting; and (v) radio frequency (“RF”) power.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R E 5t el & 5 4T

Breakdown of our revenue generated by product #{ZE2022F12A31BLFE([FEEHK
category for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the #EH ZE2021F12A31BIEFEE((MI—FEE])
“Year”) and 31 December 2021 (the “Preceding Year’) ZE®RBAZ oUW ABRMEZIMT
is set forth below:

2022 2021
20224 20214
UsD’000 % USD’000 %
FETT % FET %
Mobile devices and smart BEREREETE
charging 67,947 55.8 163,850 73.8
Motor control 2 40,149 33.0 35,236 15.9
Sensors and automation BREENBEHE 9,670 7.9 15,896 71
LED lighting LED &8 BH 2,633 2.2 4674 21
RF power RFE R 1,311 1.1 2,384 1.1
Total &5t 121,710 100 222,040 100
Breakdown of our gross profit by product category for AEERI—FERERBIE D
the Year and the Preceding Year is set forth below: B ENEAMAMET WA
2022 2021
20224 20214
UsD’000 % USD’000 %
FET % FZET %
Mobile devices and smart BERBELREERE
charging 2,470 29.4 4,250 33.8
Motor control T AT 4,398 52.4 6,528 51.9
Sensors and automation BERE kB EES 1,336 15.9 734 5.8
LED lighting LED R BR — — 682 5.4
RF power RFE R 192 2.3 394 3.1
Total = 8,396 100 12,588 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mobile devices and smart charging

The mobile devices category focuses on products
utilising low power radio frequency connectivity and
signal transmissions. ICs in the mobile devices category
are antennae-centric products, which enable and
improve the wireless functions (such as 2G/3G/4G/
LTE and wifi connectivity) of the antennae of cars,
mobile phones and tablets, smart watches and other
wifi-enabled devices. The Group assist customers in
developing the application solutions for such ICs to
match their product requirements and restrictions.

Smart charging is a power management technology
used in smart devices such as smart phones, computers
and battery packs to provide shorter charging times for
these devices. By utilising smart charging ICs, smart
devices boost the level of power to be delivered and
thus charge the batteries of the smart devices at faster
speeds, thereby shortening the overall charging time.
Smart charging ICs also gauge various attributes of the
batteries, such as the levels of charge and the thermal
conditions of the batteries, and reduce the level of power
delivered to the batteries when they are nearly full or
getting overheated.

Motor control

Motor control ICs are used in modern motors where
the speed and torque of the moveable parts of a
machine need to be controlled. These motor control
applications can be applied to a wide array of devices,
from household items such as fans, to heavy industrial
equipment such as forklifts and robots. Motor control
application solutions are mainly focused on the ICs used
on variable-frequency drive (“VFDs”). VFDs are a type
of motor controller that controls the speed and torque of
an electric motor by varying the frequency and voltage of
its power supply. By using VFDs, motors are able to save
energy, control performance, reduce noise levels of the
motor, and improve the lifespan of machines.

Customers of the motor control category are generally
manufacturers of motors. Motor control solutions of the
Group include applications for the controls of ceiling
and vertical fans, electronically commutated fans,
air-conditioning systems, electric cars and bikes, robotic
arms, pumps, washing machines, compressors, sewing
machines, industrial power tools such as electric picks,
and medical power tools such as drills.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

Sensors and automation

Sensors are used to detect changes or events in the
environment. When the sensor detects a change,
it provides a corresponding output to the device to
meet requirements of data and signal transmission,
processing, storage, display, recording and control of
information. There are many kinds of sensors, which are
used to measure, among other things, force, distance,
temperature, sound, light, electrical currents, magnetic
fields.

Our application solutions for sensor ICs are coupled
together with automation solutions that assist the
customer’s product in automatically detecting and
reacting to various circumstantial changes in the
environment. The Group provides application solutions
for our radar sensors to be used on (i) automobile
vehicles to assist drivers with parking and provide
auto-drive functions; (ii) unmanned aerial drones in
maintaining stability of flight and avoiding obstacles;
(iii) security systems that link with videos to detect,
recognise and track moving objects; (iv) traffic
monitoring systems to measure speed of moving vehicles
and to monitor traffic congestion; and (v) smart lighting
systems that have motion sensing. We also provide
application solutions for pressure sensors to be used in
smart phones and smart watches for detecting altitude.

RF power

RF, or radio-frequency, is widely used in the transmission
of signals, and has a long-distance transmission
capacity. RF is widely used in the fields of wireless
communication.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RF power means the power supply devices which are
used to generate and stabilise RF power. RF power
equipment is generally composed of a RF signal source,
a RF power amplifier (which is an electronic device
that provides power gain) and an attenuator (a device
that reduces the power of a signal without distorting
its waveform), and a receiver (such as those found
on the rooftops of buildings). The Group’s RF power
products are used in cable television (which is a system
of delivering television programming to subscribers by
RF signals transmitted through cables), and broadband
networks, such as fibre to the home (FTTH, where the
fibre optic cable carries the RF signal to the domestic
home) and fibre to the building (FTTB, where the fibre
optic cable carries the RF signal to a building). Our
customers in the RF power category are generally
engaged in broadcasting and signal transmissions, and
include operators of television and radio broadcasting.

LED lighting

LED lighting systems utilise LEDs, or light emitting
diodes, to provide energy efficient, aesthetic and
long-life lighting solutions. LED lighting solutions are
cost-effective and have a wide range of applications and
can be used indoors, outdoors, and for special lighting
effects, such as spot-lights or stage lighting.

An LED lamp or bulb is typically comprised of several
components, including the LED which acts as light
source, the LED driver IC that regulates power to the
LED, reflector cups that refract and reflect the light, and
the lens that focuses the light beams.

LED application design capabilities is considered to
be well developed and mature. One of our main design
applications for LED lighting systems was to provide
dimming features for LED lamps or bulbs. Although
it appears simple to design a dimmer for lighting
systems, it is in fact a challenge as LEDs and traditional
incandescent lamps operate very differently. If not
done correctly, the dimmer will cause instability in the
electrical current, which may cause flickering in the
LED lamp or bulb, and affect its dimming range and
performance. Our years of experience in and familiarity
with this product category enable us to provide fast and
comprehensive application solutions for our LED lighting
customers.

CEIERE PSR

RFERIERIEFELELREBERFERMNER
BE RFERIEBFTHRFERIRE - RF
NMERRFZ(—ERBEINEREE) -
TRE(—EREERAEAN TS HMHHE
BEREE)RBEREZ(WMEREFEIR
REVEK - AEBRFERERE AR
ERER(BERERBBRBEEURFEHR
FRARMBFEEESEHBENRR)NER
WP (KBEEP RFIEHRAR
HEREBRERI) R DE (e E D
B RFERBANCEHXINETF)) o &M
RFERBANEFBENXESERLER

LED f% BH

LEDRRRB R A A AR R E R anae -
EERRSWRABRFR - LEDBRAKE
RAREMAURFZEEAREZ  THARE
N BN HRBHARR (OB ESE

AEX) -

LEDE B eBERESE T TH B
LED (fE&Y)R) - LEDEEENEEIC (FHEFLED
BR) - REMGTFMRE R REE
(BEXFR) -

HMRRLEDEAIEARAENESER T
R - HPLEDRARGH —EEE
RETEMEANELEDE &8 AFHH
- BESRARMRAAXLIEUG
5 - BRELED R B E 5 83 & & E1F AT H
R - Hitil ABKE - WHREFTAR - s
BERERTRE  MEXTEHLEDE
HEBEEATERMTERCHE KK
B ZFHYZRERBRINEFERETH#
EHRMEARBLEDRARTFREREEE
MERBRNTER -

BEEEMEERARF 2022F FH

11



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R E 5t el & 5 4T

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, total revenue
decreased by 45.2% to US$121.7 million. The drop was
mainly attributable to a general slowdown of economic
and manufacturing activities in the second half of the
year. In particular, trading condition was exacerbated
by lockdowns of the Group’s main subsidiaries in China
as a result of Covid cases discovered in such cities.
Consequently, the Group’s offices and warehouses in
China had not been able to operate in a normal manner..

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
decreased by 33.3% year-on-year to US$8.4 million,
which was mainly due to the decrease in revenue
resulting from sales drop in product solution, in particular
applications in IT communication modules in the mobile
devices and smart charging. Gross profit margin
increase from 5.7% to 6.9%, which was mainly driven by
the higher margin of motor control.

Other Income

The Group’s other income amounted to US$0.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, which mainly
included government grants and imputed interest income
on life insurance policy deposits.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of
salaries and benefits for staff, transportation costs,
travelling expenses, office utility expenses, business
entertainment and marketing expenses. During the Year,
the Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted
to US$3.3 million which is comparable to 2021,
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B4 ¥5 [ BE
LN

HE2022F12A31BILFE - WA BT
D45 2% E1217TEEETL c Z NKEER
RERATFFLEERBEXEBLRBNE -
LEZ2 AEERFTFENETERBRARR
R MBEIRCOVIDEREHHE  EHE
SEHE—TEL Al XEBERFAEH
MR AERBERENEEE -

£7

HE2022%12 A31B L FEHEFIZ FR
133.3%E8A4EEET T EHNE MR
RAARMEETRERKARY  LH
ERRELEETEN DB RSIELR
RER - EFEXHS7% L FAE6.9% =
THRE#EHFBEES -

Hiplr A

HE2022F12A31HILFE - REBEME
A BOCEEEZTL EXERERF
FHUEMASRERSHNEET B A -

HERDHMAX
HEMDHEHAYTEBREEIFSLE
Al - B@EA ZRAX  BRAEKE
X ¥(¥BBENTEHEERY - XFE
N AEENHEERSHERY A33EBE
ET c EH2021ERE o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses mainly consist of
salaries and benefits for the management, administrative,
operation support and financial personnel, administrative
costs and depreciation expenses relating to property,
plant and equipment used for administrative purposes.

During the Year, general and administrative expenses
amounted to US$5.3 million which increased by US$0.1
million when compared with 2021.

Finance Costs

During the Year, finance costs amounted to US$1.6
million, when compared with 2021, a decrease of US$0.2
million is noted. The decrease in finance cost was in line
with the decrease in bank and other borrowings during
the year.

Income Tax Credit/(Expense)

During the Year, income tax credit was US$0.5 million
(2021: income tax expense US$0.3 million).

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, the Group’s profit after
tax experienced a change from US$2.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021 to a net loss of US$1.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The financial information set out in this announcement
does not constitute the Group’s audited accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2022, but represents an
extract from the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022 which have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the
Board.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R E 5t el & 5 4T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group maintained a satisfactory
liquidity position supporting business growth. As at
31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of US$2.3 million (2021: US$7.7 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had recorded net
current assets of US$22.0 million (2021: US$25.4 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group
was 39.1% (2021: 47.8%), which computed based on
total debts (including bank and other borrowings and
bills payables) divided by total equity plus total debts.

The decrease in bank and other borrowings was mainly
due to the Group had settled several discounted invoices
during the year. At as 31 December 2022, the Group had
bank and other borrowings amounting to US$11.1 million
(2021: US$17.1 million).

The annual weighted average interest rate of the bank
and other borrowings during the Year was 6.88% (2021:
2.19%).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS
ISSUE

On 14 November 2022, the Company proposed rights
issue on the basis of two rights shares for every five
existing shares held on 28 November 2022, at the
subscription price of HK$0.063 per rights share.

On 28 December 2022, the Rights Issue was completed
and 298,122,380 ordinary shares were issued. The
net proceeds after deducting the related expenses of
HK$1.0 million (equivalent to US$0.1 million), amounted
to HK$17.8 million (equivalent to US$2.3 million).
Accordingly, the Company’s share capital increased
by HK$3 million (equivalent to US$0.4 million) and the
remaining balance of the net proceeds of HK$14.8
million (equivalent to US$1.9 million) was credited to the
share premium account.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The net proceeds from the Rights Issue of HK$17.8
million (equivalent to US$2.3 million), after deducting
the underwriting fees, commissions and expenses
payable by us, have been and will be utilised in the
same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe
as set out in the announcement of the Company dated
14 November 2022 under the section headed “Use
of Proceeds”. The table below sets out the planned
applications of the net proceeds and actual usage up to
31 December 2022:

Approximate
percentage of

EEERR D

NMkEMBEER B2 kAXE  BA
"B RBEFHEI7TSEES THER
23BEEL)EL T B EEARRF20224F
MA4BTIENRAERITERIERR ] —
BAEERATR LA RBEHERERXD
B TREHMEBHREBEFENTEAEK
HZE2022F12 A3 ERSGHAB M

Actual usage Unutilised
Actual up to amount as at
amount of 31 December 31 December

Use of proceeds total amount Net Proceeds 2022 2022

8 F2022%12 122022

FERIE A31H 12A31H

GEEBY FHER B & IR X8R

FERERE Bt &8 BRER e

(HK$°000) (HK$°000) (HK$°000)

(F#) (F#) (F#E)

(i)  Finance payment for purchases of ICs 90% 16.0 111 4.9
() REICHIHBMR

(i)  Working capital 10% 1.8 1.8 —

(iy 2&EE%
100% 17.8 12.9 4.9

BREEMBERAF 20229 F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E 1R E 5t el & 5 4T

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 107 employees
(2021: 112 employees). During the Year, employee
benefit expenses (including directors’ remuneration)
amounted to US$4.8 million (2021: US$5.7 million),
accounting for 4% (2021: 3%) of total revenue for the
Year.

The remunerations of the employees are commensurate
with their performance, skills, knowledge, experience
and the market trend. Employee benefits provided by the
Group include medical insurance scheme, mandatory
provident fund, social insurance and housing allowance
in PRC. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis and will make necessary
adjustments that accommodate the pay levels in the
industry. In addition to basic salaries, the employees
may be offered with discretionary bonuses and cash
awards based on individual performances.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had not issued or
allotted any awarded shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company complies or intends to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, save for Code A.2.1 which requires
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer be
separated and performed by different individuals. Mr.
Lam is both our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman.
Our Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership and
efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. Our Group considers that the balance of power
and authority of the present arrangement will not be
impaired as the Board comprises five other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including two other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance.

Our Directors will review our corporate governance
policies and compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code in each financial year and comply with the “comply
or explain” principle in our corporate governance report
which will be included in our annual reports after the
Listing.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEE

The Board consists of four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (‘“INEDs").

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (#3&) (“Mr. Lam™), aged 50, joined
the Group in April 2010 and was appointed as a Director
in August 2016. He was re-designated as the executive
Director and appointed as the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in March 2018.

Mr. Lam is responsible for supervising the overall
management, making strategic planning of our Group,
implementing Board resolutions, as well as providing
guidance and directions of our Group. Mr. Lam also
conducts overall strategic review of the R&D department
of our Group, giving R&D directions in relation to the
latest trend of the IC and semiconductor industry.

Mr. Lam has over 26 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Lam worked at Rohm Electronics (H.K.) Company
Limited (currently known as Rohm Semiconductor Hong
Kong Company Limited) from September 1995 to August
2003 and his last position was assistant sales manager
where he was responsible for the sale of IC products.
Mr. Lam worked as a senior manager in marketing
department at Synergy International Technology
Limited from October 2003 to February 2010, where
he was responsible for the sales and marketing of
semiconductor solutions.

Mr. Lam joined IH Technology Limited (“IH
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as a general manager in April 2010 and
was subsequently promoted to serve as a director of IH
Technology in November 2010. Mr. Lam has also been
serving as a director of Flyring Electronics Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since
January 2011. Mr. Lam served as an independent non-
executive director of EFT Solutions Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8062), from 23 November
2016 to 26 March 2019, which is principally engaged
in sourcing of electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale
terminals and peripheral devices, and provision of
electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale system support
services and software solution services.
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Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor's degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Tennessee, the United
States in December 1993.

Mr. Lam, through P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company which is 100% beneficially owned by him,
holds approximately 60.35% of issued share capital of
the Company. In addition, pursuant to the confirmation
deed dated 21 March 2018 (the “Confirmation Deed”),
Mr. Lam, Mr. Qing and Ms. Feng Tao, the spouse of Mr.
Qing (“Mrs. Qing”), confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of the Group, Mr. Lam is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Kingtech which is
100% beneficially owned by Mrs. Qing.

Mr. Qing Haodong (&%) (“Mr. Qing”), aged 59,
joined the Group in December 2016 and was appointed
as a Director in December 2017. He was re-designated
as the executive Director in March 2018.

Mr. Qing is responsible for the overall marketing activities
of our Group. He is also responsible for liaising with
electronics manufacturers and promoting the latest
electronic products to customers.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

Mr. Qing has over 21 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Qing was an automation engineer at Sichuan Food
Fermentation Industry Research and Design Institute* (4
MNERMBEETEMRFKEBT) from September 1985
to November 2000, where he was responsible for the
electrical design for automation control equipment. Mr.
Qing joined Chengdu Flyring Electronics Co., Ltd.* (X
#HWRIRETAERAET) (“Chengdu Flyring”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a sales
manager in November 2000. Mr. Qing has been serving
as the supervisor at Chengdu Flyring, Shenzhen IH
Technology Co., Ltd* (R HE &I M AR D a)
and Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.*
(L BEREMEFEMBRAA) (“Shanghai IH"), all
of which are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, since February 2006, May 2005 and August
2009, respectively.

Mr. Qing obtained his professional certificate in industrial
electronics and enterprise (L{®E & %) from Harbin Jixie
Industry School* (MR E# M T 2/K), the PRC, in
August 1985.

Mr. Qing is the spouse of Mrs. Qing, who beneficially
owns 100% of Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. (“Kingtech”). In
addition, pursuant to the Confirmatory Deed, Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of our Group, Mr. Qing is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by his spouse Mrs. Qing
through Kingtech, and all the Shares held by Mr. Lam
through P. Grand.
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Mr. Mai Lu (Z &) (“Mr. Mai”), aged 48, joined the
Group in January 2017 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2018.

Mr. Mai oversees the design and R&D functions of
our Group and is responsible for the overall daily
management of the design and R&D team.

Mr. Mai has over 20 years of experience in providing
technical solutions of semiconductors. Mr. Mai worked as
an assistant engineer at the Chinese People’s Liberation
Army from July 1996 to July 2001, and his last rank at
the Chinese People’s Liberation Army was Professional
Technology Lieutenant (% % £ fif # &). Mr. Mai worked
as a sales engineer at Rohm Semiconductor (Shenzhen)
Co. Ltd. from July 2001 to February 2003, where he was
responsible for sales and providing technical supports
to the customers, and worked as a manager at the R&D
department of Shanghai Huanwei Electronics Company
Limited* (EBRMEFBRAA) from March 2003 to
August 2010, where he was responsible for overseeing
the R&D department of the company.

Mr. Mai joined Shanghai IH as head of the R&D
department in September 2010.

Mr. Mai obtained his bachelor’s degree in electronics
and information system (EFE2H{EE XH24) from
National University of Defense Technology (A Bl A R f# %
B G R E T AE currently known as AR A R 7 i
B &[5 R KE2), the PRC, in July 1996.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Cheng Yu Pik (285 %) (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 42,
joined the Group in July 2009 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2020.

Ms. Cheng has over 18 years of experience in the
semiconductor industry. Ms. Cheng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative functions of
the Group, including collaborating with other members of
the senior management and staff members to formulate
and implement policies and procedures; interfacing
cross-functionally at all levels within the Group as well
as with external resources (such as logistic companies,
governmental agencies); and providing routine reports to
the Board regarding operations, business performance
and human resources.

Ms. Cheng joined IH Technology in July 2009. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked at Synergy International
Technology Limited from August 2003 to June 2009
and her last position was senior customer service
coordinator where she was responsible for coordinating
with suppliers and handling enquiries. Ms. Cheng
worked as a general clerk at Kingdan Development
Limited from September 2000 to July 2003, where she
was responsible for dealing with suppliers, clients and
customs declarations.

Ms. Cheng obtained her matriculation certificate from
Caritas Bianchi College of Careers, Hong Kong, in
October 2000.
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INEDs

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (“Mr Chan”), aged 43, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Arts in Accountancy and a master’s
degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 2007 and October
2013, respectively.

He is a member of the Hong Kong institute of Certified
Public Accountants(Practising), and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries since February 2011 and November
2019, respectively. Mr. Chan has more than 15 years
of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management.

In the early stage of his career, Mr. Chan worked
successively in JBPB & Company (formerly known as
Grant Thornton and later merged with BDO Limited), with
his last position as an assistant manager in assurance
from August 2007 to February 2011. From March 2011 to
April 2015, he served as the chief financial officer of a
PRC-based mining company.

Mr. Chan then acted as the financial controller of KPa-
BM Holdings Limited (stock code: 2663) from May 2015
to April 2018. Mr. Chan was the financial controller and
company secretary of Heysea Yachts Holdings Company
Limited from May 2019 to April 2020. Mr. Chan was an
independent non-executive director and a company
secretary of Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8086), a company listed on GEM of the
Exchange, from August 2017 to September 2018 and
from January 2019 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Chan had several positions from September 2016
to March 2019 in Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High
Technology Corporation Limited (“Mingwah”) (stock
code: 8301), a company previously listed on GEM of the
Exchange, including non-executive director, executive
director and chief financial officer. He last served as a
non-executive director of Mingwah until March 2019.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8239), a company listed on GEM
of the Exchange since January 2022. He also as an
independent non-executive director of Leader Education
Limited (stock code: 1449) and Sanxun Holdings
Group Limited (stock code: 6611) since July 2020 and
September 2019 respectively, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Exchange.
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He is also the joint company secretary of Centenary
United Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959) since
January 2019. Currently he acted as the company
secretary of China Bozza Development Holdings Limted
(stock code: 1069), Bison Finance Group Limited (stock
code: 888) and Zhengwei Group Holdings Company
Limited (stock code: 2147) at May 2022, August 2022
and February 2023 respectively, those company listed
on the Main Board of the Exchange.

Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond (E8E &) (“Mr. Dan”), aged
52, was appointed as an INED of the Company in June
2019.

Mr. Dan has over 22 years of experience in the
information technology industry.

Mr. Dan has worked as a solution consultant at China
Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 941),
since March 2020, where he was mainly responsible
for providing technical and professional consultancy
services to its customers. Mr. Dan worked as senior
systems consultant at Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
from April 2017 to March 2020, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical and professional
consultancy services to its customers. Prior to joining
Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited, he was a senior bid
manager at CITIC Telecom International CPC Limited
from December 2015 to April 2017, where he was
responsible for managing bidding projects in relation to
information technology products. Prior to joining CITIC
Telecom International CPC Limited, he was an account
manager at Huawei Tech. Investment Co., Limited from
June 2013 to November 2015, where he was responsible
for providing technical services to the customers during
the process of sales. Mr. Dan worked as a business
consulting officer at Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
from June 2010 to May 2013, where he was responsible
for providing pre-sale support, performing technology
assessment and maintaining customer relationship.
Prior to that, he also gained experience from different
information technology or telecommunication companies
including Shen Milsom & Wilke Limited, PCCW Limited a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0008) and Unisys China/Hong Kong Limited
from May 1999 to June 2010 in various positions.

Mr. Dan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in computer
systems engineering from La Trobe University, Australia,
in May 1997, and his master’s degree in management
from Macquarie University, Australia, in October 2000.
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Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (F &t &) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 39,
is our independent non-executive Director. He joined
our Group on June 2019. Mr. Wong has more then 13
years of experience in financial management and public
offering transactions. Prior to joining our Group, from
September 2008, he was an associate in the Assurance
Department at PricewaterhouseCoopers and was
promoted to the position of senior associate in October
2010. He left PricewaterhouseCoopers in May 2011.
From August 2011 to September 2013, Mr. Wong worked
as assistant manager (corporate finance) at Fortune
Financial Capital Limited, a subsidiary of China Fortune
Financial Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 290). During
the period from September 2013 to April 2017, Mr. Wong
has been working in Guotai Junan (Hong Kong) Limited
(corporate finance) at Guotai Junan Capital Limited,
a subsidiary of Guotai Junan International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1788) and his last position
was assistant vice president in the corporate finance
department. From April 2017 to December 2017, he
worked as vice president (corporate finance) at CCB
International Capital Limited, a subsidiary of China
Construction Bank, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 939). Mr. Wong
worked as an associate director (corporate finance) at
Zhongtai International Management Limited from January
2018 to December 2018. From January 2019 to January
2022, Mr. Wong has been appointed as an executive
director at Zhongtai International Management Limited.
Mr. Wong was the independent non-executive director
of Ascent International Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code:264), from August 2018 to September 2019.
Mr. Wong has been appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Legion Consortium Limited, a
company list in the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2129) with effect from December 2020. Mr.
Wong is a licensed representative to carry on Type 1
(dealings in securities) and a responsible officer of Type
6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities
under the SFO.

Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor degree in Business
Administration from the City University of Hong Kong
in November 2008. He became a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
February 2012.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Lai Man Shun (R E &) (“Mr. Lai”), aged 50, was
appointed as an INED of the Company in June 2019.

Mr. Lai has over 21 years of experience in information
technology and telecommunication industry. He has
been a general manager of EFT Payments (Asia) Limited
since July 2016, mainly responsible for the business
relationship management, development planning and
overall supervision of different departments of the
company. Immediately before that, Mr. Lai worked at EFT
Solution Limited as the head of business development
from March 2016 to June 2016. Before that, he was a
chief executive officer and founder of Paxex International
Limited from 2010 to 2016, mainly responsible for
the overall business of the company. He was also a
sales director and co-founder of RICC Limited, mainly
responsible for the management of the business
developments from 2001 to 2010.

Mr. Lai obtained his bachelor’'s degree in science from
La Trobe University, Australia, in May 1997.

Disclosure required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)

Each of the Directors confirms that save as disclosed
above: (i) he has not held directorships in the last three
years in other public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas,; (ii) he does not hold any other position in
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) there is no
other information that should be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) to the best of
the knowledge, information and belief of our Directors
having made all reasonable enquiries, there are no
other matters with respect to the appointment of the
Directors that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors'
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debenture” in this annual report, each of
the Directors certifies that he/she does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.
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Senior management

Mr. Wang Kai (FE8l) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 43, joined
the Group in December 2016 and was appointed as the
head of sales of the Group in March 2018.

Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the sales
and marketing of semiconductors, ICs and electronic
component products. Mr. Wang oversees the sales
business of our Group. He is also responsible for the
overall management of the sales teams of the Group.

Mr. Wang worked as a sales representative for Chengdu
Flyring in September 2001. He was subsequently
promoted to a sales manager in July 2005, where he
was responsible for regional sales operations in the
PRC, covering south-western and south-eastern areas
of the PRC. Mr. Wang has been serving as a director
of Shanghai IH since August 2009, and assumed the
position of sales manager of Shanghai IH subsequent to
his appointment as a director of Shanghai IH. Apart from
overseeing the daily management of Shanghai IH, Mr.
Wang is also responsible for the overall sales operations
of our Group. He has also been serving as a director of
Shenzhen IH since May 2015.

Mr. Wang obtained his high diploma certificate in
mathematics education from Zigong Shifan High Diploma
Professional School* (B B Al & = & E & 2 1), the PRC,
in June 2001.
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Ms. Au Ka Man Silkie (EX & ) (“Ms. Au”), aged 39,
joined the Group in October 2016 and was appointed as
the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company in March 2018.

Ms. Au has over 16 years of experience in business
administration and management. Ms. Au is responsible
for overseeing the financial operations of the Group, as
well as supervising accounting and finance departments.
She is also responsible for company secretarial matters
of our Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Au was the chief
executive officer of Pro Max CPA Limited from June
2014 to September 2016, where she was responsible
for the overall management, strategy planning and daily
operations of the company. She worked at CPA firm
from April 2008 to March 2014 and her last positions
were senior unit manager and practising director, where
she was responsible for the overall management of the
accounting departments and human resources. She
also worked as an assistant accountant at Accounting
firm from June 2006 to March 2008, where she was
responsible for preparing full set of accounts.

Ms. Au obtained a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Lingnan University, Hong Kong, in
November 2006. She became a member of HKICPA in
January 2011.
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Ms. Feng Ying (5#) (“Ms. Feng”), aged 54, joined
the Group in January 2017 and was appointed as the
head of PRC operations of the Group in March 2018. Ms.
Feng is the sister of Mrs. Qing and the sister-in-law of Mr.
Qing.

Ms. Feng has over 21 years of experience in the
management of the Group. Ms. Feng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative function
of the PRC entities of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Feng worked as an analyst in Sichuan
Yinshan Sugar Manufacturing Factory* ( P9 JII & $8
M ®) from September 1987 to 2000, responsible for
quality inspection. Ms. Feng joined Chengdu Flyring
as supervisor in November 2000 and was responsible
for supervising and inspecting the daily management,
operation, financial situation and the work of directors
and senior managers of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng has
been serving as the legal representative, the director
and the general manager of Chengdu Flyring since
June 20083, responsible for administration and the daily
operations of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng obtained her
graduate certificate majored in paper making from the
Neijiang Light Chemical Technician Training School* (A
I &b TE24), the PRC, in 1987.

*  For identification purpose only

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION
Changes in information of the Directors which are

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

EEHA

Date of Change
20 Y
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Details of Changes

BEHR

2 March 2022
20225 3H2H

Chan Ngai Fan
RRE

Wong Kwun Ho 24 January 2022
ERES 2022F1H24R

appointed as an independent non-executive Director
BZERBUFRTES

ceased to an independent non-executive Director

TBERBUFATES
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHRE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Directors”
and the “Board”, respectively) is pleased to present
the report of the Directors together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The subsidiaries of the Group are principally
engaged in the sales of electronic components, and
sales and integration of storage systems.

Segment analysis of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A list of the Company’s
subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation,
principal activities, place of operation and particulars of
their issued shares/registered share capital, is set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 106.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 223 to 224 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2022,
together with the reasons thereof, are set out in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and the key
factors affecting its results and financial position are set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of
likely future development in, the Group’s business is set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Particulars of Important Events

Since 31 December 2022, being the end of the financial
year under review, no important event has occurred
affecting the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive
list and there may be other risks and uncertainties
further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
an advice for anyone to invest in the securities of the
Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit
on trade receivables, liquidity and interest rate facing the
Group on its operation can be referred to note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry
which faces rapid changes in market trends, consumer
preferences and constantly evolving technological
advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology
require us to constantly incorporate new features or
technology into our sensitivity and adaptability to market
demand and/or services in order to cope with the
evolving environment and customer demands.

Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political policies of the
PRC government

The development of PRC’s economy is based on many
factors, including but not limited to structure of economy,
government involvement, control of foreign exchange,
allocation of resources and capital investment. However,
any of such changes to the economic and political
strategies and policies of the PRC government may have
an adverse impact on the overall global economy and
affect all the industries in which the Group operates.
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Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political uncertainties in
the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted
from major events such as Brexit, the U.S. presidential
election or terrorist attack events may have short-term
and long-term effects on the global economy and the
performance of the global capital markets, which in turn
may adversely impact the performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward looking
statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the
Group as set out in this annual report are historical in
nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future
performance. This annual report may contain forward
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially
from expectations discussed in such forward-looking
statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the
Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume
any obligations or liabilities in the event that any of
the forward-looking statements or opinions does not
materialize or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting
a sustainable and environmental friendly environment.
Our Group does not engage in the manufacturing of
products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventory are kept at our Group’s storage and
warehousing facilities situated inside the headquarters
office unit. Therefore, our Group is not subject to
significant health, safety or environmental risks. During
the year ended 31 December 2022, our Group had
not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to
non-compliance with health, safety or environmental
regulations.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and China while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations
shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in China
and Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in China and Hong Kong in
all material respects.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of
maintaining a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and
long-term business goals. We encourage employees to
strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the
Group operate and attend courses or training sessions to
improve their relevant industry and technical knowledge.
The Group also maintains ongoing communications
with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and
emails in order to allow employees to contribute to the
development of the Group, deliver better customer
services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and
exemption available to Shareholders by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of our property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS
ISSUE

On 14 November 2022, the Company proposed rights
issue on the basis of two rights shares for every five
existing shares held on 28 November 2022, at the
subscription price of HK$0.063 per rights share.

On 28 December 2022, the Rights Issue was completed
and 298,122,380 ordinary shares were issued. The
net proceeds after deducting the related expenses of
HK$1.0 million (equivalent to US$0.1 million), amounted
to HK$17.8 million (equivalent to US$2.3 million).
Accordingly, the Company’s share capital increased
by HK$3 million (equivalent to US$0.4 million) and the
remaining balance of the net proceeds of HK$14.8
million (equivalent to US$1.9 million) was credited to the
share premium account.

The net proceeds from the Rights Issue of HK$17.8
million (equivalent to US$2.3 million), after deducting
the underwriting fees, commissions and expenses
payable by us, have been and will be utilised in the
same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe
as set out in the announcement of the Company dated
14 November 2022 under the section headed “Use of
Proceeds”. Please refer to section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report for the
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its Shares listed on
the Stock Exchange nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such Shares during
the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (appointed on 2 March 2022)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond

Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (resigned on 24 January 2022)
Mr. Lai Man Shun

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management” to this annual
report. In accordance with the Articles of Association,
Mr. Qing Haodong, Mr. Mai Lu, Mr. Dan Kun Lei,
Raymond and Mr. Chan Ngai Fan shall retire at the
AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group
has been set up by the remuneration committee of
the Board (the “Remuneration Committee”’) on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The remuneration of the Directors is recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
eligible participants.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 30 “Related Party
Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance (as defined in Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules) to which the Company or its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director, an entity connected with the
Director or controlling shareholder of the Company or its
subsidiaries (other than members of the Group) had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, during the
year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

As of 31 December 2022, none of the Directors is
interested in any businesses apart from our business
which competes or is likely to compete with our
business, either directly or indirectly or would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements. In
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the related
party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group
and the respective related parties. The Directors confirm
that none of the related party transactions set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that
is required to be disclosed.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been
entered into for the services provided by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this
report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein (the
“‘Register”), or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were
as follows:
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Notes:

(1)  Pursuant to a confirmatory deed, Mr. Lam Keung, Mr. Qing
Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao (spouse of Mr. Qing Haodong) have
acknowledged and confirmed, among other things, that they
are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

(2) P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.
Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(8) Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(4)  The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so
far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company had or were
deemed to have any interest or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which would have to be notified the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) and/or required
to be recorded in the Register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives
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under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Number of percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares®  shareholding
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P. Grand (BVI) Ltd.® Bene fLCIa| owner 662,746,000 (L) 60.35%

EanEEA
Ms. Feng Tao"@x®) Interest in a controlled corporation/ 746,746,000 (L) 68.00%
Person actlng in concert
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Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.
Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
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Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 December
2022, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company are not aware of any other person or
corporation having an interest or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant
to a resolution in writing passed by the shareholders
on 21 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as
incentives or rewards for eligible participants who
contribute to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, no share option was granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme. Summary of major terms of the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Directors consider
the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward the employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contribution to our
Group and to attract and retain such individuals.
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(ii) The Participants

(iii)

The following persons of the Company, any member
of the Group or of an entity in which the Group
holds an equity interest may be invited by the
Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares
at the Directors’ absolute discretion:

employees and directors;
suppliers and customers;

persons or entities that provides research,
development or other technological support;

holders of any securities;

advisers (professional or otherwise) or
consultants to any area of business or business
development; and

any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date (i.e. 80,000,000 shares).
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(iv) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(v)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant other than a Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the Company who
accepts the offer for the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, are subject to approval by the
INEDs. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an INED, or to any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the Shares in issue at the date of grant and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a
participant within 28 days from the date of the offer
of the options. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period
nor achieve any performance targets before the
exercise of an option granted to him.
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(vi) Subscription price for Shares and
consideration for the option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee on acceptance of the grant of option.

(vii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on 21 June 2019,
the date on which the Share Option Scheme is
adopted.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement that would or might result
in the Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the
Company to enter into an agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into
by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as of the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of
the Company) or under the Articles of Association which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code. The Board considered that
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report included
in this report. For details please refer to the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 49 to 69 of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than the employment contracts of
the executive Directors, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and the indemnity
provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force as of the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest
customers of the Group comprised 50.37% by value of
our total sales during the year, with the largest customer
accounted for 18.97%.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest
suppliers of the Group comprised 98.8% by value of our
total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier
accounted for 40.9%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) has an interest in any of our five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the
Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than the matters outlined elsewhere in this
Annual Report, there have been no matters that have
occurred subsequent to 31 December 2022 which have
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the
Group’s operations, results or state of affairs in future
years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by
Moore Stephens CPA Limited (“Moore Hong Kong").
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
for the re-appointment of Moore Hong Kong as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Keung
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the
corporate governance report for the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions according to the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices with effect
from the Listing Date.

The Company is committed to maintaining high
standards and has applied the Principles that are set out
in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on these Principles. The Board believes that
good corporate governance standards are essential
in contributing to the provision of a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of its shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance transparency and
accountability.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
and to a large extent the recommended best practices
in the CG Code throughout the period from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022, except for the deviation
from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as described
below. The Company will continue to review and monitor
its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance
with the CG Code.
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Our Company complies or intends to comply with the CG
Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save
for Code provision A.2.1 which requires that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer be separated
and performed by different individuals. Mr. Lam is both
our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. Our Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman in the same person has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership and efficient discharge
of executive functions within our Group. Our Group
considers that the balance of power and authority of
the present arrangement will not be impaired as during
the period the Board comprised six other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including three other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines (the
“Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code for
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of them
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code and the Written Guidelines throughout the period
from the Listing Date to the date of this announcement.
No incident of non-compliance of the Written Guidelines
by the employees who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company was noted by the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Group endeavours to enhance corporate efficiency
and profitability through the Board. The directors
recognise their collective and individual responsibility to
the shareholders and perform their duties diligently to
contribute to positive results for the Group and maximise
returns for shareholders. The Board’'s focus is on the
formulation of business strategy and policy, and control.
Matters reserved for the Board are those affecting the
Company’s overall strategic policies, finances and
shareholders. These include, but not limited to the
following:

— determining policy matters, business plans and
strategies, risk management, internal control,

— annual and quarterly financial forecast;

— preliminary announcements of interim and final
results, and interim and annual reports;

— dividend policy;

— major corporate activities such as material
acquisitions and capital expenditures; and

— Directors’ appointment, re-election and

recommendations.

Directors could seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation
of the Group are delegated to the management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises four executive Directors and three
INEDs. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (appointed on 2 March 2022)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond

Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (resigned on 24 January 2022)
Mr. Lai Man Shun

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationship between the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 18 to 29 of this annual report. There is no
other relationship including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships among the Board
members.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, with at least one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company also complied with Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the
Board. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his or her independence during the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and
is collectively promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate
mission, visions and policies of the Group and to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All executive Directors actively involves in managing
the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the daily
operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and
judgments on various issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through their regular attendance and active participation
at various committee meetings of the Company. They
bring independent opinion and judgment on the
strategy and policies to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders are taken into account.
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During the Year, each executive Director frequently met
and discussed with the management team in order to
maintain an effective feedback system and enable the
Group to react to changes or problems quickly and
efficiently. The Board shall review its arrangement on
delegation of responsibilities and authority regularly to
ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has
access to the Company’s senior management team
independently.

Board Proceedings

The Company adopts a practice to convene 6 Board
meetings in a financial year with intervals of not more
than four (4) months. Notices of not less than 14 days is
required to be given to all Directors and each Director is
invited to include matters in the agenda. The company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
assisted the Chairman in establishing the meeting
agenda. Detailed agenda and related meeting materials
were circulated to all Directors at least three days before
the date of the regular meetings.

Minutes were recorded in sufficient detail and draft
minutes have been circulated to all Board members
for comments. Finalised minutes were also sent to all
Directors for their records within reasonable time after
the meetings. All minutes were kept by the Company
Secretary and were open for inspection by Directors.
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All Directors have been given the relevant guideline
materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of
interest. During the Year, the Board held six (6) meetings,
amongst other matters, considered and approved the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
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Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and ROE ST A 6/6 1/1
Chief Executive Officer) (FEFTHABH)
Mr. Qing Haodong B0 R A 6/6 1/1
Mr. Mai Lu BBRELE 6/6 11
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Directors’ training and development

All Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities
as a director of the Company and of the conduct and
business activities of the Company. The Company
is responsible for arranging suitable training for its
Directors. The Company has arranged for Directors to
attend a training session which place emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director,
as well as the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
All the Directors had also participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by
reading materials regarding regulatory updates and
corporate governance matters.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors as
follows:

Appointment of Directors

Article 83(2) provides that subject to the Articles of
Association and the Law, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the
existing Board.

Article 83(3) provides that the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board.

Re-election of Directors

Article 83(3) also provides that any Director so appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of the Company after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointment by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the article 84(1), at each annual general
meeting one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third (1/3)) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.
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Article 84(2) provides that a retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires and
any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the
other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who
have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same
day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

Removal of Directors

Under article 83(5), the members may, at any general
meeting and by an ordinary resolution, remove a Director
at any time before the expiration of his/her period of
office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these
articles or in any agreement between the Company and
such Director (but without prejudice to any claim from
damage under any such agreement).

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars are
contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the year ended 31
December 2022 by band is set out below:
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following
corporate governance duties:

1.

to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
appropriate recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the
code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The chairman and chief executive officer of our
Company is Mr. Lam Keung. The reasons for the two
roles are being performed by the same individual are
set out in the paragraph headed “Corporate Governance
Practices” in this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. All the
committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, which are posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and
are available for inspection by the Shareholders upon
request made to the Company Secretary. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the INEDs, namely
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond, Mr. Lai Man Shun and Mr.
Wong Kwun Ho. Mr. Wong Kwun Ho is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee
member has extensive commercial experience and the
Audit Committee has a suitable expertise in various
businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the
composition and establishment of the Audit Committee
complies with the requirements under rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly (i)
to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and to oversee the audit process of the Group, (ii) to
oversee internal control procedures and corporate
governance of our Group, and (iii) to review risk
management and internal control systems of our Group.
It has the responsibilities and powers set forth in the
terms of reference.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice
a year to consider the interim and final results prepared
by the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held two (2)
meetings to, among others, review and supervise
the financial reporting process and review the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
and its audit-related matters. It had, in conjunction
with the management of the Company, reviewed the
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2021 and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2022 and recommended the same to the
Board for their consideration and approval. The Audit
Committee was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosures had been made. The Audit Committee also
carried out and discharged its other duties as set out in
the CG Code.

The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee
meetings is as follows:
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Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (resigned on BERREE 0/0
24 January 2022) (R2022% 1524 H 8 F)

Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELE 2/2

Mr. Lai Man Shun REELEE 2/2

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (appointed on PR 3% B o5t & (R2022F3H2H 2/2

2 March 2022) EZ(E)

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings on 31 March 2022
and 31 August 2022 to review and consider, among
other matters, the Group’s the audited consolidated
results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all the three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Dan
Kun Lei, Raymond, Mr. Wong Kwun Ho and Mr. Lai Man
Shun (chairman).
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are mainly (i) to develop a transparent policy in
relation to remuneration; (ii) to review the remuneration
policy and the structure relating to all Directors and
senior management of the Group; (iii) to assess
performance of all Directors and review performance
based remunerations payable to Directors and
senior management of the Group; and (iv) to make
recommendations on other remuneration-related
arrangement, such as, housing allowance and bonuses
payable to Directors and senior management of the
Group.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two
(2) meeting for reviewing and recommending the Board
of the remuneration and other benefits payable by the
Company to the Directors and senior management.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee meeting is as follows:
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FHMZEeeRSRENEFEREWT:

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Members o= Eligible to Attend
EHE SEREHED

EE T

Mr. Lai Man Shun REEFELE 2/2
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELAE 2/2
Mr. Lam Keung o8 5 A 2/2

The Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings on 31
March 2022 and 31 August 2022 respectively and
considered certain remuneration-related matters of the
Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises of one
executive Director, Mr. Lam Keung (chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lai
Man Shun and Mr. Wong Kwun Ho.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
(i) to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board on a regular basis; (ii) to make recommendations
to our Board relating to the appointment, re-appointment;
(iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board; and (iv) to assess the
independence of our INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and review the progress of its
measurable objectives from time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to strengthen the performance of the
Board, promote effective decision-making and better
corporate governance and monitoring. To achieve a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing an appropriate composition of the Board,
the Board diversity has been considered from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Directors appointment will be based on applicable merits
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held
one (1) meeting for, among other matters, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of INEDs and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.
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The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee meeting during the Year is as follows:
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REZESEZSKERNEKEENHFEX
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Members o= Eligible to Attend

EHE SEREHED

EE S

Mr. Lam Keung Mok ot A 2/2

Mr. Lai Man Shun REEFELE 2/2

Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (Resigned on &= 5 ST A (FR2022F1F24H 0/0

24 January 2022) B ()

Mr. Chan Nagi Fan (Appointed on PR %% B & 4 (202263 H2H 2/2

2 March 2022) EEE)

The Nomination Committee met on 31 March 2022 and
recommended the re-appointment of all the retiring
Directors at the forthcoming AGM after assessing their
contribution and performance based on the Nomination
Policy.

Nomination Policy

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee evaluates skills, knowledge and experience
required by the Board, and identifies if there are any
special requirements for the vacancy. The Nomination
Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss
and vote in respect of the nominated Directors, and
recommends candidates for Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates with
individual skills, experience and professional knowledge
that can best assist and facilitate the effectiveness of the
Board. The Nomination Committee takes the policy on
Board diversity of the Company into consideration when
it considers the balance of composition of the Board as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY EEHUBHRRMNEE
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for ZEEHRBFSEERIAEBH £2022
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the HF12A31HIEFENGAMBEHRE -
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The statement of the independent auditor of the ARRIBIIXEEMAEBHEHTBHRERDOE
Company about their reporting responsibilities and WBETLEREPEH N AFHREISE105
opinion on the financial statements is set out in the HBHBIZXEBAMBKENR -

Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 98 to 105 of this

annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S B BT BN &
REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the & ZE2022F12A831H It FERBZRER
independent auditor of the Company, Moore Hong Kong,  Eth R B+, FE A~ AR 8] ¥8 37 % BR A K
in respect of audit services and other services for the EBEANME ST 0T :

year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Fee paid/

Service iR 5 payable
Eft

FEt &R

US$’000

FER

Annual audit services FEBEZR®G 114
Other services H At IR 7% 31
Total a5t 145
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
maintaining an adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders and through the
Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, inter alia, identifying,
analysing, categorizing, mitigating and monitoring
significant risks, and safeguarding assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial
information, ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations and protecting the interests of the
Shareholders. Such systems are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable,
as opposed to an absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board will set up an internal audit
function in light of the size and nature of the Group’s
business. The need for an internal audit function will be
reviewed from time to time. Nevertheless, for the Year,
the Board has conducted a review of, and is satisfied
with, the effectiveness of the internal control systems
of the Group. The Board considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control are adequate
and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be
performed annually.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the
Company Secretary is a full time employee and has
the day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
She is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. For the year under review, the
Company Secretary confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with the requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
SFO, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced immediately when it is
the subject of a decision. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules
as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

o the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website;

o the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use
of confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive
Directors, Company Secretary and investor relations
officers are authorized to communicate with parties
outside the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of
cash or by other means that the Company consider
appropriate. Any proposed distribution of dividends
shall be determined by the Board and will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval. In deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout and/or determining the amount of
any dividend to be paid, the Board will take into account,
amongst other matters:

(a) the Group’'s actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) interests of shareholders of the Company;
(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the other members of the
Group;
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(m)

the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and financial covenants to which the
Group is subject;

possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

liquidity position of the Group and any future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

taxation considerations;

statutory and regulatory restrictions;

general business conditions and strategies;

general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company;

and

other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall be
subject to all applicable laws and regulations including
but not limited to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the
‘“Memorandum and Articles”).

The Company will review its dividend policy from time
to time and reserves the right in its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy at any time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after
each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit A, 13/F, Block 1, Leader Industrial Centre,
188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan, N.T., Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Investor Relations Department)
Fax: + 852 2391 2422

Email: ir@conteltechnology.com
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Company’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Chairman and chairman of the Board
committees (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at
www.conteltechnology.com as a communication platform
with the Shareholders and investors, where the financial
information and other relevant information of the Company
are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any
changes to its Memorandum and Articles. An up to date
version of the Memorandum and Articles is available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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R - HERELSHRE

INTRODUCTION

The Company is pleased to present the 2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(the “ESG Report”) to provide an overview of the
Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operations, including environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) issues. The Company believes
sustainability is a key to achieve continuous success,
therefore we have integrated this concept into our
business strategy. In order to pursue a successful and
sustainable business model, the Company recognises
the importance of integrating ESG aspects into our
risk management system. We adhere to the ESG
management direction in accordance with the concept
of sustainable development and are committed to
progressing effectively and responsibly against ESG
affairs.

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the ESG Report that summarizes the ESG
initiatives, plans, and performances of the Group
and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable
development. The Group sincerely commits towards the
long-term sustainable growth goal and strives to be a
responsible corporation.

The Group has developed a core governance framework
to ensure the alignment of ESG governance with our
strategic growth while advocating the integration of
ESG into our business operations. The structure of our
corporate social responsibility is divided into two main
components, namely the Board and an ESG working

group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board holds the ultimate responsibility on monitoring
the Group’s ESG issues, including ESG management
approach, strategy, and policies. In order to ameliorate
the management of the Group’s ESG performance and
identify potential risks, the Board conducts regular
materiality assessments with the assistance of the
ESG working group to evaluate and prioritize material
ESG-related issues with reference to the opinions of our
stakeholders.

The ESG working group, composed of core members
from different departments, is established to facilitate
the Board’s oversight of ESG matters. The ESG working
group is responsible for collecting and analyzing ESG
data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG
performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related
laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The
ESG working group also arranges regular meetings
to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and
procedures and formulate appropriate solutions
intending to improve the overall performance of
ESG policies. At meetings, the ESG working group
discussed the existing and upcoming plans to monitor
and manage the Group’s strategic goals in terms
of sustainable development, mitigation of potential
risks, and minimization of the negative impacts in our
business operations. By setting ESG-related goals and
targets for the purpose of minimizing the environmental
impacts in the Group’s operation, the Group affirmed
its commitment to embedding sustainability into
the business operation and fulfilling its corporate
responsibility. The ESG working group is responsible
to report to the Board periodically, assist in assessing
and identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of internal
control mechanism, and review the progress of the set
goals and targets.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HERELGRE

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG report has covered all the material aspects
of the Group’s business operations, which includes the
warehouse and office in Hong Kong and the offices in
Shenzhen, Shanghai and Chengdu. They are operated
by the subsidiaries of the Group, namely Flyring
Electronics Limited, IH Technology Limited, Shenzhen
IH Technology Co., Ltd. (R EEZ S FMTHRA
Al), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.
(EBREMEFHMABRAAE) and Chengdu Flyring
Electronics Co., Ltd. (K& RIREFER A A)).

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges
and measures taken by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Reporting Period”).

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”). During the preparation for
this ESG Report, the Group has applied the reporting
principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follows:

e “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted
to identify material issues, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the
preparation of the ESG Report. The materiality of
issues was reviewed and confirmed by the Board.
Please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” for
further details.

72 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022

HEHE

ARE HEMNEABRETREAEBER
LENMEEETHE  BREBERELN
ERARRI - EBRKEBRER - 2%
LEMHBHAEEMBLAR(MIRRE
BERAR - HEMKABARAR - RIIHE
EEFIRMAERAR - EBERIEMEFRK
MERAREKBRREFERAA) &
78 o

REHE
RBE HA2kErREHRMOAAEBEHE
2022F12A31B It FE ((REHB ) Fr

RORE M ERERED - AR
R HR R ) 48 3t
WmEESR

R #HEREAREDIREFEBAR
SABRAR (B EREF LR
A8 —+EAEAIRR - HERE AR
HHEoI(RE - HEREAREES DR
5o MNREARR HEREARER
AEBERARE e kERAHREESI
MER I N HRERA

e [EEM]— ETEEMTENAER
EXZE UMBCHIANEKRE
BIERRERE HeMERMEN
B EXSEHMERZENEER
- ERE-FFHB BLHIFH
E2EINEEHFBIEE -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

e  “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added
along with quantitative data disclosed in the ESG
Report to explain any standards, methodologies,
and source of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

o “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this
ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided
regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback on our
business and ESG issues and is committed towards
integrating sustainability into different aspects of
operations. To fully understand, respond and address
the core concerns of different stakeholders, we
have maintained close communication with major
stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, suppliers, employees,
government and regulatory bodies, communities,
non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”) and media.
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RIE - HERELGRE

Through diversified stakeholders’ engagement and
communication channels, we bring the stakeholders’
expectations into our operation and ESG strategies. The
Group’s communication channels with stakeholders and
their corresponding expectations are summarised as

follows:
Stakeholders Communication channels
Fip & BERE
Shareholders and Annual general meeting and other
Investors shareholders meetings
BREEKKEH BRRBFRAGREMBRRERE
Financial reports
MBHmE
Announcements and circulars
Customers Customer satisfaction survey
B EFEFMmEERAET
Customer service hotline & email
ERAZRER
Complaint review meetings
KHhEETER
Social Media Platform
HRERFAE
Emails and website
& Ak
Suppliers Supplier management meetings
e & HEBERESZ

Supplier on-site audit and
assessment system

HEBRSEZTERESR
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Expectations

B2

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BTRBERER

Disclosing latest information of the
corporate in due course

ERBREARZHER

Financial results

I EE

Corporate sustainability

TrEAFEER

Product and service responsibility
EmMkREEE

Customer information protection
BEFERRE

Compliant operation

BREE

Fair competition

N FEF

Business ethics and reputation
MEERLKBE

Cooperation with mutual benefits
EEEBHEE



Stakeholders

iy &

Employees

(=3=]

Government and
Regulating Bodies
B REEKE

Communities, NGOs
and Media

M@ JEBT AR K&
e
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Communication channels
RmERE

Employee opinion survey

BEERASL

Channels for employees’ feedback
(forms, suggestion boxes, etc.)

EERGBRBERKE BERES
Performance reviews
=B

In-house training programmes
A &R 35 FI 5t 2l
Leisure Activities

YRR E B

Regular performance reports

EHEEMmE

Written response to public
consultation

EECEBEAREN

Field inspections

B E R

Public and community activities
NN & D)

Community investment programs
@ ix &5t &

ESG Reports

B EREAEE

The Group is committed to working with our stakeholders
to improve the Group’'s ESG performance, and to
continue creating greater value for the wider society.

RIE - HERELGRE

Expectations

2

Health and safety
REEZ S

Equal opportunities
TEKE

Remuneration and Benefits
¥ AE A

Career development

BERBR

Tax payment in accordance to laws

WL AT

Business ethics

BEBR

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

ETHEBARER

Giving back to society
Bl 68 4t &
Environmental protection
IR

Compliant operations
BREE

AEBBNEFNHESE BALAKEE
R HERERRR  #BRFERKR
BlIER NEE-
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RIE - HERELGRE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In assessing the materiality issue, apart from
referencing our own business development strategies
and benchmarking for industry standard practices, the
Group has compiled a questionnaire to identify major
ESG issues. By issuing questionnaires, the Group’s
key stakeholders and management and staff in major
functions are able to assist the Group in reviewing its
operations and identifying the relevant ESG issues, and
assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group's
business and its stakeholders. The Group has analysed
the survey results and presented them in a materiality
matrix. The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s
material ESG issues during the Reporting Period:

EEMGFML

HEEREEZER  R2EHRMABINE
BHRREBBLEFTREEELN KK
BARE—AERS LB EERNIR
BodeglERrzE -  BBRENHESE K
SENETERNE BEEBNMEZBEER
FIMETREBAEBESLS L E NEH
MERE  teahkEnEE X EEH
ZERHAREXELREFNENEEN -
AEEESTHAEERLAEEREEE
A2 - AT RERRE AR AEED

EERB HEkEARZEME:

Materiality Matrix

EEMER

Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights
IRAE RN EE R R

Supply Chain Management Anti-corruption

k&S

s ]
S

=

Customer Service

B Ri%

Product Quality P

EmEE

Green Sourcing

RRERE

Climate Change Community Investment

SR

]

Privacy Protection

BRALIRAE

Occupational Health

&
— /-

Employment Practices

Prevention of Child
and Forced Labour

Impact on Stakeholders
HismENTE

Training and Development

BRI N B R

BREER
o

ByiEEE T K&ogiass
Emissions Control \-
PR o

Energy Management | @

BEIRE R

.\

Waste Management
BRI EIE

Impact on Business

HEBHIE
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Feedback

The Group welcomes all feedback and opinions
from its stakeholders. Any of the feedbacks is
cherished and incorporated in operation strategy
wherever it sees appropriate and considers as the
cornerstone for development. If you have any advice
or suggestions, welcome you to contact us via email at
ir@conteltechnology.com.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental sustainability is a key focus of the Group’s
corporate social responsibility. We implement policies
and practices that help conserve resources, improve
energy efficiency, and raise environmental awareness
among our staff. We are committed to building an
environmentally friendly corporation that pays close
attention to conserving the Earth’s natural resources. We
strive to minimize our environmental impacts attributable
to its operations while ensuring high standards in our
operational efficiency and service quality.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations
and was not aware of any material non-compliance with
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact
on the Group, such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
of the PRC, Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Noise Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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R - HEREGRSE

A1. Emissions Al. HER

Air Emissions

The business activities covered by the Company
mainly involve office operations, consequently, the
air pollutant is mainly generated by automobile.
The group is committed to following practices to
minimize air emissions:

e Conduct regular vehicle inspection and
maintenance to enhance vehicle efficiency;

o Educate employees to turn off engines for
idling vehicles.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air
emissions performance was as follows:

Types of exhaust gas Unit
BERER B i
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) kg
A8 TR
Sulphur Oxides (SQO,) kg
et T
Particulate Matter (PM) kg
FEKLY) TR
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions
are generated from petrol consumed by vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2).
To control the greenhouse gas emissions, the
Group has adopted policies on efficient use of
energy as described in the section headed “Use of
Resources” below.

During the Year, the GHG emissions are as follows:

RIE - HERELGRE

il E R
AEERERBUEMNEZRES
MERAENUR(BE)RBENE
H(EBE )  REFIEERBYN
AREEBESB N[ ERANER] A
AL EY B AL I RE R B BRER

FA R

ot

REHRBERMT

Indicators! Unit 2022 2021
EF Efi 20225 20214
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO,e 10.80 2.44
HE- —EEARERBIEN W _StimEE
Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG tCO,e

emissions 44.79 107.05
HE- — g REAZAERBENX WA riEE

Total GHG emissions tCO.e
WE—EHILRE &

tCO,e/Employee 0.52 0.93
Wo_EtiREEEE

BRERBHRE

Total GHG emissions intensity?
R ERBHNEE?

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon 1. BERBHENBEEBEDNE-_SLREEER

dioxide equivalent and are based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
2. Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the HKEX, Hong Kong Electric Investments Sustainability
Report 2020, CLP 2020 Sustainability Report and the latest
emission factors of China’s regional power grid basis.

2. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 107
employees (FY2021: 118 employees) which included 7
directors from the Board. This is also used for calculating
other intensity data.

To ensuring the effectiveness of the above carbon
reduction measures, the Group decided to set
a target of reducing the total GHG emissions
intensity (tCO,e/employee) by 2025 compared to the
Reporting Period.
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RIE - HERELGRE

Waste Management

Non-Hazardous Waste

The wastes generated from sites of operations are
generally domestic wastes such as office paper,
paper board and toner. The details of the wastes

generated are as follows:

Types of waste

BEMEE

Non-hazardous waste
BEREY

Non-hazardous wastes intensity
BEEVEE

Hazardous waste

BEREY

Hazardous waste intensity

EEERNTE

Unit
B i

tonnes

Mg
tonnes/employee
W& 8
Tonnes

Mg
tonnes/employee

79~

To reduce paper consumption, we encourage our

employees to:

o Reuse envelopes and folders for sending

internal documents and letters

e Use double side printing

e  Adopt electronic filing, and electronic meeting
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Hazardous Waste

Due to our office-based business nature, no
hazardous waste was produced during the
Reporting Period. Even though the Company did not
generate hazardous wastes during the Reporting
Period, the Company nevertheless has established
guidelines in governing the management and
disposal of hazardous wastes such as engaging
qualified waste management company to collect
and transport hazardous wastes.

To ensuring the effectiveness of reducing waste
production, the Group decided to set a target of
reducing the total hazardous and non-hazardous
waste intensity by 2025 compared to the Reporting
Period. The Group will continuously monitor the
greenhouse gas emissions and waste production to
see if any additional measures can be formulated
in the future for more effective management of
emissions.

Use Of Resources

The Group understands reasonable use of
resources is essential to sustainable development.
The Group is committed to the following:

e  Adopt the principles of “3R”, to reduce, reuse
and recycle to increase the consumption
efficiency of energy, paper, water, high-quality
plastic stretch film (packaging materials) and
other resources in its business operations; and

e Nurture the culture of environmental protection
within the Group to increase the environmental
awareness of employees.

The Group seeks to encourage its employees to
adopt efficiency measures in the use of lighting,
computer, water, paper and packaging materials.

A2.

RIE - HERELGRE
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Energy Management BEREHE

The major energy source is electricity. The Group REENETZERRRESN - AKECEE

has implemented various measures to mitigate the TZIATE 1 LAORK 88 R 2 A 5 B Y8

consumption regarding the use of energy as below: o ABWHT:

e Switch off unnecessary lighting in office areas e HEREENAZTEF(WEZ
(such as meeting room, reception area, pantry, = ESRFXKE - EFEM
lavatory, and corridors) when appropriate. ER)MIELERRAA -

e Set air conditioner temperatures in the e BARAPMAENZTABEER
Company’s offices within 25°C. REK25E °

e Switch off unnecessary air-conditioners during e HBRATHEMNEME(TERR
less busy hours (such as lunchtime and MIELEERREBEILENE
non-business hours); and 3 &

e Activate the office PC in standby or hibernation e MAMAEMMFBEIIKERE
mode so that the display monitor will switch N FETNEREEHERAD
off automatically or enter energy saving mode MRS E AR -
when idle.

e Switch off other idle office equipment, such as e HIEHMEABENMARME  WE
monitors, scanners, and printers. TRE  WHEMITEIHE -
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R HEREGRE

Through the implementation of the above initiative, A FMBRENER  BEINEHEER
employees’ awareness on energy reduction has BIEURS  cERESHHE AKED
been increased. During the Reporting Period, the RERERERBELOT
Group’s energy consumption performance was as
follows:
Types of energy Unit 2022 2021
REREY Efi 2022% 20214
Petrol kWh 44,343 8,897
i TR &
Gas for heating kWh 0 7,147
IR R R TR
Purchased Electricity kWh 142,887 151,876
BE T R &
Total energy consumption kWh 187,230.85 167,919
MR T B
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/Employee 1,749.82 1,423
HBREREE Tres EE
To ensuring the effectiveness of reducing energy REREEEENAERYE  AEBER
consumption, the Group decided to set a target of ERT—EEEZE - B2025F MBFERE
reducing the total energy consumption intensity by BEEREMEELREMEER -

2025 compared to the Reporting Period.
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Water Resource

Water consumption refers to the water usage in
washroom and pantry. The water supply is provided
by property management office. Due to our office
location, there is no issue in sourcing water. The
Group has implemented initiatives to control water
consumption as follows:

° Promote the concept of water consumption
among employees and strengthens the
maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment for water
conservation;

o Pays attention to the efficient utilisation of
water resources, and carries out effective
management from both awareness and
practice perspectives;

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water
consumption performance was as follows:

Indicator Unit

B Efi

Water consumption m3

K 3T K
Water consumption intensity md/employee
KEHEE MHAKEE

Due to the pandemic of COVID-19, the water
consumption was more due to hygiene purpose.
The Group targets to promote water conservation
intensity by 2025 compared to the Reporting Period.
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Packaging Materials

Due to the Pandemic of COVID-19, to comply with
regulatory requirements, some of our products must
be re-packaged before delivery to customers.

During the Year, the packaging materials used was
as below:

Packaging Materials

BER#H

Carton

W]
Sealing tape
HAERB A
Plastic film
BREE
Bubble Wrap
LR B R

The Environment And Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, its daily
business operations posed no significant adverse
impact on the environment directly. However, the
indirect greenhouse gas emissions would aggravate
the phenomenon of global warming. The Group
strives to reduce the indirect impact caused
by greenhouse gas emissions through various
measures mentioned in the sections “Emissions”
and “Use of resources”.

The Group endeavors to comply with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations and has
adopted effective measures to reduce wastage.
Our employees are fully aware that it is important
for the operation of the Group to minimize the
impact on the environment and natural resources.
Our management also closely monitors the utilities
consumption in different offices and encourages
employees to work together to reduce utilities
consumption.

RIE - HERELGRE
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A4. Climate Change Ad. FiEEL

The public's awareness regarding climate change
continues to increase and climate change is
also one of the most frequently discussed topics
internationally. The latest Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC) Sixth Assessment
Report further warns of the severity and urgency
of the climate crisis. The Group understands the
importance of identifying and mitigating major
climate-related issues, pays close attention to the
potential impact of climate change on the Group's
business and operations, and is committed to
managing potential climate-related risks that may
affect the Group's business activities. According to
the reporting framework developed by the Working
Group on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures,
climate-related risks are divided into two categories:
physical and transitional risks. The Group has
incorporated climate change-related risks into
enterprise risk management so as to identify and
mitigate potential risks.

Physical risk

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as typhoons, storms, torrential
rain, extreme cold or extreme heat, will bring
immediate and long-term physical risks to the
Group's business. Extreme weather events can
threaten the personal safety of our employees,
as well as damage the Group's properties and
facilities, resulting in direct financial losses.
Although we have not identified significant
immediate climate risks at our Group's campuses
and offices, we are aware of the need to strengthen
our protection against future extreme climate
risks and emergencies. To minimise potential
risks and hazards, the Group has put in place
countermeasures, including flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures under
severe or extreme weather conditions. We will
explore contingency plans to further avoid damage
to our facilities due to extreme weather events to
improve business stability.
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Transitional risk

The Chinese government has proposed in
September 2020 that carbon dioxide emissions
will strive to achieve a "carbon peak" by 2030 and
endeavour to achieve "carbon neutrality" by 2060.
In line with the achievement of the global carbon
neutrality vision, the Group anticipates that there will
be changes in regulation, technology and market
landscape caused by climate change, including the
tightening of national policies and listing rules and
the generation of environment-related taxes. Stricter
environmental laws and regulations may expose
companies to higher risk of claims and litigation,
potentially incurring additional compliance costs
and impacting the Group's reputation.

In response to policy, legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group continuously monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends
in climate change to avoid increase in costs,
fines for non-compliance or reputational risks due
to slow responses. In addition, the Group has
been taking comprehensive measures to protect
the environment, including measures aimed at
reducing GHG emissions, and has set targets to
gradually reduce our energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.
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B1.

SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are our valuable assets. We have
developed a written staff manual to govern the
discipline, working hours, leaves and other benefits
of our employees, in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

To attract, motivate and retain experience staffs, we
reviewed their pay packages annually with prevailing
market conditions. Our full-time employees are
entitled to maternity, paternity, compassionate leaves,
medical insurance, performance related bonus and
mandatory provident fund.

Social and recreational activities are arranged for
the employees in achieving work-life balance. We
apply equal opportunity and non-discrimination in
recruitment, promotion and all other aspects of our
employment practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
employment related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group.
Such laws and regulations include but limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the PRC, and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC.
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of
107 employees which excluded 3 Independent Non-
Executive Directors (INED) from the Board. The
employee size breakdown was as below:

Rig - HEREBRE

H Z2o022F12A31H AEBEHEF
107%1EE EPTBIEIRBILIES
TEZE - EEAEHAAWT:

Total number of employees

BB A

107 118

Male
EERs
Female

ogid

58 66

49 52

Below 30
3088 AT
30-50

30ZE507%
Above 50
5088 A

16 25
78 82
13 11

Hong Kong
e
PRC
H

20 29

87 89

Full-time
iy
Part-time

FE

107 118

FEEENREEAR 202Fs®m 89
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The table below shows the employee turnover rate TR REZEMR - Fhe4H R K=
by gender, age group and geographical region: EomEBMAE:

Male 26%
EXRcs
Female 14%
4

Below 30 63%
30BE AT
30-50 13%
30E505%
Above 50 14%
5058 A &

Hong Kong 35%
S
PRC 17%
ae
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B2. Health and Safety

We are committed to providing and maintaining
a safe, healthy, and hygienic workplace for all
employees. Air purifiers were placed in workplace to
improve air circulation.

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has complied with the
public health and safety measures from the Hong
Kong government. The Group has also promptly
implemented new health and safety measures in
response to COVID-19, such as making remote
work arrangements and distributing adequate
surgical masks and hand sanitizer in the offices. All
personnel, whether employee or guests, entering
the Group’s premises is also required to have
their temperature recorded to prevent the potential
spread of the virus. Clear guidelines are also in
place to respond to situations where employees or
their family members are found to have contracted
the virus.

The Group has achieved zero work-related
fatalities for three consecutive years (including the
Reporting Period). During the Reporting Period,
the Group had not lost any working days due to
work injury. The Group was also not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group include but not limited to the
Occupational Safety and the Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
Law of the PRC.

RIE - HERELGRE

B2. @FEHZ2

BB ISR RERERENER X
S &%&ﬁi%l#%% TS
MEREZERFIESUNREEZRE

iﬁo

A EYCOVID-19&% 18 » AEEE &
TEERNEMHAEFTERT S
B o NEE T E HCOVID-19% 1B
AREBTNRRELRLEZHEE -
MEZHRBTIIE TRBAERET
REMBIOBREFR - EALXEE
%WW%EAE ERAEINREE
T BEERLELR  UHIEEENR
SEE - AEENMHEIHRERAR
ARENBRIZEAREES -

AEEDEE=-F(EREHEER
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B3. Development and Training B3. ¥ & R 1l

We acknowledge the importance of training
for the development of our employees as well
as our Group. We encourage and support our
employees in personal and professional training,
through sponsoring raining programmes, seminars,
workshops and conferences, peer learning and
on-the-job coaching, as well as reimbursement
for external training courses to enhance their
competencies in performing their jobs effectively
and efficiently. We believe this is a mutually
beneficial practice for achieving both personal and
corporate goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has
achieved a total training hour of 954 hours. The
table below shows the employee training data by
gender and employee category:

HMABHEIEREEBAEANEE N
RAGKEZ KB RIFHRERE
ETEARBEREF) - BREEDHE
tE e TESR®E - RE
BBMAEBREZI - AREYIESHRE
SMEREEIERAE - MR RERE S
EREA EEERESBHMITIIE -
HFEGE - EHRERBAMERE
BEZERERENOMOE -

RBERH > AEBEREZIIGES
HO54/\BF o« TRIIRIZMER REE
HRE s EBENEE:

Percentage Average
of employees training hours
trained (%) (hours)
RallfE S16LL I 253 3l B B
(%) (/NEF)

Male
B
Female

7t

59% 35.95

41% 20.85

Senior Management
SREEE
Supervisors

EEx

General Staff
E@mET
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During the Reporting Period, we have organized
both internal and external training courses for
employees. Such training courses cover topics
including but not limited to products knowledge
updates, compliance matters, occupational health,
and safety, etc..

Labour standards

The Group considers child and forced labour
unacceptable and ought to be prevented. The
Group has instituted a comprehensive screening
and recruiting process to prohibit the use of child
labour. HR department shall check all new hirers’
identity card before offering position to them.
Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep
within standard working hours. All employees
are provided with appropriate leave entitlements
including annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave and compassionate
leave etc..

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Labour Law of the PRC.

B4.
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B5. Supply Chain Management B5. #tEEE IR

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. Sound
supply chain management ensures the Group to
sustain its business operations and development.
The Company has supplier evaluation system to
select, maintain and appraisal the performance of
suppliers. We have maintained strong relationships
with our suppliers to meet our customer’s needs in
an effective and efficient manner. When selecting
suppliers, the Group takes factors into account
such as quality of products and functionality, price,
reliability, and anticipated market acceptance.

Green Sourcing

The Group is committed to selecting the
environmentally friendly products with competitive
prices and good quality, in order to safeguard
end-users’ health and safety, to prevent pollution
and to efficiently use the natural resources.
The Group requires all departments to take
into account environmental considerations and
search for the products with high recycled
content, with greater durability or with greater
water and energy efficiency. To fulfill the aim of
environmental sustainability in green sourcing,
procurement of eco-friendly products is given
priority where possible and economically viable.
The Group has been closely working with our
suppliers to strengthen our sustainability portfolio
and minimize environmental and social risks
throughout the supply chain and is committed to
promoting sustainable and responsible operational
standards. The Group prefers local suppliers
whenever possible to reduce carbon emissions from
transportation and to support the local economy.

China a2
Others H b ith &
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B6. Product Responsibility

The Group recognizes good customer service
is the key to the success and sustainability of a
corporation. Suppliers provide warranty on the
products they supply to the Group for distribution of
electronic components. Suppliers are responsible
for providing or procuring the provision of
in-warranty service to the end customers. During
the Reporting Period, no products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
No products or services related complaints were
received.

The Group adopts the following quality control
policies on the products to be sold:

° To perform a series of inspections upon the
receipt of the products in our warehouse
regarding, among others, their appearance,
packaging, specification, and brand logo, etc.
on a sampling basis; and

e To report to the supplier if any defects are
identified during quality control examination.
The relevant products will be substantially
returned to the supplier for replacement.

During the Reporting Period, we have not received
any cases of infringement of intellectual property
rights. We are also not aware of any suspected
cases of infringement of intellectual property rights
of the products that we were distributed in 2022.

The Group is also committed to abide by the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Personal data
shall be highly protected. Employees are committed
not to disclose confidential information, including
information related to suppliers and customers
whether orally or in writing or in any other media
which are not publicly known.

RIE - HERELGRE
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B7.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress that would have
a significant impact on the Group, such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Law of
the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests, the Product Quality Law of the PRC, the
Patent Law of the PRC and the Advertising Law of
the PRC.

Anti-Corruption

Both the Group and its business partners are
committed to upholding the highest ethics
standards. Parties involved in business
interaction shall prohibit every form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement. The Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy and advocates the standards
of fair transaction, advertising and competition and
puts in place a confidentiality mechanism to protect
the identity of suppliers and whistleblowers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any breaches of relevant laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering. The Group also confirmed
that no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group and the
employees.

Anti-corruption Training

Training related to anti-corruption are rendered
to our management and employees to boost
their awareness on the prevention of any kind of
unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. During the Reporting Period,
all directors have received anti-corruption training
by way of anti-corruption training reading materials
(“ANTI-CORRUPTION PROGRAMME — A GUIDE
FOR LISTED COMPANIES” published by ICAC)
circulated and have spent approximately 2 hours to
study instead of physical attending to training due to
COVID-19 pandemic.
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B8. Community Investment & Awards B8. tEH B RIEIE
We encourage our employees to participate in BZMEEEELELEREEFS
social and community events and to volunteer for BRITEH—2H - MK EBAE
good causes. We will continue to shoulder the & EERBREUNTHEEMT  #
social responsibility by caring the community, BBt E - AEENERE
employees, and the environment in order to build a BEEEREZEHMERHFR -

cohesive society. The Group’s area of contribution
focused strongly on the local community needs.

FEEENEERAR 200 97



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 3L # BB R &

K| MOORE

To the Shareholders of
Contel Technology Company Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Contel Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“‘Group”) set out on pages 106 to 222, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Qur responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
FEEZEIE

FREEEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETEZNINTEERREZEIR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

E 55 & i 56 B 8 AF 18

Refer to the notes 3(h), 4, 19 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements

LBEGEEMBEERERME3M) + 4 ~ 19K32

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had trade
receivables with gross carrying amount of
approximately US$21,200,000 while allowance
for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on trade
receivables of approximately US$465,000 was
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
M2022F12A31H BESBEERERLED
21,200,000& T B 5 E Y 718 - I N #E E 2022
FR2AMALFEEGAERRANERE SR
RENEHEESBE(FAHEEBEDEGY
465,000 7T °

The ECL assessment on trade receivables is
considered to be a matter of most significance
as it requires the application of significant
judgement and use of subjective assumptions
by the management of the Company. The
management of the Company believed that the
methodologies and inputs used in estimating
ECL are in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards. These models and
assumptions relate to the future macroeconomic
conditions and debtors’ creditworthiness. The
Group adopted judgement, assumptions and
estimation techniques in order to measure ECL
according to the requirements of accounting
standards such as definition of credit impaired
financial asset, parameters for measuring ECL
and forward-looking information.
EHORKFBEZRBEEERMAGEARERN
EE - FAEFE EQAREBREERAEXRAEGR
FEREEHER - BEAREEERR  HerEH
EEEBEEMAAEZREENEGER LR -
% F R MR AR R R R BB KB A
EEAM - EEERMAE BRI LA
- REELRLEEERESREENTESR © 5
ERHEEEEN2HNAIEEERNFETE
AWK T ERHEEBE -
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Our procedures in relation to address the matter
included:
BPMEEZEERBNEFEE:

Evaluating the methodologies, inputs and
assumptions adopted by the Group in
calculating the ECL, by reference to externally
available economic data;
DEINHAFSKBERE  Fh EEEFAERE
HEEBREMKAZZE BERRR:

Obtaining an ageing analysis of the trade
receivables from the management of the
Group and testing the accuracy of ageing of
trade receivables as at the reporting date to
the underlying invoices on a sample basis;

B EXEEREENRESIRERNEZRRD
fir- WHEOIHE S BB RIER S B2 R
e B AR A B A R

Challenging the management’s assessment
of the recoverability of long outstanding and
overdue trade receivables;
EREEEHRAKREERBYESEKRK
TH B AT Y B 1 FF 1

Selecting samples considering the
management’'s assessment of the latest
financial conditions of the debtors, based on
historical experience and observable external
data; and
RIBBELRLABRINBEIE - BEEAR
HEREBHEBAROHBRANTME: &

Assessing the adequacy of the ECL recorded
by reviewing subsequent settlements after
the year end and any correspondence with
customers about expected settlement dates.
T EEBEHNERENEBEELEEURERP
ERARAEZBSHNEMERCENAEBRE
EEBRERRRE -
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Key Audit Matter
RS EXEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R &

FREEEIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEETERNNMEERAREZEIR

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

UAARBEFTEAEREHANANRMES RN B EHEEH LR EEGE

Refer to the notes 3(u), 4 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

LBGEESHBRRMEEIW) * 4 17

The Group has an investment in unlisted
equity securities. Such investment in unlisted
equity securities is measured at fair value
of approximately US$6,293,000 as at 31
December 2022.
EXERENIFELTMEREF - R2022%124
BIE  ZENF LT HRABFZKRER R RE
B 5T 2 47/36,293,000% 7T °

Fair value of the investment in unlisted equity
securities is estimated by using an income
approach, based on the discounted cash flows
of the estimated profit to be generated by the
unlisted equity securities.

RIELTTEHRRIFIREZAABEER KR
EERELTRAEZFELE AN E TS

Remngfst-

Significant estimation and judgement are
required by the management of the Company
to determine the fair value of the investment
in unlisted equity securities. To support
management’s estimation of the fair value, the
management of the Company engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform
valuation on such investment as at 31
December 2022.
EERILITRGEEFIREZANEBES
Z ERREEBREFELERMGTRHAE o BB
TEEHAABEELMFG X BERREEREZR
HE Y8 N7 5 2 (B B ¥ 7202212 A31H 2 R 3
PRI R REETMHE-

Our procedures in relation to address the matter
included:
BPEEZFERRNEFEE:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity of the valuer;
AAEREMNT®H H - BYUEREEG:

Assessing the methodologies and
assumptions adopted in the valuation for
estimating the fair value of the investment in
unlisted equity securities;
AEREFARELTRERBFZRENRAE
EMETIEHEEMRBZ HERRRK:

Challenging the valuer’'s key inputs adopted
in the valuation for estimating the fair value
of the investment in unlisted equity securities
and inspecting the underlying documents or
data to support those key inputs;

BERAEMAGEIIFLTREEESFRENLDR
BEMETHESRANIZGAZE L&
BxEZELIZ2H ABENMEE XM EE:

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
profit estimation;
B AR L E e B ERE L

Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate
the reasonableness of the valuation, when
appropriate; and

RBERRETHREST LFAERERS
A1 &

Appointing an auditor’'s expert to review the
valuation for estimating the fair value of the
investment in unlisted equity securities.
ZEEAEREHRGEANFELTRAERESFLZ
REMNARBEETZHE:-

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the annual report other than consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
audit committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
I8 3L % BT 3R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors'
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the
Company regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the audit committee of the Company
with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit
committee of the Company, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ngai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: P07422

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERmAEMEEWRRR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 220224 12H31H IF F &

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes Uss$’000 US$'000
B it FETT FET
Revenue e A 6 121,710 222,040
Cost of sales 8 & B AN (113,314) (209,452)
Gross profit E#H 8,396 12,588
Other income H g A 6 229 246
Selling and distribution expenses $H5& & 7 8 X (3,337) (3,213)
General and administrative — M RITH A
expenses (5,345) (5,229)
Provision for allowance for EoRWHKIENEREER
expected credit loss on trade EiEREIR
receivables 19 (465) (89)
Finance costs LR DN 7 (1,555) (1,817)
(Loss)/profit before income tax KT @B AI(EiE), 7
H 8 (2,077) 0486
Income tax credit/(expense) Frieafiile, () 10 493 (315)
(Loss)/profit for the year EATHBEAEIEER
attributable to the owners of (B548) " #18
the Company (1,584) 2,171
Other comprehensive income/ Htt2mEIzE (EiE)
(loss)
Item that will not be reclassified — R&#& B [E 5 T & & # 7
subsequently to profit or loss: HEEmAIEE -
Fair value gain on investment in f@ﬁfgﬁ*ﬁ')\/\{ 2MH
equity instruments at fair value Wz BATHEHZEE
through other comprehensive WAREBEYS
income 17 12 121
Item that may be reclassified FR1EERIE] A E 37 77 26 2
subsequently to profit or l0ss: Bmha)EE -
Exchange differences arising REBINEBHMBRKRZ
on translation of financial ME N ER
statements of foreign operations (574) 38
Other comprehensive (loss)/ FREACIHEBAELGH
income for the year fh2mE(EE)
attributable to the owners of
the Company (562) 209
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FERNEFLATHBEAEER
income for the year H(EHE) WaxEE
attributable to the owners of
the Company (2,146) 2,380
HK cents HK cents
-3/} BN
(Restated)
(Loss)/earnings per share AATHEBEANELEESR
attributable to the owners of (B58) &R
the Company
Basic and diluted EARK#EE 11 (1.51) 2.08
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBRRAR

As at 31 December 2022 R2022%F 1231 H

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes Us$’000 US$'000
=3 FE T FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREHE
Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment M- KE R
Bl 13 811 918
Intangible assets mEEE 14 1,831 20
Goodwill RS 15 260 286
Life insurance policy deposits AEREZRS 16 2,671 1,465
Financial assets at fair value ERAABERA
through other comprehensive Hiab 2 MU=
income ZEREE 17 6,293 6,281
Deferred tax assets REERIBEE E 26 680 89
12,546 9,059
Current assets RENEE
Inventories rE 18 20,062 14,359
Trade and bills receivables BRI IE R
JE U 2= 1% 19 24,099 37,635
Prepayments, deposits and FERRE - &
other receivables N H A & Uk
I8 20 5,603 6,470
Amounts due from related JFE Wi 78 Bt 75 IR
parties 30(b) 26 26
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER 21 902 1,245
Cash and cash equivalents RekHReEE
) 21 2,343 7,670
Tax recoverable A Uy =] 5 18 224 736
53,259 68,141
Current liabilities REB&E
Trade and bills payables B I REMNFRIER
JE T R & 22 18,116 23,288
Accruals, contract liabilities and ~ EFTEH 44
other payables BEKHME
T RIB 23 1,616 1,654
Lease liabilities MHEAaE 24 381 251
Bank and other borrowings R 1T & B Ath £ 3K 25 11,106 17,147
Tax payable JE 41 7 3K — 368
31,219 42,708

FEEENggrRAn 02 107



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBIRRER

As at 31 December 2022 R2022412H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes US$°’000 US$°000
/oga FEIT FET
Net current assets MENEEFHE 22,040 25,433
Total assets less current EEHERLRS
liabilities BfE 34,586 34,492
Non-current liabilities EREER
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 108 160
Net assets EEFHE 34,478 34,332
EQUITY ¥z
Share capital 1% < 27 1,417 1,032
Reserves & 28 33,061 33,300
Total equity EnEE 34,478 34,332

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 F106E222H MR & B 15 ¥ K 120234 3
to 222 were approved and authorised for issue by the HI0RAKESFEI ERBEETZELHUT
board of directors on 30 March 2023 and are signed on ATHRXREFEHF:

its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung Mr. Qing Haodong
wiEkE BERLE
Director Director

EF EF

1 08 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEEDREDR
For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 20224 1231 H I F /&

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

FATREARERR
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Statutory
Share Share  comprehensive Other Merger surplus  Translation  Retained
capital  premium  income reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
BRAREERA
A 2ERERE EERBA
k% RHiEf LEHEE  AREE  SHES e ARERR ERH it
Ussooo - USs00 Ussooo  USsvo0  USSbo0  USSvos  USSDe0  USSUo  USS000
2 FEI FET I FET FEr FEL i FEL
(note 27) - (note 26)) (note 28(ii))  (note 26(iii))  (note 28(iv))  (note 26(y)) (note 26(vi))
(Wi27) (Wi (W&28) (K#2s(i) (Watosiv) (Wi2e0) (Kiasn)
At 1 January 2021 202151818 1,032 12,793 = 10,076 (7.021) 696 8 14,293 31,952
Profit for the year ERFE - - - — - - - 2171 2171
Fair value gain on BARBETALY
investment in equity 2ENENERT
instrument at fair AREMEEK
value through other &
comprehensive income - - 12 - - - - - 121
Exchange differences RERNFRIBR
arising on tranglation of K2 EREE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - 88 - 8
Total comprehensive EMRENRES
income for the year - - 12 - - - 88 2171 2,380
Appropriation to statutory ~ REVEEAHAES
surplus reserve - - - - - 2 - (28) -
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12A318 102 1279 121 10,076 (7.021) 724 i 1643 34332

gEeEnggran co0neger 109



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEERBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & Z20224F 12 31 H 1F F /&

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

FATREARERR

Financial assets

at fair value

through other Statutory
Share Share  comprehensive Other Merger surplus  Translation  Retained
capital  premium income reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total

BRARREA

Ah2EKEESE EERHA
k% RHiEf LEMEE  ARRE  SHES BE HKERE REEW ait
Ussoo - USs00 Ussooo  USsvo0  USSbo0  USSvos  USSVe0  USSUoo  USS000
FET F£r FEL F£r FET FEr F£7 FEr F£r

(note 27)  (note 26(i) (note 28(ii))  (note 28(iif)) (note 28(iv))  (note 28(v))  (note 28(vi)
(Wi (&) (a0 (Fa2800) (Kit2ei) (Ha2s0) (Ki268m)

At1 January 2022 1202251818 102 1279 oo 0 (10 4 71 1643 3302
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - () (1584)
Fair value gain on BARBETALS

investment in equity 2ENENERT

instrument at fair AREMEEK

value through other &

comprehensive income - - 12 - - - - - 12

Exchange differences RERNERIBR
arising on tranglation of K2 EREE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - (574) - (574)

Total comprehensive loss ~ ¥R2ABELE
for the year - - 12 - - - G (5 (1)

lssuance of sharesupon Rt REERE{T
fights issue and placing, B3+ MBRSHHA
net of transaction costs ~ (F£27)

(note 27) 385 1,907 - - - - - - 2,292
Appropriation to statutory ~ RERAERHAES

surplus reserve - - - - - 7 - ul -
At31December 2022 1A2022%12f31A 147 14700 00 (10) 7 03 14845 34478

1 1 0 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GAEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # 20224 12H31H I F /&

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes Us$’000 US$'000
i it FEIT FET
Cash flows from operating activities EZEFHABREFE
(Loss)/profit before income tax RerFawial (&8),/ FE (2,077) 2,486
Adjustments for: AT BEEDRE:
Amortisation of intangible assets BEWEEEH 8 64 13
Amortisation of life insurance policy AESREER S HEH
deposits 8 106 22
Bank interest income 1T F B WA 6 (11) (2)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERRBITE
equipment 8 582 634
Finance costs A& R 7 1,555 1,817
Imputed interest income on life ASREESHHEERNS
insurance policy deposits KA 6 (74) (43)
Loss on early redemption of REBNARZBENEE
promissory notes 8 — 36
Provision for allowance for expected BORBFENEHREE
credit loss on trade receivables BERBETR 19 465 89
Rent concessions HeER 6 (32) —
Written-off of inventories EMEFE 8 27 72
Operating cash flows before working 4 EE¢EFHANEEHES
capital changes mE 605 5124
Increase in inventories a8 m (6,110) (2,594)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills & 5 FE U 5118 & & U = 4508,
receivables b/ (38 ) 12,770 (2,269)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AT FIE - & R E Mt E UK
deposits and other receivables HIER D38 M) 803 (2,443)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills ‘B 5 et B K A E#
payables (1 bﬂ)/)ﬂZ 2 (5,067) 2,195
Increase in accruals, contract liabilites B EH - AN ABREM
and other payables e 3R 18 iE il M 556
Net cash generated from operations EZRBRLFH 3,042 569
Income tax refund/(paid) BRE /BN EHR 31 (192)
Interest paid on bills payables ENENZEFE (739) (491)
Net cash generated from/(used in) EZEZHFRE (FiH)
operating activities HeF# 2,334 (114)
REFEREBR AT 2022F F W
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # Z2022F 12H31H IF F &

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes uss’ooo US$'000
i FEIT FET

Cash flows from investing activities REFHRBREFEE
Purchases of property, plant and BENE BERZE

equipment 13, 33(a) (8) (57)
Purchase of intangible assets BERTEE 14 (431) -
Capital expenditure of development EERRAEATH

costs 14 (1,476) =
Payment of life insurance policy ASRBEE2NEK

deposits 16 (1,248) =
Increase in amounts due from related & 4& B8 B 75 7% 78 18 A

parties — (13)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank B R TER

deposits B/ (38 ) 343 (340)
Bank interest received BEHRITHE 1 2
Net cash used in investing activities X ZEEFHAAELFHE (2,809) (408)
Cash flows from financing activities RIZFHREREKE
Proceeds from issuance of shares PR REEERETRD

upon rights issue and placing, net of B FHAFTE KA

transaction costs 27 2,292 —
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERAMBERE 33(b) 35,628 68,928
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER 33(b) (41,466) (58,982)
Repayments of promissory notes EBEEALER 33(b) — (6,160)
Repayments of lease liabilities principal EEHE8EAE 33(b) (370) (454)
Repayments of lease liabilities interest EEHREBEF & 33(b) (24) (19)
Interest paid B F 8 33(b) (792) (1,343)
Net cash (used in)/generated from  FIEEFEH(FFA) FEHRE

financing activities ] (4,732) 1,970
Net (decrease)/increase incashand RERBELZEBW (R L),

cash equivalents s (5,207) 1,448
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERELEEY

beginning of the year 7,670 6,042
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E X & &) 5/ £ (120) 180
Cash and cash equivalents atend of E£XFERELLEEY

the year 21 2,343 7,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

Corporate information

Contel Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
on 16 August 2016 under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is
Unit No. A, 13th Floor, Block 1, Leader Industrial
Centre, N0s.188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong. The shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 July 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries (together with the
Company, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are mainly engaged in the provision of customised
reference designs which are bundled together with
the sale of integrated circuits (“ICs”) and other
electronic components as a package to customers
in both Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”). The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Ms. Feng Tao, Mr. Lam Keung (“Mr.
Lam”), and Mr. Qing Haodong (“Mr. Qing”).

1.

AEEH

EEERMBRERARTERATDR
2016F8H16H £l 2 B § R &
ERERAIEEMK LA —RER
RERRA] - ARBEMPER B
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands - X AR £ B &
XWHABEEFREERLIHE
188-2025% 32 Z&= T 3 # L 1EE131E A
= o N AR 7 R2019F7H16 8 &
ERMERIMARAR (TBZR])
FER LT

ARFRBREERRT - HEEZH
BRAICGERARAGHEAKEDW
T2XBRABBERTEARANE
(PBDWEFRHEERILSERS
(EEXERNC) R HEMEFITH
RELE)-

KRR ZEBERRKRIER AR AP
Grand (BVI) Ltd. ([P. Grand]) = % &
MRS ((XBEBMREEEM
Y B ARR s AEBREIZERBE
BB LT - Mok A ((REE]D KX
EE R A (TEEE]) -

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

2.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), which have
been measured at fair value as at the end of the
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 3. Certain comparative
figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and the investment holding
subsidiary incorporated in the BVI and subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong have their functional
currency in United States Dollar (“US$”), and
subsidiaries established in the PRC have their
functional currency in Renminbi ("RMB”). The
consolidated financial statements have been
presented in US$ as the directors of the Company
consider that it is more appropriate to adopt US$
as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation
currency. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

1 1 4 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

2. RBEE
(a) fﬁﬁéi&ﬁﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬂ”ﬂ%%

M B A 2022912 A318 1E F
BEZHREMBERRE AEEE

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRSs

In the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December

2022, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022:
Amendments to HKFRS 3

(B85 885 2 A1) EIFE T A
Amendments to HKAS 16

(BEREEFTER)E165REFT A
Amendments to HKAS 37

(BEARSFTER)EI7THREFT K
Amendments to HKFRSs

(BB IMEERET AR

BIXER THIR2022F1818,
ZERABZFEEHEBBREERZ
(BEAPBRELERNBIT A :

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

B At 1 2 E 2R

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
— BRERARAIZAERIE

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

ERELEH
— B1TERAZHR

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

(E R M BHREERD

2018 F £ 2020F A Bl v F E i i

In addition, the Group has adopted the
Amendments to Accounting Guideline (“AG”) 5
(Revised) — Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combination.

The application of the above amendments to
HKFRSs and AG 5 in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

o REBE R A & 5t 45 3
(& #8381 1) F55 (55T A) (5
i) — ERAEHAHNEHE
TR o

AEERALAC(EBMBRE
R K45 5| £ 557 & 7T AN I & 4
AEERAFERBEFENY
BRAKRRE R, L L SR
EUMBBRERMANBEENE

B/ 488
AN & o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

2. IREIEE
(b) S 5B #iisi K EMBCEERFE
IMEERYFHT RIESTAE
AREEY EIRDREBIUT O EM
ERARERZ T REEIEH
B RS R

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTB#S 2 ERiaH

EREES:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

(BAEFEAEIREITAR
(BEMBREENEBHA)
F2REFT A

Amendments to HKAS 8

(BAEGER)ESHRIEFT R

Amendments to HKAS 12

(BAEHEAEL2RETA

HKFRS 17 (including the October
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

(BAIBEREER)EITH
(B4E202010 8 202242 A
BHECEBT B REERD)
FATHRERX)

Amendments to HKAS 1
(BAGHE)EIREITR
Amendments to HKAS 1

(BREFEAFIRBI R

Amendments to HKFRS 16

(BRMBEREEAFGRETA

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

(BERBEREEN)E10% K
(BB EHEA)EBHKBITAR

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SR BRHNKE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

S HENTER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

BRAE-RHGNEERABHBACETHA

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments

RRE N REBER

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BEEDBARDAERBREERBELS
Z BB

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MERENFRDEER

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
EREDNEEAR

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

REZEEBENAISAECEANEELER
A E
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1 January 2023

202351418

1 January 2024
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1 January 2024
202451418

1 January 2024
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To be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

2. RBEE
(b) S 5B #iisi K EMBCEERFE

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in

issue but not yet effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of what the impact of these new
and amendments to HKFRSs is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So
far the Group has not identified any aspects
of the new standards which may have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements. The actual impacts upon the
initial adoption of the standards may differ as
the assessment completed to date is based
on the information currently available to the
Group, and further impacts may be identified
before the standards are initially applied in the
Group’s annual report for the year ending 31
December 2023. The Group may also change
its accounting policy elections, including the
transition options, until the standards are
initially applied in the consolidated financial
statements.

REERDFHITRIEFT R (@)

AEBEETHXS(EBUH
MELADFFTREFTARE X
JEREIMMTEZE - AEEH
AT N £ 5 Bl 37 2E Al A9 {E [ 5 |
KEHGAYBRREERF
2. ENERNENNERTE
AR EAEBEENIERTES
MERIESE KN HERT
[ B Eale RN E A%
LB AT RN & B & =2023F
12A31HLEEENFRPER
RIFEMBHRRPERERZE
KB ZR AEBNMAEEE S
AR EERE(BIEBERE) -

3. EXEBERME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies
(a) Basis of consolidation and subsidiaries

(a) FEEEHAMEBATE

These consolidated financial statements
include the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

ZEREYBRERBELART R
HEBAREZE 2022612 A31H
EFENTBRE - MBARIE
NAREH B Bk %A 5
MER(BIEEEBEER) - 2R
EEHHELSLHEFEEHREBKHA
FRmAERRIETERES I
B MIR E I RE A H & (A
SAEBHAEEZEREH R
BESMNRAEEN) FEZEMO
R - BIER/S &l -

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBE®MERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting 3. EXEFBEHME®
policies (continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and subsidiaries (a) ZFEEFHMBAT ()

(continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, EANTEESIBEERERE

less than a majority of the voting or similar HRLORARZENEERELE

rights of an investee, the Group considers all PN REBRAEHERE

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing HRERHEBR IS EREMN

whether it has power over an investee, EHBEERERL B :-

including:-

e the contractual arrangement with the other e HEEHWRMHHMKREE
vote holders of the investee; RBAGTUBNEAREE:

e rights arising from other contractual e HMEHNLTHFESNE
arrangements; and AR

e the Group’s voting rights and potential e AEENKREEREER
voting rights. E 7

The financial statements of subsidiaries are MEBARMBBREKTER -

prepared for the same reporting period as FEERIZERNQFERN RS

the Company, using consistent accounting HGRH - MEBARMEEHRAS

policies. The results of subsidiaries are EEGEGIE 2 BRREE AR

consolidated from the date on which the WiEEEGREAREZELRELE

Group obtains control, and continue to be I EERRIE -

consolidated until the date that such control

ceases.

Consolidated profit or loss and each meBEakAMmEzERE A

component of other comprehensive income KE D A EBRAE B QA%

are attributed to the owners of the parent of BAREERER - BIF IR

the Group and to the non-controlling interests, SEHFERESLREAMS

even if this results in the non-controlling e MBEREARARIERS - #&

interest having a deficit balance. All intra-group % WARRZHREGEE A KRR

transactions, balances, income and expenses D EEH -

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it EEEENRBRABT NAKMBA
controls an investee if facts and circumstances A BKMA =BT EE
indicate that there are changes to one or more PR —HKZEHBE L A&
of the three elements of control described in ERERTEEERKRERRE
the accounting policy for subsidiaries below. I 2 ol o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation and subsidiaries

(a) ZFEEEHMBAS (B

(continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests
in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the consolidated profit or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any investment
retained and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to the consolidated profit
or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at
cost less any identified impairment loss. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

AEBMEHB ARG EE
GBS EYEERREYNE
RAHIEFIHE - AERERDERS
N

fieh N 5= [ 5% 25 S B /B /2 =) A 22 1
# LERELNGSBRET
JIMENERETE () EWKE
MARBEEREMNEREREDN
NAMBEE 2 LT K (i) i B 2 &) &
EAFERERNEE(BED
BNEBENREEE  £ATRN
Httemam R ASERE
HHORERRAKEEEEZ
EHBEEESRENR—EEE
MOBRERABRERIRERTN

(RIBERME) °

B B X A R B AR B AR AT AT 2 2
DR RS U NNNCIE B3
RINER - (IMB AR 2 XBERELD
AR E W R BRI B AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

(b) ¥BEHREE

The Group can elect to apply an
optional concentration test, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business.
The concentration test is met if substantially all
of the fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash
and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets,
and goodwill resulting from the effects of
deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further
assessment is needed.

Business combinations are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is
measured at fair value, which is calculated as
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
measured by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure
non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill

b EBEHEETE &)

(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it
assesses the financial assets and liabilities
assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being
the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in the consolidated profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any, and is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

EAEERBEBE  REA

R WEENEERENE
ARG RFALEAEN SR EE
REBE  NETBEND BN
R HBEREERD WD FTET AL
MESHNTHRARTELA -

BEVTSERKAGE BB &
ERE - FFIEREERN BT
%  RKRBHIAEHENE
WEHRENALEBE(E)D
N ORFTR BB AT RIE E K&
FrEEzaER KBRS/ FE
% FTEBHAZEREE - HEB

FEE - FTKEEMA#AFEE
HEAREAENKEBHRNFE
SREERE - JEIEREENE
U B8 75 B T4l & BB A R M BB 5 A
ARBENHKREFRENRAE
BE(A)Z A - Q| ZFEEIRR
BaNERAREB AWK -

MR ERIL - BERKARER
RBREEFR(WMB)FTE LR
AP BRRKRFDRIZT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBE®MERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting 3. EXEFBEHME®
policies (continued)

(b) Business combinations and goodwill b) EBEHREBEE (@)

(continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually HESFETRAENRASWMEE
or more frequently if events or changes in FREGHHBEIELBREREE
circumstances indicate that the carrying value AIBE A R(E - R BETERER
may be impaired. The Group performs its WA - ARBEFRIMERR
annual impairment test of goodwill as at the HETENERENSR -  RETR
end of reporting period. For the purposes of B BmEREE BEAEE
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to TEET e B 5 & A 15 (R 4 FE R
each of the Group’s cash-generating units XamEReELEM (B
(or groups of cash-generating units) that ELEBMAR) mMAwmAEE
is expected to benefit from the synergies WEMEESBEREENEEZ
of the combination, irrespective of whether FEUSNEMAR - BEER
other assets or liabilities of the Group are EENE NS ELEN
assigned to those units or groups of units. (ReEEEBEMAR) AT E ¢
Impairment is determined by assessing the EmET WHEeEAEMGR
recoverable amount of the cash-generating SEABMAR)TIKRE R
units (group of cash-generating units) to EREREE kDB RER
which the goodwill relates. If the recoverable BUARESEEZEVUREE
amount of the cash-generating units (group of EBEMARNMEAEENERT
cash-generating units) is less than its carrying B ABBBEZELANEEEE
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first WEEEBERLEN SR EZEM
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill WEMEE - ERRNME
allocated to the unit (group of cash-generating AIREBEI~ERNERZDHAME
units) and then to the other assets of the unit Mmoo

on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated ERENBERSELEEAM(K
to a cash-generating unit (or group of ReEABEMNAN BZEMNR
cash-generating units) and part of the WED EBHHEE - AIEERE
operation within that unit is disposed of, EHEERN  HEXBHEBNEE
the goodwill associated with the operation MAZEBRREESR - EIEE
disposed of is included in the carrying amount NTITHENHEDRBAHEE
of the operation when determining the gain or BRAREBNIEDBEEELESAM
loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in WEBEETE -

these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the operation disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

(c) W% WMERREE

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less provisions for depreciation and
impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable cost of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
the item has been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs,
is normally charged to the consolidated profit
or loss in the year in which it is incurred. In
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an
increase in future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of the item, the
expenditure is capitalised as an additional
cost of the item. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is sold, its cost and
accumulated depreciation are removed from
the consolidated financial statements and
any gain or loss resulting from the disposal,
being the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset,
is included in consolidated profit or loss.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line
method, based on the estimated economic
useful lives of the individual assets, as follows:

Leasehold improvement

HEWHFEEE is shorter

ME - BENRRBERERABITE
BEkBREBREMAE)IK -

ME - BEMRZKBEHEENKAE
EEBEEBERSEEEZHHE
1B AR S B 38 B 48 B8 4 B DAME B
REMEMELENTAEERRE
AR o TRIA B R 46 1E 1F 1R P 4R
B R (MEERRERAE
RAR)BERNXEFENEAR
SRR - WERABRBR
ZERXESAREREBER
7B B Al S R R B A s SR
BERERAXAgENMEERB BN
AR - b EME - BERRE
B HRARZRFATEREGS
MBmRRP B BLEMFE
MREHEBR(BILEEEMRS
REFRAERMENZRE) K

JIAEE R ©

ERWTEREED MG KA
ERFHRBEREFTRIFE
B

Over the remaining lease terms or 3 years, whichever

HRTHEAR=ZFUREERE)

Furniture, fixture and equipment

FRih - HERERB =E+F
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

3 to 10 years

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBE®MERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting 3. EXEFBEHME®
policies (continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (c) E BERRE®
Where parts of an item of property, plant and MME  BMEAXEEBEENHLD
equipment have different useful lives, the cost ERASW IR - AZEEKA#
of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis BREeBEESRETEE D AERE
among the parts and each part is depreciated AT E - FAEE - B ERF
separately. Residual values, estimated HRTELTEZZEIREMBRFE
useful lives and the depreciation method are RN RELT BUHER) -

reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least
at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment TBRERNYE - BERXREE
including any significant part initially B(REEAEZAKES) L
recognised is derecognised upon disposal ENFERAGASEES TR
or when no future economic benefits are KRR ERN 2 - AR IETER ©
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or REERIERFENFEEER
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the A B R BY B B R B A9 AT iR
consolidated profit or loss in the year the asset nHEBENDEEEEHEERE
is derecognised is the difference between the REFHEEEREBEMNESRS

net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (d) & E (B2 ) R oF 5%
and research and development costs X &
Intangible assets of customer relationship TBRERNME - BELREE
acquired in a business combination are B(BREMNEZHEKIS)LH
recognised separately from goodwill and EXERAEFTRASIEEF TG
are initially recognised at their fair value at ARG BNz - AR IETER ©
the acquisition date, and software acquired REEKRIERFENGEEER
separately and with finite useful lives are A B2 Y B 3k R R B A AT R
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation mHERNDEBAEEHEENE
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. REFHEEREEMNER
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible ETRFHNEREERKNR
assets acquired with finite useful lives EEFEEREMN ARG REEE
are reported at costs less accumulated EXR -NFERAFHERNELE
amortisation and any accumulated impairment EREHRE G RIERF RN
losses. Amortisation for intangible assets BEREER - HFTAIEAFH
with finite useful lives is recognised on a REEHE T AR S mEARRT
straight-line basis over their estimated useful L 2T ERBHEEA
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation AR o

method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effective of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(d) #ER & E (BR2 Hb) R oF 3%

and research and development costs
(continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset are measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

The Group’s intangible assets have finite useful
lives. All intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the following period:-

& (&)

REIHERELEEME LN
Wk EE  REEMEREAR
HEEERmECHNEZET
B UHEEERUIBRPERER
EEBERTER -

AEEETLEEEABBERNAE
REH - AR EESRAER
BOERIATN IR # 8 - —

Software ;4 5to 10 years 5&104
Customer relationship RPEEF 4 to 7 years AT
Research and development costs o 3 % &K

Costs associated with research activities are
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred. Costs that are directly
attributable to the development phase are
recognised as intangible assets provided they
meet the following recognition requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of
the prospective product for internal use or
sale;

(i) there is an intention to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

(iiiy the Group’s ability to use or sell the
intangible asset is demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or
sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other
resources are available for completion
and;

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset can be reliably measured.

MABBDZIHBERARE £
6] 7 58 A B 32 o B 3% B BR B MG
EEMRAERNENIERRE
ZERATHARELEE:

() HRABERAEEZEE
E mn BURE BT ER AT

(il BEXKHABZELEE
WERASEEREBEEE:

(i) BREAREEHFRENFEASK
HEZEREE:

(iv) 78 IS AL B PO BB
PR o5 38 5 7 A5 AT B 35

(v) BRARM - MHELREME
BRXETKRERME: K&

(Vi) ZEBVEEMELEZHAX

BEAIEMET 8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(d) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(e)

and research and development costs
(continued)

Research and development costs (continued)

The costs capitalised include staff costs
incurred on developing ICs modules which are
directly attributable to the development phase.
The costs of internally generated product
developments are recognised as intangible
assets.

Amortisation of the development costs
commence once the mass production of ICs
modules start. The basis of amortisation would
be provided using the expected value method
that the actual number of unit sold over the
expected number of unit sold for particular ICs
modules which is based on the management’s
best estimation with reference to the historical
sale pattern of similar ICs modules.

Both the period and basis of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Impairment of non-financial assets
(other than goodwill)

When an indication of impairment exists,
or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the assets recoverable amount is
estimated. An assets recoverable amount is
the higher of the value in use of the asset
or cash-generating unit to which it belongs
and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(other than goodwill) (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the consolidated profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is
any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other
than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
amortisation), had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such impairment loss is credited to
the consolidated profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on a
first-in, first-out basis and includes all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(f)

(9)

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying
amount of those inventories is recognised as
an expense in the period in which the related
revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable value
and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL")) are added to the fair value
of the financial assets, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets

(9 BREHHEBEREE &)

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets

(9 BREHHEBEREE &)

(continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for
trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments
that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXE

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are required to
be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/
receivables subsequently measured at
FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see
note 3(h)). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at
FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at
FVTOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value with gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve; and
are not subject to impairment assessment.
The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and
will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in
equity instruments are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment. Dividends are included in
the other income line item in consolidated
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(g) Investments and other financial assets

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from the asset or has
assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights
to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the
asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(9)

(h)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured
at amortised cost, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on
initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI upon
application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investments
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit loss (“‘ECL’) on the financial
assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires the
use of the lifetime expected losses provision
for all trade receivables without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets
are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(h) =MEEREm®

For all other instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

When estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shortfalls which
is the difference between the cash flows due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
on a forward looking basis whether
financial assets carried at amortised cost
is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(h) € EERMEE)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable data:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer;

(b) a breach of contract such as a default or
past due event; and

(c) it is becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

The gross carrying amount of a financial assets
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to write off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities in order to comply
with the Group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition.

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instruments external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk
(continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure
that the criteria are capable of identifying
significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events of default that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

— the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset
when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade and
bills receivables, when the amounts are
over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in consolidated
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss
if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(h) € EERMEE)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (v) BHEEERERE
(continued) 58 (&)

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective
basis or cater for cases where evidence at
the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are
grouped based on:

— Nature of financial instruments;

— Past-due status;

— Nature, size and industry of debtors;
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The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment
loss in consolidated profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of
trade and bills receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

()

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial liabilities (other than financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in consolidated profit or loss.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include
trade and bills payables, accruals and other
payables, lease liabilities and bank and other
borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

()

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans
and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included
in finance costs in the consolidated profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised
in consolidated profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(1)

Foreign currency translation

Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions are initially
recorded using the functional currency rates
ruling at the date of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in the consolidated profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items
that are designated as part of the hedge
of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of
the item. The functional currencies of certain
overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than
US$. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the
Group at the exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period, and their income and
expense items are translated into US$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(1)

(k)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are
recorded in other comprehensive income
and the cumulative balance is included
in translation reserve in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative
amount recognised in translation reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Any goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation and any fair value
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries are translated into US$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into US$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue
is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a
promised good or service to a customer, as
follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

(k) Y ANHER2 ()

Revenue from sale of goods which are HIRBEEENERHEKA
bundled with services
Time of recognition # 33 I &7

The Group provides customised reference
designs which are bundled together with
the sale of ICs products and electronic
components and delivery to the customers
designated locations as a package to
customers. Sales are recognised when the
control of the ICs products and electronic
components including the bundled services,
being when the ICs products and electronic
components are delivered to the customers,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the ICs
products and electronic components. The
Group allows customers to return the defective
products in the range from two weeks to one
month after the delivery. No warranty or sales
rebate is offered to the customers.

Measurement of revenue

Revenue from sales is based on the price
specified in the sales contracts and is shown
net of value-added tax and after eliminating
sales within the Group. No element of financing
is deemed present as the sales are made with
a credit term not more than four months. A
receivable is recognised when the control of
the ICs products and electronic components
are delivered to the customers as this is
the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate
the likelihood and provide for sales return for
the goods sold at the time of sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (continued)

)

Revenue from sale of goods which are
bundled with services (continued)

Refund liabilities

The Group recognises a refund liability if the
Group expects to refund some or all of the
consideration received from customers.

For a sale of products with a right of return, the
Group recognises revenue for the transferred
products in the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled. A right
of return asset is also recognised for the right
to recover products from a customer.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as
they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

The employees of the subsidiaries within the
Group which operate in the PRC are required
to participate in the central defined contribution
pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These PRC subsidiaries
are required to contribute a percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme as
specified by the local municipal government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

U]

(m)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. An
accrual is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee long service payment

The provision for long service payment is
provided based on the employees’ basic
salaries and their respective length of service
in accordance with the applicable rules and
regulations in their respective countries of
employment.

Income tax

Income tax represents the sum of current
and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside consolidated profit or loss
is recognised outside consolidated profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the amount expected to be recovered from
or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability
method, on all temporary differences at the end
of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(m) Income tax (continued)

(m) Fife ¥ (&)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences, except:

— when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit; and

— in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for
all deductible temporary differences, the
carry forward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, the carry
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

— when the deferred tax asset relating to
the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit; and

— in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(m) Income tax (continued)

(n)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on the tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short-term
highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(o) Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions apply:

the entity and the Group are
members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other
entity is a member);

the entities and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(o) Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is apart, provides key
management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the
Company.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

(c) dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(p)

(a)

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors of the Company
for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group’s business components and
for their review of the performance of those
components. The business components in the
internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following
the Group’s major operations.

The measurement policies the Group uses
for reporting segment results under HKFRS
8 Operating Segments (“HKFRS 8") are
the same as those used in its consolidated
financial statements prepared under HKFRSs.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the initial recognition, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the modification date. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions
of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(q) Leases (continued) (9 HE®)

The Group as a lessee FEEESRBA
Right-of-use assets HERE

Except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets, the Group recognises right-of-use
assets at the commencement date of the
lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is
available for use) at cost. Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in
property, plant and equipment, the same line
item within which the corresponding underlying
assets would be presented if they were owned.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(q) Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group’s
exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and interest on lease
liabilities. The interest on lease liabilities is
charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income over
the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liabilities for each period.

The Group presents lease liabilities as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting 3. EXEFBEHME®
policies (continued)

(q) Leases (continued) () HE®H)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications in relation to the
COVID-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred
as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic, the Group has elected to apply
the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient
accounts for changes in lease payments
resulting from rent concessions the same way
it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable
lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss in
the period in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(r)

(s)

®

Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, and it is probable that
a future outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. When the effect of discounting is
material, the amount recognised for a provision
is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their
value where there is reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the
grant related to expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systemic basis over the
periods that the costs, which is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs that are not directly
attributable to expenditure on qualifying assets
are recognised in consolidated profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBE®MERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

3. Summary of significant accounting 3. EXEFBEHME®
policies (continued)

(u) Fair value measurement (uy 2AEESE

The Group measures its equity investments AEEREREHAREAAE
at fair value at the end of each reporting BEffEEEEKRE AREE
period. Fair value is the price that would be REMSZE2EENGTEAHE
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer TZBERXSPREEEEMK
a liability in an orderly transaction between MR EREEEMT2ER -
market participants at the measurement date. AAEBEFEDNREBELHEERE
The fair value measurement is based on FEZEEBENRINEEXARE
the presumption that the transaction to sell WEEMSN(EXLBEEENIS
the asset or transfer the liability takes place BATNEEXBENRAED
either in the principal market for the asset TISETHRERMIEL - T2
or liability, or in the absence of a principal XEEEMBARAEEA#
market, in the most advantageous market for ARG c BEEXBENAARE
the asset or liability. The principal or the most BENEMSBE2EE(BREEU
advantageous market must be accessible KELBENRTE)INEEXA
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a EEERFANBEE -

liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial FERMEENAABETESS
asset takes into account a market participants kg2 EEGUEARE K&
ability to generate economic benefits by using THREERZEE X% EE
the asset in its highest and best use or by HETHRAZARE R&ERE
selling it to another market participant that FRZEEMEMMmIZLESE -
would use the asset in its highest and best use. MEELELZNEN -
The Group uses valuation techniques that AEBFEREANREBAERL B
are appropriate in the circumstances and for ERABIEAIGTEANEE " B
which sufficient data are available to measure XARESAEM]EBRHE A
fair value, maximising the use of relevant BELRBERLSFERAITATEE
observable inputs and minimising the use of B A BUR 89 fh B #AiT -

unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

3. EXEHHBEBME

3. Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

(u) Fair value measurement (continued)

(u) 2REEEE

All assets and liabilities for which fair value
is measured or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:-

FIEREAMBERRAEBAR
BAnBENEERAENE
REAREBEFEEEMEBE
RERER R &8 ABUR - RUT

NREBEFEIE:-

Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—&: EXHREEXER
in active markets for identical assets PRUERBRT SR RE (K
or liabilities KHE)

Level 2. based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3: based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised
in the consolidated financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

4.

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires the directors of the Company
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The directors of the Company have considered
the development, selection and disclosure of
the Group’s critical accounting judgements and
estimates.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The policy for the allowance for ECL on trade
receivables of the Group is assessed for trade
debtors with significant balances or collectively
using a provision matrix appropriate groupings.
As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
estimated credit loss rates are estimated based
on historical default rates of the trade debtors
and are adjusted by forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
The allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about ECL of the Group’s
trade receivables are disclosed in note 32.

Estimation of accrued purchase rebates

The Group has entered into the ship and debit
arrangements with certain suppliers during the year.
Under the arrangements, the purchases of materials
and goods from these suppliers are initially charged
to the Group at their standard prices and then
rebates are given by these suppliers to the Group
after the materials have been sold to the Group’s
customers. The rebate rates vary depending on
the scale and sold volume of customers. At the
reporting dates, the costs of inventories purchased
under the ship and debit arrangements are required
to be reassessed and adjusted for the estimated
likely rebates. A considerable amount of judgement
and estimates is required in determining the
appropriate amount to accrue for the purchase
rebates and the net of such rebate cost of
inventories. If conditions which have an impact on
the purchase rebates differ from those assessed
previously, further changes to the carrying value of
inventories may be required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

4.

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions
Allowance for inventories

Management carries out inventory review
periodically, at least at the end of each reporting
period and makes allowance for obsolete items. A
considerable amount of judgement and estimates
is required in determining such allowance. If
conditions which have an impact on the net
realisable value of inventories deteriorate, additional
allowances may be required. Management reviews
the inventory ageing analysis at the end of reporting
period and identifies for slow-moving inventory
that are no longer suitable for consumption and
saleable. Management estimates the net realisable
value for such inventories based primarily on the
latest invoice price and current market conditions.
When the inventories which have been impaired are
sold subsequently, the provision of impairment loss
will be reversed to the extent of impairment losses
previously recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Provision for income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. Significant judgement
is required in determining the tax liabilities to be
recognised. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises provisions for
tax based on estimates of the taxes that are likely to
become due. The Group believes that its provision
for tax is adequate for each of financial year based
on its assessment of many factors including past
experience and interpretations of tax law. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Unlisted equity investments measured at FVTOCI
were revalued by the directors of the Company
by reference to the valuation performed by
independent professional valuer. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has used a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised
its judgment and is satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. If there are changes in the assumptions
used for the valuation, the fair value of the unlisted
equity investments will change. As at 31 December
2022, the carrying amount of the unlisted equity
investments was approximately US$6,293,000
(2021: US$6,281,000). Details of information about
the valuation were disclosed in note 32.

Segment information

An operating segment is a component of the Group
that is engaged in business activities from which
the Group may earn revenue and incur expenses,
and is identified on the basis of the internal
management reporting information that is provided
to and regularly reviewed by executive directors
of the Company in order to allocate resources and
assess performance of the segment. During the
year, the executive directors received and reviewed
information on the performance of the Group as a
whole. Accordingly, it is determined that the Group
has only one single operating segment, which is
determined as sale of ICs products and electronic
components including bundled services, for the
purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

5.

Segment information (continued) 5. & )
The Company is an investment holding company KRR B—RIEEERAR - A& E
and the principal place of the Group’s operation WEELEWERBARTE - 3R
is in Hong Kong and the PRC. For the purpose B(E BMBRELER)FSRLE D
of geographical segment information disclosures B RBEMBOSTERMS  AEER
under HKFRS 8, the Group regarded Hong Kong EREREERM - KAEEMRAREN
as its place of domicile. All the Group’s revenue REFHUW A AL ENE AR FTE
from external customers is presented based on HMARERY MAKBEERBEE
the location of the operating subsidiaries and the (TERASRERS:  KRANEAE
Group’s non-current assets (excluding life insurance AR EERENERE ERE
policy deposits, financial assets at FVTOCI and FE T TH & B ) Bl LA & 2 PR AE #h 2 51 40
deferred tax assets) is presented based on the D
location of assets as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET

Year ended 31 December HE12A31HILEE
Revenue from contracts with R -FAERN(E B

customers within the scope of B 7% 8RS 2RI ) B 1555

HKFRS 15 recognised at a point  #EARRF &4 UK

in time

Hong Kong S 85,749 177,464

The PRC H 35,961 44,576

121,710 222,040

At 31 December 12H31H
Non-current assets EMBEE

Hong Kong BB 1,622 673

The PRC a3 1,280 551

2,902 1,224

1 64 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

Segment information (continued)

Revenue from customers which individually
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the year is as follows:

D EREE (=)

WP - 77 5 I A {5 10% B
FHERESKADT

2022 2021

20224 20214

USs$°’000 USs$'000

FETT FET

Customer A EFEA 21,289 60,351

Customer B ZFEB 23,086 27,548

Customer C =2HEC N/A* 24,960
A A

*

The customer contributed less than 10% of the total
revenue for the year.

During the year, the Group generated revenue
primarily from the sale of five categories of ICs
products and electronic components, comprising
for: (i) mobile devices and smart charging; (ii)
motor control; (iii) sensor and automation; (iv)
light-emitting diode (“LED”) lighting; and (v) radio
frequency (“RF”) power. The following table sets out
the breakdown of the revenue recognised at a point
in time by product category:

* ZRBEPRAFENEMEZRATRE
10%

RER AEBNBRAZTEREHEE
THRBICERKETTHE X B
(i) BERBELREETE : (i) E T
Bl (i) BB R B EIES] (V)X =
&% ([LEDJ) B8 B8 : & (v) 5748 ([RF))
BR - TREINIZEREREH»NE
—HEMERN KA

2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET

Sales of IC products and electronic # &ICE @ M & T

components: — T —

Mobile devices and smart charging @ 81 &5 L E e T E 67,947 163,850
Motor control B 40,149 35,236
Sensor and automation BEREE N B H 9,670 15,896
LED lighting LED 2R 2,633 4,674
RF power 57 48 & R 1,311 2,384
121,710 222,040
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

6.

Revenue and other income 6. WmRkHEMEAN
Revenue from the Group’s principal activities, AEEXEXBEHN KRR (AN
which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the EERNEXEE)EHEICERRET
income from sale of ICs products and electronic THEEXNTEPIRE —KHE
components including the bundled services BHANEAXNRB) AEHRA R
delivered to the customers and recognised at a FRNERO M RHEMBART :
point in time. Revenue and other income recognised
during the year are as follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FETT
Revenue from contract with (BEEUMBHRERA)E
customers within the scope of 15 ERAEE &4
HKFRS 15, types of goods or WA + BB 8 IRFEHE
services /A
Sale of ICs products and HEICERMEFITH
electronic components 121,710 222,040

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sale of ICs
products and electronic components including the
bundled services such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

AEEEKCE BT RELER)F5
WHEIIRTOAIITRE 2 ERAR
HICEmEETTHHE(BRMALH
AR Bt EAEEABREARE
BRERNBEGSHA—FHIATH
MHRBROBCRHBERESHOEA
MEREER -

2022 2021
20225 20214
uss’ooo US$°000
FETT FET
Other income R A

Bank interest income RITH B WA 11 2
Exchange gain, net P 5 W &= 5 58 — 138
Government grants (note (a)) BT AL (BT a2 (a) 92 17

Imputed interest income on life ASREZESNEEF
insurance policy deposits B A 74 43
Rent concessions (note (b)) 7 % &R (1 iE (b)) 32 —
Others Hth 20 46
229 246
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

6. Revenue and other income (continued) 6. Wrax B H e A )
Notes: B &t
(a) For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, (a) B ZE2022F K%2021F12A318LLFE -
government grants included the subsidy granted by the B EEaTREBRARETHE QR
PRC government for encouragement to local business A B EREBE B - ZEEM
activities. The amount also included the government BEREEBSRAITRR BT #HS
grants which had been received in respect of subsidy for R EFE((REEFE DS BEHET
staff costs according to the Employment Support Scheme PR N BL i B A IR T fE AL - (R TE 35T
(“ESS”), which was launched by The Government of the BB ER2022F5 A E7AHIEMA SR
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, which aimed REERRESTEUAERB RS HEE
to provide time limited financial support to the Group for ZEE - REE2021F12A31B L EE
the period from May to July 2022 to retain employees who WEKREREESTE - RBEBRAR - Z
might otherwise redundant. There was no ESS granted LR EN T RER GG REMIRARE
during the year ended 31 December 2021. There are no A
unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to
these subsidies at the end of the reporting period.
(b) The amount represented rent concessions from the (b) #ZeFEEEIEN2022F48F5A (2021
landlord in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic in April to F:E)HECovid-19RBEEBHMREEE
May 2022 (2021: Nil). The concession did not constitute to WESER HEERFTE(EBUH
the lease modification by applying the practical expedient WMELER)FE165 F46BRFIEHNE
that met the conditions in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. BEEANER SHTIEKEEEE -
7. Finance costs 7. MEBRF
2022 2021
20225 20214
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Interest on bills payables JETRER B 739 491
Interest on discounted bills BIREEF A 40 10
Interest on lease liabilities MEBERMNE (M iF24)
(note 24) 24 19
Imputed interest on promissory EHEBBEOEEN S
notes (note 17) (Htit17) — 286
Interest on bank borrowings R 1T 8 KA B 337 474
Interest on other borrowings H o & R & 415 537
1,555 1,817

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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8. (Loss)/profit before income tax 8. KRetFiEBiai(EE) FH
(Loss)/profit before income tax is arrived at after RETFTSRLAT (E518) / F) M 42 40 5 LA
charging: THIBEREGH:

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes Us$’000 US$000
(i3 FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE B
— Audit services —EZ RS 114 105
— Non-audit services —FBEZRE 31 22
Amortisation of intangible assets £ & & # §4 14 64 13
Amortisation of life insurance ASREZ S #H
policy deposits 106 22
Cost of inventories recognised as R AR Y 2 7&K A
expenses 112,111 208,205
Depreciation of property, plant % - iERXEME 13
and equipment 582 634
Employee benefit expenses EEBMHAX
(including directors’ (BREEZHH)
remuneration) (note (i) (Bt ()
— Salaries, allowances and — He  EUMRIELA
bonus 4,297 5,194
— Pension scheme — RARESHEHK
contributions — defined — AEH-KETE
contribution plan (note (ii) (K73 (i0) 482 555
Expenses relating to the short- HEEHHAEZHX 13
term leases 13 12
Loss on early redemption of REBEARZEN 17
promissory notes &8 — 36
Write-off of inventories included in #i 5 5t A $§ E K K 2 18
cost of sales FE 27 72
Notes: Bt -
(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2022, employee (i) MEZ=2022F12A31HILFE - EER

benefit expenses (including directors’ remuneration)
of approximately US$2,192,000 and US$2,587,000
were included in selling and distribution expenses and
general and administrative expenses respectively (2021:
US$752,000, US$2,064,000 and US$2,933,000 were
included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses
and general and administrative expenses respectively).

(i)  As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no forfeited (i)

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
retirement benefit schemes in future years (2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9. EEHNN AEmEHES
highest paid employees and senior EEREERE
management
(a) Directors remuneration (a) E == Hon

Remuneration paid or payable by the Company REAR - BRBEEALTHBES
or its subsidiaries undertakings to the directors 78 A 1) 4% BB 2 AN A B 3l EL B
of the Company during the year, disclosed BARIMARBESS S ER
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and ol R | B U
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is set out
below:
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind honuses contributions Total
g 2HR e

e EWEN  BREAL MR it
ussooo  USSvoo  USSboo  USS000  USS000
FET FET FETL FET FET

Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022512R318

LEE
Executive directors; HITEE:
Mr. Lam Wi - 403 2 15 450
Mr. Qing WmxE - 216 21 18 255
Mr. Mai Lu Reks - 89 21 18 128
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik gFELT 15 191 51 10 267
Sub-total It 15 899 125 61 1,100

Inclependent non-execuiive direcors: B H#HTEZ

Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEERE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (note (i) ERRELEW ) 1 - - - 1
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan nota (i) BRERE W) 13 - - - 13
Mr. Lai Man Shun REERE 15 - - - 15
Sub-total NG 44 - - - 44
Total At 59 899 125 61 1,144

BREEMBERAF 20229 F

169



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME
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9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9. EEFM - A2ameFHEE
highest paid employees and senior EERERE»
management (continued)

(a) Directors remuneration (continued) (a) EEFHFMH)
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits ~ Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
§e 2RR i
e EWENM  BEEL  HEEX At

Us§ooo  USsooo  Ussboo  Usso0  USSU00
FATL FAT FATL T FAL

Year ended 31 December 2021 # 220215127318

LEE
Executive directors; HITEE:
Mr, Lam WEE — 350 — 14 364
Mr. Qing F:3 — 172 31 16 219
Mr. Mai Lu RELE - 91 3 15 139
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik BrEgt 15 183 — 8 206
Sub-otal NGt 15 79 64 53 928

.

Inclependent non-execulive directors: BUFHTEE:

Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELE 15 - - - 15

Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (note (j)) ERRAENA)) 15 - - — 15

Mr. Lai Man Shun REGRE 15 - - - 15
Sub-fotal It 45 - — — 45
Total At 60 796 04 53 973
The executive directors’ remuneration shown FRHITESHOMES IR E AR
above were for their services in connection R RAEEEREBHORG -
with the management of the affairs of the MEMBIIEATESTAOMNE
Company and the Group while the independent DHEERARFESFHRE -

non-executive directors’ remuneration shown
above were for their services as directors of the

Company.

No any of the directors has waived or agreed to REAR BEESHEXREN
waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Z (T ] B & (20214F : &) o

Nil).
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9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management (continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors remuneration (continued)

During the year, no remuneration was paid by
the Group to the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

Notes:

(i) Mr. Wong Kwun Ho resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 24 January 2022.

(i) Mr. Chan Ngai Fan was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 2 March
2022.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were
the highest in the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 included 3 directors (2021: 3
directors), whose remunerations were reflected
in the analysis shown in the note (a) above.
The remuneration paid and payable to the
remaining 2 (2021: 2) highest paid individuals
during the year is as follows:

0. EEHWN - AEREHES

EERERBE

(a)

(b)

EEHM

RER  REBEBERE SN
& 1EA RS MANER S INA
REBRBRHBE @ EABEBE
B (20214 : ££) -

Wyt -

() BERELEN2022F1H240FF
BMIERITES -

(i) BREE X EN2022F3828 R
ERBIULIENITES -

AEmEHMAL

HZE2022F12A31BILFEE » K
SR RSN ARZALTEE
3REE(2021F :3%EF) &
e &A@ TR DITH ©
REA - EBHRTEHER2% (20214 -
2R )EREHFMATHBMES T

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$’000
FE T FET

Salaries, allowances, bonus and ¥4 28 - LA REY
benefits in kind & 570 703
Pension scheme contributions R K& & 8 10
578 713
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9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9. EEHNN AEmEHES
highest paid employees and senior EERERE
management (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) AEmEHFMAL @
The number of the highest paid employees who AT AME N TR AT R &
are not the directors whose remuneration fell SFMES(LIHFES) A -

within the following bands is as follows:

Number of the individuals

A
2022 2021
20224 20214
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent Z Z1,000,000/% 7T (£ 5 R
to approximately Nil to T %129,000% JT)
US$129,000) — —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/% Tt £1,500,000
(equivalent to approximately 77T (K9 F R 129,0013 7T
US$129,001 to US$194,000) %194,0003 L) 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1,500,001;% 7t £5,000,000
(equivalent to approximately 7T (B FE R 194,001 7T
US$194,001 to US$645,000) £645,000% 7T) 1 2
2 2
During the year ended 31 December 2022, B E2022F12A31BEFE © &
no remuneration was paid by the Group to SEVEMEMNAZ S E M
any of the five highest paid individuals as an ATXNEMERMAREEH
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or s AN E ) RS
as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil). BB (B (20214 - &) o
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10. iEH(HR) HX

10. Income tax (credit)/expense

2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEH
— Current year —ARFE — 402
— Over-provision in prior years — BEFEHBERE (8) (45)
The PRC Corporate Income Tax REPEERMEH
(“CIT")
— Current year —KEFE 105 119
— Under/(over)-provision in prior — BEFEBRETT,
years (HERE ) 4 (128)
101 348
Deferred tax (note 26) i R 75 18 (K 22 26) (594) (33)
Income tax (credit)/expense FIERH(ER),/FHAX (493) 315

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdiction in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax under these jurisdictions during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000) of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%
(2021: 8.25%), and profits above HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000) will be
taxed at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%). The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) during the year.

AEBEREREERELBHIRE
REE B R E AR G NS E PR RDA
BENZMNBARER -

BREHSHENEBARRHERN
MBI KEER - REZ 2022912 831H

& S04 ] P15 7% (20214 : ) -

BRESEMAFSHENGE &
BEREBE®EMNE2000,000% T (M6
&R #)258,0003 Jt) F ) #% 1%8.25%
(20214 : 8.25%) MY Tt E & B+ M i
##2,000,0007% 7T (#8 & 1 #1258,000
X J0) B F OB 3 $#16.5% (20214 :
16.5%) T R HF - THEMAFE
MENHEEENEBETRNFBEH
BN ENIL16.5% (20214 : 16.5%)
BB — R R o

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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10. i H(H %) FHXZ 0w

10. Income tax (credit)/expense (continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
(2021: 8.25%) of the first HK$2,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$258,000) of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)
on the estimated profits above HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000), taking
into account the tax concession granted by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region during the year.

The provision for the PRC CIT was based on the
statutory rate of 25% (2021: 25%) of the assessable
profits of subsidiaries which carried on businesses
in the PRC during the year. Pursuant to relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC, a PRC subsidiary
of the Company is qualified as a small and micro
enterprise and its assessable profit was below
RMB1,000,000, the PRC subsidiary entitled to the
tax effective rate of 2.5% (2021: 2.5%) for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

10. Income tax (credit)/expense (continued)

A reconciliation of the income tax (credit)/expenses
applicable to (loss)/profit before income tax at the
applicable tax rates to income tax (credit)/expense
at the effective tax rate is as follows:

10. i H(H %) FHXZ 0w

BB R RS EO RSB A (8
B/ MBERAMSEH(ER), /X
HIZERBRRFENMEH(ER),/
FXHOERRANT

2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FETT
(Loss)/profit before income tax REtFT BB A (B18) /FE (2,077) 2,486
Tax at domestic rate of respective & & B &) A KE & A A i Fi K
jurisdiction B (259) 421
Tax effect of non-taxable income RHMBRANTR B E (15) (107)
Tax effect of non-deductible PAIMBRAXO BB E
expenses 50 189
Utilisation of tax losses previously FABERERMIEEIE
not recognised — (82)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses KERHEEFENH KT E 93 43
Tax effect of temporary differences FEREBREZBNRE L
not recognised (358) (4)
Tax concession VERE R — (22)
Over-provision of tax in prior years BEFE T B BEEE 4) (173)
Income tax (credit)/expense PRIERER)FX (493) 315

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately RMB3,590,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$514,000) (2021: RMB1,093,000
(equivalent to approximately US$169,000)) incurred
by subsidiaries in the PRC, which can be carried
forward for 5 years from the year in which the losses
were incurred and available for offset against future
profits of the PRC subsidiaries, subject to approval
from the local tax authorities.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised for
abovementioned unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams (2021: Nil).

R2022F12831H » AEB B AEA
T I8 & 8 4 A R #3,590,0007T (48
B M #)514,0003 JT)(2021F : A B
#1,093,0007T (8 & 7 #9169,0003%
L)) ZBMEEER —RTRKBA
RIEL WAIRBEEELEFERES
FAEE  UEEEPENB AR 2
RARFHE - HEBESH B E
FFA] e

R PR 2R 2K F) B 7 &9 T | T8RN 14 (2021

FoE) MWER AR BHRIA
BEERECHEBEE -
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11. (Loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to the owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

11.

Bik(EBHE) &2

AATHEAABETREL(FR),/
BFRTHI BEE E -

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FZET
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable &R EZEAR(EE), AT
to the owners of the Company mE AR EA A BN
for the purpose of basic (loss)/ FRN(EE),FE
earnings per share (1,584) 2,171

Number of shares

% 3 BB

2022 2021

20225 20214

000 ‘000

FEIT TFE7T

(Restated)

(E7))
Weighted average number of REREXR(EE) AT
ordinary shares for the purpose of = EER NS &

basic (loss)/earnings per share 811,688 808,421

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used to calculate the basic (loss)/earnings per share
for both years have been adjusted to reflect the
Rights Issue (as defined in note 27) during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the basic
earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2021 are restated.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share were the same as
the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there were
no dilutive potential shares outstanding during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

12. Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of
the reporting period (2021: Nil).
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GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

13. Property, plant and equipment 13. 9% BMERRE
Furniture, Right-of-
Leasehold fixture and Motor  use assets
improvement equipment vehicles (note) Total
fifh RER EREgE
HENERE R RE (Wit) At

uss oo uss o0 uss o0 uss oo Uss o0
FEL FET FET FET FET

Cost BE

At 1 January 2021 R2021%1A1A 17 613 295 1,267 2,292
Additions AE = 57 = 429 486
Derecognition of expired leases RIEACERAE - - - (717) (717)
Written-off i = (1) - - (1)
Exchange realignment ERAE 3 5 — 2 31

At 31 December 2021 and R2021E12A31A R2022%

1 January 2022 1A1H 120 674 295 1,002 2,091
Additions AE - 8 - 513 521
Derecognition of expired leases BIEBACDEREE - - - (544) (544)
Written-off i - ) (90) - (98)
Exchange realignment ERRE 9) (20) - (14) (103)
At 31 December 2022 R2022 12318 1M 654 205 897 1,867
Accumulated depreciation RitRE
At 1 January 2021 R2021%1A18 86 172 il 869 1,238
Charge for the year (note §) ERx e 33 116 67 418 634
Derecognition of expired leases RERACEREE - — - (117) (7117)
Written-off Lk - (1) - - (1)
Exchange realignment R g 1 3 - 15 19
At 31 December 2021 and 1202145124318 k20225

1 January 2022 1A10 120 290 178 585 1,173
Charge for the year (10fe §) Eng e 1 113 61 407 562
Derecognition of expired leases BERRADEREE - - - (544) (544)
Written-off i - 8 (90) - (98)
Exchange realignment RS (10) 9 - (38) (57)
At 31 December 2022 120225128318 1M 386 149 410 1,056
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2022 R2022% 12318 - 268 56 487 811
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12A31R = 384 117 47 918

FEEENEERAR 2022EgE®m 177
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

13. Property, plant and equipment 13. 9% - BERREE=

(continued)
Note:

For both years, the Group leased various offices and
warehouses for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 2 to 3 years (2021: 2 years to 5.4 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets

Byt

RAEEE AEEREETHAERERE
E&4BERRE  HEAYMNEBETCFEHA2FE3F
(202145 : 26 £5.4%F) - HE MR E R EAEHE
ARBEZEEIRAGREESH - BREEAR
EHEEEMHEREDSN HERZ T EN
MERRE - BEEETSAEMEFIER -
R2022F12A31H - B EHELEH R K

may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. None 1F 3332 4 (20214F « &) ©
of the leases have extension or termination option as at 31

December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Amounts included in the consolidated statements of cash flows FELRESRERTEHRHENEHENT
comprises the following:
2022 2021
2022% 20214
uss$’ooo US$'000
FETT FZET
Within financing cash flow — fixed payments @M&E S RER — B EMF R 394 473
Within operation cash flow — expenses KEREMEAN —BEREHEED
relating to short-term leases (note 8) X (#i#8) 13 12
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRe R BHE 407 485
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14. Intangible assets

FEVBHRRME

14. B EE

Customer Development
relationship costs
(note a) Software (note b) Total
EFRRAR 8% B A
(Mita) L (MEb) ait
Usso00 Uss000 Usso00 Usso00
FET FET FET FET
Cost RA
At 1 January 2021, R2021E1 718 » 20215
31 December 2021 and 12A318 R2022%1A18
1 January 2022 300 18 - 318
Additions nE - 431 1,476 1,907
Exchange realignment & 5% - - (32) (32)
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12A318 300 449 1,444 2,193
Accumulated amortisation RitHe
At 1 January 2021 #R2021561A1A 283 2 — 285
Charge for the year (note 8) FAX L8 11 2 = 13
At 31 December 2021 and R2021E12A318 Rk
1 January 2022 20225 1A1H 294 4 - 298
Charge for the year (note 8) ENXh(HEY) 3 61 — 64
At 31 December 2022 R2022%12 4318 297 65 - 362
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2022 #2022¢12 318 3 384 1,444 1,831
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R 6 14 — 20
Notes: B & -

(a)

The customer relationship has finite useful lives in the
range from 4 to 7 years (2021: 4 to 7 years) and are
amortised on a straight-line basis.

The useful lives of the customer relationship under
intangible assets arising from the business combination of
Shenzhen IH Technology Company Limited (“Shenzhen
IH"), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Company
Limited (“Shanghai IH”) and Chengdu Flying Electronics
Limited (“Chengdu Flyring”) was determined by the
independent valuer at 5 years, 7 years and 4 years
respectively. It was taken into consideration that the
economic benefits expected to be generated from the use
of the customer relationship would diminish over time due
to attrition and time value of money.

(@) L EBEFBENEBERHRABIZTF
(2021%F - 474 ) » IR EH IR A -

R I T O 2 ) B g A R 2 A ([ I 38
wD EBREMEFRMARAR ((LiBR
D RKHRREFERAR ((RBRIR) W
EBAHELENENEER TNERPBER
e MEHRB L GEEMD BIZEF - 76 R4%F
EEX BEZEINEANRERATPHAEELD
BENGEEREEEREEERRKHEE
BEmRED -

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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14. Intangible assets (continued) HEEE®
Notes: (continued) Bt (&)
(b) Development costs are the captialised staff costs which () HABEXKEARERECEINA  E# E%E
are directly attributable to the development phase for FEEFHUE@%&%%?ICE%E’]@%%
developing certain ICs modules before production. o B ARE MBS ERESE -

The development costs are amortised when the mass
production of products start.

15. Goodwill 15. 2
2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo US$°000
FETT FETT
Cost and net carrying amount BRARKREFE
At 1 January R1A1H 286 279
Exchange realignment b H, 58 B (26) 7
At 31 December 12 A31H 260 286
Goodwill was arising from the acquisition of BERBR2016F11 16 B BB R
Shenzhen IH on 16 November 2016. For the B REBHBETREANR  XE
purpose of impairment testing on goodwill, the EEEECHEESEZRIIEE
management of the Company allocated goodwill to R E L -
the operating performance of Shenzhen IH.
The recoverable amount of the operating subsidiary URHPEMEERBATMNITKE S
located in the PRC is determined based on BIORBERAEEFEMETE © %
value-in-use calculations. These calculations EEFAERASEEREMED
use cash flow projections based on financial Eﬁﬂﬁﬁ%i‘ﬁgtﬁiﬁimii@ Al e
budgets approved by the management of the HRURPBENEERBAA - A
Company covering a five-year period. The pre-tax 7.57% (20214 : 10.46%)#]%%%?)?1%
discount rates used of 7.57% (2021: 10.46%) for R - AREEHEEREERBEBERREE
the operating subsidiary located in the PRC. The HMESERNEHEETEERAR
management of the Company determined the BEENE - BRAFHRERE
budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margin {# F33.00% (20214 : 3.00%) ) & &
based on past performance and its expectations FIERERMEE o

for the market development. The cash flows beyond
five years have been extrapolated using a steady
3.00% (2021: 3.00%) per annum growth rate.
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15. Goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use
calculations of the operating subsidiary located in
the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The following describes each key assumption on
which the management of the Company has based
its cash flows projections to undertake impairment
testing of goodwill: —

Business growth rate — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted sales during the
five-year projection period is the sales growth rate
achieved in the prior year immediately before the
budget year.

Pre-tax discount rates — The pre-tax discount rates
used are before income tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
the operating subsidiary located in the PRC are
consistent with external information sources.

The management of the Company has calculated
that the value-in-use of the operating subsidiary and
concluded that the recoverable amount is greater
than their total carrying amount of the assets of
the subsidiary including allocated goodwill and
therefore has concluded that there is no impairment
in respect of the Group’s goodwill during the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The directors of the Company have not identified
any key assumptions where a reasonably possible
change in such assumptions could cause the
carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the
recoverable amount.

15. B & ()

HZE2022F12A31BILEE - (LA
HHRLENBARNEREEDE
RETHRBHETHE - T ABARF
EEEEETRESREBANERE
BHRETRENRBGMEKENXES
BEREK:—

58 R R — 0 FAE IE A
BEARTHEEHERNBEYE
R T TR AR 2 B — 4 M) B 6 0
R o

METFTIRE — EHORATITIR KRS
MRS RATR TR R - KRBT EE
HMETERNSERR

PETURTENLENRERRAE
RERNEERIINBEESRFE B -

ARREEEBENESLHEENH B A
AMFERAEE YSEUTKkEE£ES
RENRBARNEERTDAE(BIEE
SPHEMEER)NEH - BItE £=2022
F12A3MBLEFEE AEEMNHEL
R B (20216 - &) o

ARREFY EFREMHELSE
5 B B A] 28 B 2 ) B (BB AT R
Ol & %8 Y B S R AR e

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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16. \ERERE

16. Life insurance policy deposits

Certain life insurance policies (the “Policies”) with
a carrying amount approximately US$2,671,000
(2021: US$1,465,000) were entered into by the
Group to insure two of the directors of the Company,
Mr. Lam and Ms. Cheng Yu Pik. Under the Policies,
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group
and the total insured sum was approximately
US$10,537,000 (2021: US$6,737,000) as at 31
December 2022. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group paid approximately
US$1,248,000 (2021: Nil) at the inception of a new
policy. The Group can terminate the Policies at any
time and can receive cash back based on the net
nominal account value of the Policies at the date of
withdrawal. Interest is earned at interest rates of at
least those guaranteed by the insurer.

The directors of the Company expected that the
Policies with upfront payment of approximately
US$376,000 will be terminated at the 38th policy
year in 2053, approximately US$265,000 will
be terminated at the 40th policy year in 2058,
approximately US$260,000 will be terminated
at the 43rd policy year in 2061, approximately
US$224,000 will be terminated at the 45th policy
year in 2065, approximately US$300,000 will be
terminated at the 45th policy year in 2065 and
approximately US$1,248,000 will be terminated at
the 39th policy year in 2061 respectively.
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AEEFYEBEDA/2671,000%
70 (20214 : 1,465,000k 7T) (& TA

SREBEERE(RE]  BEARAMA
%%W‘ﬁi&ﬁ% BT RHERE -
BERE IZARREFEASL
REER - BR2022F12 31 R B
4845 %4 /510,537,000E 7T (20214 -
6,737,000 7T) ° 1A ¥R B8 18 £ &K
B AEED R E £2022F12 H31
B IEF & X #91,248,0003% JT (2021
FE)  AEEABERAIERETR
EREEBRENZEFREWRIR
® e BRBARERN&ER XK
R &8 o

ARREEZEBH BARLYBE
376,0003€ 7T W f& B8 & #2053@ 3]
BEREFEKRILE BRIROB
265,0003 JT A 1R B EA2058¢ £
AEREFERILE BAR Z’J?%
260,000 JT W fR 8 #§ EA2061¢

ABEAREFERIE BRNRLOAB
224,0003€ 7T #) 1R B #§ 120654 &
ASEREFEKRILE - BRIROB
300,0003€ 7T A {& & #5 1120655
AAEAREFERERBENROE
1,248,0003 JT B £ B 1§ 1R 2061F 5
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

16. Life insurance policy deposits

(continued)

There will be a specified surrender charge of
approximately US$45,000, US$34,000, US$31,000,
US$26,000, US$75,000 and US$167,000 (2021:
US$47,000, US$34,000, US$31,000, US$27,000,
US$75,000 and Nil) in accordance with each
policy respectively. The expected life of the
Policies remained unchanged from the date of
initial recognition and the directors of the Company
considered that the financial impact of the option to
terminate the Policies was not significant.

At the inception date, the upfront payments of
the Policies were separated into deposits placed
and prepayments of life insurance premium. The
deposits element was measured at costs adjusted
for interests and charges recognised for each year
and the prepayments of life insurance premium
were stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
amortisation over the insurance periods.

The Policies were pledged to a bank to secure bills
payables (note 22) and bank borrowings (note 25)
granted to the Group.

16. A\SREREw)

BESRE DRBELEREER
FEE445000% 7T * 34,000 7T °
31,000% 7T - 26,000% 7T - 75,000
% Jt & 167,000 JT (20214 : 47,000
3% JT - 34,0003 T * 31,0003 T -
27,0003 7T ~ 75,0003 T & &) - 1%
BEMEHFRAVGERB BN RS
BAE BARRESZTRAKRIRE
MEBTESEAMETE -

RABAEEY  RENENRDISFEA
ERERNASRRE - FRBEIEK
BFEIANFERBERABROKAE
AR ASRBRRENANFIEKAR
BMREHANKERAHEIR -

ZERBEDEM T —ERT - AER
AARER T RNEE (K E22) &
RTHE (M &£25) °

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F 12431H i1 F &
17. Financial assets at fair value through 17. I QXA R BEIAH b 2T

other comprehensive income mE R EE
2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo US$°000
FETT FETT
Financial assets at FVTOCI EAREBEFAEMEEK
mHEREE
— Unlisted equity securities in — REBHEBRHSHIE
the BVI, Cosmic Paramount EWRATE S - Cosmic
Limited (“Cosmic”) Paramount Limited
([Cosmic)) 6,293 6,281
The movements of unlisted equity securities are as JEETRAFZLFEHUT :
follows:
uss’ooo
FETT
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H 6,160
Change in FVTOCI EAABEFAEMEZAKEZNES 121
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 722021612 A31H k202241 H1H 6,281
Change in FVTOCI BEARBEFGAHMEEK N ) 12
At 31 December 2022 #2022%¢12AH31H 6,293
In 2020, the Group entered into (i) the conditional 20204 + AEE () EE L E 75 3
sale and purchase agreement together with the B8 Cosmic W 781IR IR D E] L BI& B
supplemental agreement with the independent EREkmrmaEWEBEE]) X
vendor in relation to the acquisition of 781 (NI EBKUHERBEHZ BTG
shares of Cosmic (the “Acquisition”) and (ii) VAR BE CosmicH)148R% I 1 (3R ER B
conditional subscription agreement together with IH]) - Y8 H18 KR EE H 1812020
the supplemental agreement to subscribe 148 F12A3B K E - AEEEH£FHE
shares of Cosmic (the “Subscription”). After the CosmicA99.07% A% & -

completion of the Acquisition and the Subscription
on 31 December 2020, the Group held in aggregate
9.07% equity interest in Cosmic.

1 84 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

17. Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income (continued)

The considerations of the Acquisition and the
Subscription were settled by the issuance of
promissory notes with an aggregate principal
amount of approximately HK$49,955,000
(equivalent to approximately US$6,446,000) at
the fair value of approximately HK$47,737,000
(equivalent to approximately US$6,160,000) on 31
December 2020, which was, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, approximated to the fair
value of the equity interest in Cosmic measured by
the independent valuation expert. The promissory
notes were early redeemed in full during the year
ended 31 December 2021. During the year ended
31 December 2021, imputed interest on promissory
note of approximately US$286,000 (note 7) and a
loss on early redemption of the promissory notes of
approximately US$36,000 (note 8) were recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss.

The above unlisted equity securities are designated
as financial assets at FVTOCI (non-recycling) as the
investment is held for long-term strategic purposes.
Cosmic, through its operating subsidiary which is
incorporated in Hong Kong, is principally engaged
in one-stop supply chain financial platform, which
provide global supply chain services, booking
online by clicking one button.

The details of the fair value measurement as at 31
December 2022 are set out in note 32.

No dividends were received from this investment
during the year (2021: Nil).

17. AR BEFARBET I

HHERMEE®

WEEELERBESENREZERE
NAEN2020F 12 A1 AR EBED
47,737,000/ 7T (18 & M #96,160,000
ET) BITAE B 449,955,000/ 7T
(FE N 46,446,000/ JT) & H =
B MARREEREEEAAAEE
Hi Y8 7 (A EE R FTET 2 /7 Cosmic
HIREARBERS - RAEBRRE
FE2021F12A31H L FEEBEIRER
fEO - #£2021%F12A31HILFE -
#1286,000€ TTHI A X ZEEHE R B
(Bt 55 7) & #936,0003 JT #y 7% 5, Z &
RATELOEXLX(MEFS)EELAEZR
PR o

FHFLETRAZBLFREEAER
AEEAAEME2ERENEREE
(T~Aj&lE) REAZKREARBER
HIBBE Y - CosmicEBERE B
AR 2 ENBRAR EENE—
AR EESR TS  ZFeRER
R R - A fEEZ—RTEE] o

N2022F 12 A31B 2 AR BE B
BER K 5E32 o

F AR B a% TR AR B WER A B (2021
FE) e

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H

185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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18. Inventories 18. & &
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$°000 US$'000
FETT FZET
Finished goods 24 FX oo 20,062 14,359

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
certain inventories with original cost amounting to
approximately US$27,000 (2021: US$72,000) were
written-off (note 8).

19. Trade and bills receivables

H E2022F12A31H IEFFE - &R R
BX 7N 51 & 49 427,000 7T (20214 -
72,000% 7o) M & T 17 & M sH (KT 3%

8) °

19. ESEKRIER BWRR

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FETT
Trade receivables, gross BN FRIA LT 21,200 37,465

Less: allowance for ECL on trade B E 5B RBEFEHEZEE
receivables BEEE (939) (483)
Trade receivables, net (note a) B 5 EWRIBFRE(fita) 20,261 36,982
Bills receivables (note b) FEWE 15 (it b) 3,838 653
24,099 37,635

Notes: K it

(a) The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period granted
is based on the historical trading and payment records
of each customer, generally not more than four months
(2021: not more than four months). Extended credit terms
may be granted for some major long-term customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are
non-interest bearing and the Group does not hold any
collateral in relation to these receivables.
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

19. BESBARIEREWER

19. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group entered into two receivable purchase arrangements
(the “Arrangements”) with two commercial banks in
Hong Kong to discount certain trade receivables with full
recourse to the banks. At 31 December 2022, the Group
discounted trade receivables with a carrying amount of
approximately US$3,837,000 (2021: US$17,500,000).
Under the Arrangements, the Group may be required
to reimburse the banks for loss of interest if the trade
debtor has late payment up to 180 days. The details of
interest are set out in note 25(b) to these consolidated
financial statements. The Group was therefore exposed to
the risks of credit losses and late payment in respect of
the discounted debts. In the opinion of the directors, the
discounting transactions did not meet the requirements
in HKFRS 9 for derecognition of financial assets as the
Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards of
ownership of the discounted trade debts, which include
default risks relating to such discounted trade receivables,
and accordingly, it continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of approximately US$3,837,000 (2021:
US$17,500,000) of the discounted trade receivables.

The proceeds of the discounting arrangement were
included in bank borrowings as asset-backed financing
until the trade debts were collected or the Group settled
any losses suffered by the banks. At 31 December
2022, the asset-backed financial liabilities amounted to
approximately US$3,240,000 (2021: US$14,186,000) (note
25(b)).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of ECL
allowances, based on the past due dates, is as follows:

(&)

Hrat: (&)

(a)

(%)

H E2022F K 2021F12 A31B ILFE -
AEBEBEESMEABERITITLIMNE
R REEE L (&R UEE
FTEZERREGR THRTESR
BB R - N2022F12A31H  AEE
% BR T (B 49 /53,837,000 7T (20214F :
17,500,000% 7T) M B 5 B WG IB LR -
BEZZHE MESEBABHARE
E180K  AEE AR ARF B EIEW
BIRTT - FEBFHBHRNZERETIBR
KW sE25(b) © FM - ANEE A
MEEENEEEBRRASMGRER -
BEERE MBRRXGUAFALERY
BHREEIDFIFABRIEERES R
BEEMNRT RERARNSEDREBIR
ZEoEKHEAERNB R E R KB H
(PRERZEUHFEZEZIRUREBEBEEN
BHRK) FAit HEEERLEZ
2 FE W 3k TE /) & & AR M {8 493,837,000
% 7T (20214 : 17,500,000 7T) ©

BTN ERERREELHRE
AER EEESEKEREBERASE
EEERTASSINEMBEASL - ©
2022%F12A31H ' BEZRFERMAREY
73,240,000 7T (20214 : 14,186,000
% o) (Mf 5E25(b)) °

RBE B EMEE SRR FIRGNGR A
HEEBRBER)NERESITMOT :

2022 2021

2022% 20214

uss’ooo US$'000

FEIT FET

Neither past due nor impaired K@ BRI KR E 19,725 33,042
1-30 days past due @ HI1Z= 30K 229 653
31-90 days past due #HI31E 90K 262 2,384
91-120 days past due #HI91Z=120K — —
More than 120 days past due 1 HA H8 1120 K 45 903
20,261 36,982

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables are set out in note 32.

EHEWF AR EREERETGFE
BRI EE32 -
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

19. E5 FEW SR IE & FE W SR 4%

19. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)  (continued)

The movements in allowances for ECL on trade

(%&)
Hrat: (&)

(@) (&)

BHRWFRAREEBEREEZE I

receivables are as follows: D
2022 2021
20224 20214
Uss’000 US$'000
FE T FET
At 1 January R1A1H 483 394

Allowances for ECL recognised to the REGEERBERNEREE

consolidated profit or loss EiEEE 465 89
Exchange realignment b 3= 9) —
At 31 December ~12 H31H 939 483

Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of
ECL allowance, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

RBEHRBHMMERNEBE SR WA
(MR FEHEEBERER) N RE ST
T

2022 2021
20224 20214

Uss$’000 Us$°000

FE T FET

1 to 30 days 1230k 12,888 16,525
31 to 90 days 31E90K 6,734 17,359
91 to 120 days 91Z=120Kk 391 1,691
Over 120 days B iB120K 248 1,407
20,261 36,982

(b)

As at 31 December 2022, certain bills receivable with
carrying amount of approximately US$3,644,000 (2021:
US$357,000) were transferred to a bank by discounting
the bills receivable on a full recourse basis. Under
these arrangements, the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivable. The Group therefore continues to recognise
the transferred assets in their entirety in its consolidated
statement of financial position and measuring them at
amortised cost. The bills receivable and the borrowings on
discounted bills with recourse will be derecognised when
the bank received settlement from the customers. On
derecognition of bills receivables, the difference between
their carrying amounts and the cash received by the bank
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss (note 25(d)).
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FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

19. E5 FEW SR IE & FE W SR 4%

19. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

(continued)

Ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivables, based
on the bills receipt dates as at each reporting date is as
follows:

(&)

Hrat: (&)

(b)

(&)

REBEZREBHAER S HRE R
AEBERZEENRESTET

2022 2021
20224 20214

Uss$’000 US$°000

FET FET

1 to 30 days 1230K 398 363
31 to 90 days 31E90k 2,898 163
91 to 120 days 91E 120K 341 —
121 to 180 days HBiB120K 201 127
3,838 653

20. Prepayments, deposits and other

20. At RIE - #ERHEbEW

receivables QL]
2022 2021
2022 20214
Us$’000 US$°’000
FET FET
Prepayments (note (a)) BT R IB (M it (a) 2,141 1,376
Accrued purchase rebates (note (b)) FEEHIEE B0 (K7 7# (b)) 2,511 4,200
Rental and utilities deposits MeEkr AEEEES 95 671
Other receivables B e W 3k I8 856 223
5,603 6,470

Notes: B &t -

(a)

(b)

At 31 December 2022, the balance included amount
of approximately US$2,035,000 (2021: US$1,367,000)
related to prepayments to the suppliers for the
procurement of inventories, which would be utilised as
cost of inventories incurred within the next financial year.
The remaining balance of prepayment at the end of the
year were paid for administrative expense such as staff
insurance, rental and management fees, etc. (2021:
same).

The accrued purchase rebates primarily represented the
estimated outstanding amounts for the purchase rebates
under the ship and debit arrangements as disclosed in
note 4. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the accrued purchase rebate would be net off the
trade payables of the suppliers when eventually confirmed
the purchase rebate within the next financial year.

(a)

(b)

R2022F12A318 © £#BIEARER
& 1 T8 4 FE R A & B 492,035,0003%
7T (20214 : 1,367,000% 7T) * #AET
—MREFETERAE - FREMNKIEN
FHpEHERIATHRAI(WE IR
B HeRERESE)(2021F  #8R) °

J& 5T R BB @ 41 = 22 45 5t MY X4 P B 55 A
EfERBE THREQM A5 REE
RIE - ARBEERREFRBEONS
A B W HE RN — B R X A BR B [ 3 B
MR ENEERES A -
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GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

21. Pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents

21. CHHBRTERURRAE R
IREEEY

2022 2021

20224 20214

Us$’000 US$'000

FETT FET

Pledged bank deposits (note a) B R R IT 177 K (A7 2 (a)) 902 1,245
Cash and cash equivalents (note b) BRE&RIRESEEBY

(H & (b)) 2,343 7,670

Notes:

(a)

(b)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank deposits
of approximately US$902,000 (2021: US$1,245,000),
carrying interest rate range from 0.01% to 4.01% (2021:
0.01% to 1.50%) per annum was pledged to secure the
bills payables (note 22) and bank borrowings (note 25).

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at banks and
on hand. Bank balances carry interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

Included in bank balances, there was approximately
US$1,119,000 (2021: US$1,618,000) denominated in RMB
and deposited with banks in the PRC as at 31 December
2022, RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations in the PRC, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents are set out
in note 32.
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o it

(a)

(b)

2022412 A31H » 7& £ @ 47902,000
% 7T (20214 : 1,245,000 J©) # 8% 17
TR REFHNENTFT001%E401%
(20214 : 0.01% E=1.50%) * & # & 48 A
AENERE (HiEe2) RIB1TR H SR
(Pff 5E25) 1EHE R -

RekReEBMERTERARTFER
T o |RIOTERRBEEHRITHERMN TR
FERN RS - RITEBKRTFRN IR
BEHRDENEERFNRGT -

MN2022F12 8318 » | 1T & 8 B 4
1,119,0003< 7T (20214 : 1,618,0003 )
DARBEABETFTHRAFEMNIET - A
REBEAAEALBKEMER  BRE
FERCHINEZSEIEG) (LBEE - EE
ENEEBRE) NEEBJLEES
BREREIINEEBENRITEAREL R
BHMEE .

EEFRTERINRNERERECEE
W) 8 RE FF 1S A BB M RE32 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

22. Trade and bills payables

FEMBRRME

2. BHEMNRIEREMNERE

2022 2021
20224 20214

Us$°000 US$'000

FETT FZET

Trade payables g5’ RIE 7,055 9,019
Bills payables e R & 11,061 14,269
18,116 23,288

Ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice
dates, as at the end of reporting period is shown as

REZZAPAERBESHRESE

R IR H R AT IR T AR

follow:
2022 2021
20225 20214
Uss$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
1 to 30 days 1230k 4,491 6,777
31 to 90 days 31£90X 2,523 2,227
91 to 120 days 91E120K 36 —
Over 120 days B iB120K 5 15
7,055 9,019

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, all bills payables
were secured by an assignment over the Group’s
life insurance policies (note 16) and pledged bank

deposits (note 21).

R2022F K 202112 H318 * FTEHY
ENEEYHEEAEBASRE
(KF3E16) R B IRR 1T F R (KT E21)

TR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # £2022F 12431H i1 F &
23. Accruals, contract liabilities and 23.[E5tEH - S EERHEM

other payables FE {3+ #X 16
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$°'000
FETT FZET
Accruals st E 553 576
Contract liabilities amaE 729 523
Other payables H At JE < 518 334 555
1,616 1,654

EHBBERAFTREFPREHER(SE
R ET (BICE m ME T T i85 & W 4P
E—RE)MBAKNBEHORR - 508
BB IREBEAEBBRETFHE

Contract liabilities represents billings in advance
of performance in regarding the provision of
customised reference designs which are bundled
together with the sales of ICs products and

electronic components as a package for the new
customers. The amount of contract liabilities is
negotiated on a case by case basis with customers

and the movement is set out below:

mE - SBEHINWT

Movements in contract liabilities is as follows: BHEEEFHWT
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FETT
At 1 January MK1A1H 523 480
Increase of contract liabilities from B P A X &E# N
customers 22,749 15,273
Decrease in contract liabilities as FABRBRAEXKENERE
a result of recognising revenue VR
during the year (22,503) (15,192)
Refund to customers EEISEEEN — (45)
Exchange realignment B 5, 58 B (40) 7
At 31 December K12 H31H 729 523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

2. HEEE

24. Leases liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities

are as follows:

AEEHERENREENT:

Present Present
value of value of
minimum Minimum minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease
payment payment payment payment
as at as at as at as at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2022 2021 2021
R2022% R2022% R20215E R20215E
12R31B &K 12ABRE 12A31B&E  12A31B&KE
HEMRBE HEMR HERFRE REFR
Uss000 Uss000 us$000 us$000
FET FET FET FET
Leases liabilities payable: ERESEAE:
Within 1 year 1ER 381 392 251 263
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ 1F % {B2FR 108 109 160 164
489 501 411 427
Less: Total future interest BoARFERA B
expenses (12) (16)
Present value of lease liabilites M EBERE 489 411
Analysed into: A
Current portion neHs 381 251
Non-current portion eI 108 160
489 411
Analysed by: AR
Leasehold properties HENE 489 411

ERARHEEENEEERFENT
F2.86% £4.90% (20214F : 4.62%

F£4.90%) 2@ °

The incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities were range from 2.86% to 4.90% (2021:
4.62% to 4.90%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

24. Leases liabilities (continued) 20 HEERB W)
The amounts recognised in consolidated profit or RGFEETERANEEHEHE N
loss in relation to leases are as follows: ™
2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’ooo USs$'000
FETT FET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) HEBBER B (H7£7) 24 19
Depreciation on right-of-use assets f AEEENTE
(note 13) (K7 7%13) 407 418
Total amounts recognised in REFEIERBERERE
consolidated profit or loss 431 437
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

FEVBHRRME

25. Bank and other borrowings 25. sR 1T R H fth & =X
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FE T FET
Bank borrowings — secured RITER — BHER
(notes (a) and (b)) (#1 it (a) % (b)) 5,102 14,430
Other borrowings Hfth f§ ;X — MR
— unsecured (note (c)) (H i (c)) 2,360 2,360
Discounted bills with recourse AERBREER — AR
— secured (note (d)) (K1 i (d)) 3,644 357
11,106 17,147
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as AEBMERRERRDOT :
follows:
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 7,026 17,147
Fixed-rate borrowings E BB K 4,080 —
11,106 17,147
Notes: K&t -
(@) As at 31 December 2022, several bank borrowings with (a) F2022912A31H © Bk ™ B 456,000

carrying amounts of approximately US$56,000 and
US$86,000 (2021: US$19,000, US$28,000, US$86,000
and US$111,000), which were secured by an assignment
over the Policies (note 16) and pledged bank deposits
(note 21). Interest rates were variable and charged in the
range from 1.58% to 5.88% (2021: from 1.38% to 2.73%)
per annum during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
borrowings were repayable by monthly installments and
due on November 2024 and April 2026 (2021: January
2022, June 2022, November 2024 and April 2026),
respectively, the amounts were classified as current
liabilities due to the borrowings contain a repayable on
demand clause.

% Jt K%86,000%% 7t (20214 : 19,000
% JT - 28,0003% JT * 86,000% T &
111,000 7T ) 89 & T R 17 & 7k /3 88 :E (R
B (MsE16) R B EM R 1717 3 (M 5£21)
BRI o B = 2022F 128310 IEFEH
FE R EI N F1.58% £=5.88% (2021
F:1.38%%273%) - R ARADH
B8 DRI N2024F11 8 % 202654
A (20214 : 2022418 + 202246 A -
2024F11 A 2026F48) BIH - @A E
HEEBIREREENER  HEER
BB ARBARG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

25. Bank and other borrowings (continued)

Notes. (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
obtained three loans from commercial banks which one
of the loans amounting to RMB3,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$430,000) was unsecured with
fixed interest rates of 5.20% per annum and repayable
in August 2023, while the other two loans amounting
to RMB6,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$860,000 and US$430,000) which were
guaranteed by Shanghai Administration Center of Policy
Financing Guarantee Funds for Small and Medium-sized
Enterprises and a director of Shanghai IH and his spouse
with fixed interest rates of 3.35% and 3.35% per annum
and repayable in September 2023 and October 2023,
respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the balance included a bank
borrowing amounted to approximately US$89,000 had
been directly deposited to the Inland Revenue Department
by the bank during the year ended 31 December 2021
and details of non-cash transaction are set out in note
33(a).

As mentioned in note 19, the Group entered into the
Arrangements with the banks to discount certain trade
receivables with full recourse to the banks. As at 31
December 2022, the corresponding bank borrowings
amounted to approximately US$3,240,000 (2021:
US$14,186,000), which were secured by an assignment
over the Policies (note 16) and pledged bank deposits
(note 21).

One of the bank facilities provides US$ financing with
interest charged at 2% per annum over Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) (2021: 2% per annum over the
higher of (i) London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and
(i) the cost of fund of a bank).

Another bank facility provides 1) US$ financing with
interest charged at 2.16% per annum over SOFR (2021:
2% per annum over 3-month LIBOR); and 2) HK$
financing with interest charged at 2% per annum over
3-month HIBOR (2021: 2% per annum over 3-month
HIBOR).

As at 31 December 2022, the other borrowings amounted
to approximately US$2,360,000 (2021: US$2,360,000)
were unsecured with fixed monthly interest charged at
1.5% (2021: variable monthly interest charged at 0.5% to
2.0%) and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2022, all borrowings from discounted
bills with recourse with carrying amount of approximately
US$3,644,000 (2021: US$357,000) with variable interest
charged in the range from 1.4% to 2.8% (2021: from 2.5%
to 2.8%) per annum as at 31 December 2022 (note 19).
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25. fRIT R HEMER @
Krat: (&)

(a)

H E2022F12A31B EFEE - A &
REERTEBS=ZSFSEF HP %
B &% A A R #¥3,000000T (B E R 4L
430,000% ) EEMHEREEFN X AT
£520% * AR2023E8AEE -T2
INREE D Bl A ARKB6,000,0007T &
A R #3,000,0007T (48 & 7 49860,000
% o0 430,000 L) * ;A EBHR/NDE
BREEMELERESERPOLL EBHR
E—REERHEEBGER BEAMXRA
F43.35%K%3.35% * 7RI H20234F9 A
K 2023F10AE & -

MR2021F12A318 £ B IERE =
2021F12A31H L FERBTEEGFE
P IE BRI IR 1T fE X 489,000E 7T * &
RS R HF BN K E33() °

NS FE19FT E - AN & B R T E] 3L
HOUBETEZEURFEME WY
RITEE ML R - R2022F12H31
H - 18 & /Y R 17 15 5K 49 /43,240,000
70 (20214F : 14,186,000 JT) ' % X 1B
HEZERE(HE16) REHMEITER
(Bt 3E21) EHE AR -

Hp—BEBETHEREZTISHE  FE
EERBRBMENE ((BRREMEN
E|)WEFNR2% (20214 : & (i) fa R
TREFRENE ((ABBITRERFER
ZDEHBTHEERAURSES
) By FI R 2%) YL ER o

S—HEBTHERHENETHE - K3E
AERBRBENENFFEE216%
(20214 : 318 A B R 1T R ZE A7 5 F
RHFEFEAE2%)  R2)BLHE - &3
&8 A8 & B RIT R G A R 8 F F =
A2% (20214F - #Z3M AW B B R ITH
E¥REMNENFEFNERE2%) -

R2021F12A31H » & b £ & & &
2,360,000% 7T (20214 : 2,360,000
L) AEERE - SAEER EIE15%
(20214 : § AFBF E1&0.5%E2.0%)
IRER - BIRERKIEK o

R2022F12A31H » AT B R IR E &
B T & 2R BR M (E 4 43,644,000 7T
(20214 : 357,0003% Jr) *© M2022412
AB1B AT ERHZE B FREN F1.4%E
2.8% (20214 : 2.5% % 2.8% ) Mt 5£19) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

25. Bank and other borrowings (continued) 25. 3R 1T R H fih 18 & ()

As at 31 December 2022, a bank borrowing of R2022F12A31H + #187,000% JT
approximately US$87,000 (2021: US$142,000) was (20214 : 142,000% JT) K iR 1T f& X
not scheduled to be repaid within one year but were WAFER—FANEE MOBEAER
classified as current liabilities as the related loan PHAE DHREEEXRBZEES4H
agreement contain clauses that provide the lender TERARNBREREKREZRER
with an unconditional right to demand repayment at BRI B IR - B EmZIRITERIE
any time at its own discretion. None of the portion R—FUREEFRNIE S (BEREXK
of the bank borrowing due for repayment after BRERESEIERBEE) EH
one year, which contains a repayment on demand BR—FRNEE -

clause and that is classified as a current liability,
was expected to be settled within one year.

At end of the financial year, bank borrowings were R BFEER - RITEROETEER
scheduled to repay, including those subject to a HE(BEXBRRERERKEFRER
repayable on demand clause, as follows: BT
2022 2021
20225 20214
Uss’o0oo US$'000
FE T FZET
Within one year —F LR 5,015 14,288
More than one year, but not ZHR—FETHBBWE
exceeding two years 53 55
More than two years, but not ZRMFETEBRSF
exceeding five years 34 87
5,102 14,430
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

26. EXEBIEEE
EREERBEAENEHWT

26. Deferred tax assets

The movements in deferred tax assets during the
year are as follows:

ECL on
trade
receivables Tax losses Total
BEoSREK
MRIEFEH
EEKE BIEEE &5
Uss$’000 Us$’000 Us$°’000
FETT FETT FET
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1H1H 56 — 56
Deferred tax credited to the FT AL A B mAE T
consolidated profit or loss & 38 (#fi10)
(note 10) 88 — &8
At 31 December 2021 and  #2021F12 8318 &
1 January 2022 2022%F1H1H 89 — 89
Deferred tax credited to the FF AL A B =B IE T
consolidated profit or loss I8 (#17%10)
(note 10) 77 517 594
Exchange realignment E 5 3% (3) — (3)
At 31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 163 517 680

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s Hong Kong
subsidiaries have aggregated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$24,296,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$3,135,000) (2021: Nil) available
for offsetting against future assessable profits
sourced in Hong Kong. Based on the business plan
of the Group, the management of the Company
expects that those Hong Kong subsidiaries will
generate sufficient future assessable profits to
utilise against the tax losses. The corresponding
deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax
losses of approximately US$517,000 (2021: Nil) were
provided as at 31 December 2022. Such unused
tax may be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, 10% withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned from 1 January 2008 wards on to
non-PRC tax resident investors for the companies
established in the PRC. For qualified investors
incorporated in Hong Kong, a treaty rate of 5% will
be applicable.
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R2022F12A31H *+ & & BB
MEBAREZA AHAHEEEDY
24,296,000/ 7T (A8 & R #93,135,000
E)(2021F - |)AIHEIREE BN
RARRERBE RN - BRIBAEBE A
atdEl ARFIBEIEEBENZES A
B AR ASELE R WA R IKER
i M) DA K 85 X I8 B5 18 o 1R 2022412
A31H  ® 4517,0003% JT (20214 :
EINABANIBEEBHREERLT
HMEBEEE ZEAHARBAUER

BIEFBRSEMEHE - 5 1K2008
F1AB R 2% REUAEF R AR
YRR ZIEFBEBBEERIEES
TR BIE T RI0% A T FBIOR o 5
NEBETMK LA EREESRM
S BEBASYHREREK -



26.

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, temporary withholding
tax differences relating to the undistributed profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to approximately
US$2,736,000 (2021: US$2,447,000). Deferred tax
liabilities amounted to approximately US$137,000
(2021: US$131,000) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained earnings as the
Company is in a position to control the dividend
policy of the PRC subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that undistributed
profits of the PRC subsidiaries will not be distributed
in the foreseeable future.

6. EEHRIEBEEE»)

MR2022F12A831H B @ K B
N AR A DR m A R TR AR
= %8 B 492,736,000 JT (20214 :
2,447,000 JT) ° R AR B B 15 3%
ZHEWNBRARMNBRERR REE
EFRBME AR 25K @ AEE
AETERABARKRADIR @ &
I Bt DR E RSB &M AN
B9 B4 T8 HE 3R #49137,000 3 7T (20214F -
131,000 ) MBELEHIBEEE -

Share capital 27. ik &
Number of
ordinary
shares Share capital
LiERHE B% &
Us$’000
FETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each & §%0.01# jT &Y & & i%
Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 20211818 + 20215
2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 12A31H * 20221818
December 2022 K 20225%F12A31H 2,000,000,000 2,579
Issued and fully paid: EZFTRTZEHBE -
At 1 January 2021, 31 December ~ R2021F1A18 ~ 2021412
2021 and 1 January 2022 A31H Kk 202241A41H 800,000,000 1,032
Issuance of shares upon the Rights Bt I% 18 BT 35 17 B9 BX 10
Issue (note) (B17) 298,122,380 385
At 31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 1,098,122,380 1,417

Note:

On 14 November 2022, the Company proposed rights issue on
the basis of two rights shares for every five existing shares held
on 28 November 2022 (the “Rights Issue”), at the subscription
price of HK$0.063 per rights share.

1K2022F11 8148 + A 7 i 7% & KR 20224F
11A288 B #H A A KRIE B KD AT 2 f A% 4
BB ([HE MR |) = 22 A SR 4 B A% 19 0.063
ELH R BT AR o

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

27.

28.

Share capital (continueq)

Note:

On 28 December 2022, the Rights Issue was completed and
298,122,380 ordinary shares were issued. The net proceeds
after deducting the related expenses of approximately
HK$1,022,000 (equivalent to approximately US$132,000),
amounted to approximately HK$17,760,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$2,292,000). Accordingly, the Company’s
share capital increased by approximately HK$2,981,000
(equivalent to approximately US$385,000) and the remaining
balance of the net proceeds of approximately HK$14,779,000
(equivalent to approximately US$1,907,000) was credited to the
share premium account.

Details of the transaction was disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 28 November 2022 and announcements of the
Company dated 14 November 2022, 14 December 2022 and 23
December 2022 respectively.

Reserves

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserve
are as set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(i) Share premium

Share premium includes the premium arising
from issue of shares of the Company at a
premium. Under the Companies Law (revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum or Article of Associations
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividends, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in ordinary
course of business.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI held at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy in note
3(g) to the consolidated financial statements.
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27.

28.

. D)

M2022F12 28R + # I’ B 5= AKX I % 17
208122380 L @R - MK B BEH X4
1,022,000 7t (#8 & M #9132,000% T) % -
Ffr 15 3% TB % 58 #9 /17,760,000 7T (A& R 4
2,292,000% 7T) ° A Ik + AR A fR A 3 H0 4
2,981,000/ 7t (8 E M 47385,0005 L) * MAT
15 TR IEF R AR FA 4914,779,00058 T (MEE R A
1,907,000 L) E st AR B R EER ©

REGFBRARBIHH B2022F11 A28 H M1
BEZERAARBES B A2022F11 5148 -
2022412 148 K& 2022F12 A238 KW A &

ot
AEEFEZHIEDAMEAE
HHHRAHIE -

(i) B@iaE

B EEBREREEERITART
BOEERNGE - RERSHES
NENVE (I E]) E22E + NAF]
B 19 3% (B Al E & 2 R sk iR B S+
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

28. Reserves (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Other reserve

Other reserve includes capital injection from
shareholders of Mr. Qing and Mr. Lam and
the family member of Mr. Qing before listing
and the amount of bargain purchase arising
from acquisition of Shanghai IH and Chengdu
Flyring.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries
and the aggregate amount of issued share
capital of subsidiaries acquired in the group
reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries registered
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10%
of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses) determined
in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the PRC to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of
the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity
registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital, provided the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve is not less than 25% of registered
capital.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 3(j).

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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29. Particulars of subsidiaries of the

Company

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

29. XA T KM EBAE

RBEPRR - XRARNMBRARFE

-

Percentage of ownership

Place of Particulars of interest held by the share
incorporation and issued and fully paid-up capital/Company asat  Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity  registered capital 31 December place of operation
ERBIBER EETRESARRR R2RA3BRE /T4
ARER EREREY BXEE REAGRRLEN IEXBEDRERLE
2022 2021
20226 1%
Directly held
EERF
Contel (BVI) Limited The BVI, limited 10 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company US$10
EBAARES W0R10£ TH &R REZR
ARRE
Indirectly held
REHE
Flyring Electronics Limited Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic

REETARLA

IH Technology Limited

ZENBARAT

Shenzhen IH

Shanghai IH

8:3:%

Chengdu Flyring

RARR

liabilities company
% BRAR

Hong Kong, limited
liabilities company

B BROA

The PRC, limited
liabilities company

hE - BRAH

The PRC, wholly
foreign-owned
limited liabilities
company

RE - N EBERRLA

The PRC, limited
liabilities company

T8 ARAH
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RERR

11 ordinary shares

NEEER

Registered capital of
RMB2,000,000
AE#2,000,0007 £

A Ex

Registered capital of
RMB2,000,000

AR #2,000,0007 5 8
gx

Registered capital of
RMB6,000,000

AR%6,000,0007c 0 3 ff
-y

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

components in Hong Kong and the
PRC
RERRPEHEICERRET TH

Sales of ICs products and electronic
components in Hong Kong and the
PRC

RERRPEHEICERRET Ll

Sales of ICs products and electronic
components in the PRC
RABHECERREF LY

Sales of ICs products and electronic
components in the PRC

REEHECERREF LN

Sales of ICs products and electronic
components in the PRC
ReRHECERREF LY
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29. Particulars of subsidiaries of the 29. X AT MIB AT @
Company (continued)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of ﬁ/\\\iﬁ%/ﬁﬂj{ P ARAIR M E AR S
the reporting period are as follows: (continued) s (8)

Percentage of ownership

Place of Particulars of interest held by the share
incorporation and issued and fully paid-up capital/Company asat  Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity ~ registered capital 31 December place of operation
HRRILER EETREHRRR R2ABRE/FAF
AT &R ERERRL X RERAREGENN EXBEDREZNY
2022 2021

2022% 20015

Contel Technology (H.K.) Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company
BRENR(EE)ARAT % BRAA 1RE R REER
IH Technology (BVI) Limited (notg) The BVI, limited 10 ordinary shares of 100% —  Investment holding
liabilities company US$10
IH Technology (BVI) Limited (47 EBEARES 0R10ETHEER REBK
ARAF
Contel Technology Pte. Ltd. (nofe) The Republic of 10 ordinary shares of 100% —  Inactive
Singapore, limited Singapore dollars 10
liabilities company
Contel Technology Pte. Lid. (4/2) FgLAE 10/ 105 3 A & 8 R TER
ARAF
Note: These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year Biat ZEMB AR RE Z2022F12A318 1k
ended 31 December 2022, FEFMB L -
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt H E2022F 202112 A318 © B
securities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. NEMEZRTEMNEBEI S °
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30. Related party transactions 30. FAEE A X5
(a) No other related party transactions were (a) BREZEVBIREREMIDFTHEE
occurred during the year except elsewhere NEXFrass - FRMMmELEHR
disclosed in the consolidated financial ftb B8 B5 77 32 5 (20214F < &) o

statements and as mentioned below (2021: Nil).

(b) The Group had the following balances with (b) "EEFA@EB FEREOT
related parties during the year:
2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Amounts due from related JE s 8 Bt 2 B 5RIR
companies (notes (i) and (i) (1 5F (i) % (ii) 26 26
Notes: M &t -
(i) P Grand and Kingtech are the related companies (i) P Grand&Kingtech® 5l &M%k £
controlled by Mr. Lam and Mr. Qing, respectively. FREEZEHOBE AT - HE
The maximum amount outstanding during the year 2022F12A31HIEFE &R e K&
ended 31 December 2022 was approximately B FIE 49 526,0003% 7T (20214F -
US$26,000 (2021: US$26,000). 26,0002 7T)
(i)  The amounts due were unsecured, non-interest (i) EAFEBEEHR . FHE KA
bearing and repayable on demand. BIREREE -
(c) Compensation of key management (c) EEEE NSRRI
personnel
The details of the remuneration paid to the key FASZNGEEEETE A B KR
management personnel during the year are set EAE N

out in note 9.
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31. £ T EANE

REREPRR SHEeM T ENE®
(=R NE

31. Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of each reporting
period are as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
uss’o00o0 US$'000
FETT FET
Financial assets SHMEE
At FVTOCI: BAABETFAREMEER
g 6,293 6,281
At amortised cost: WK
Trade and bills receivables B 5 FRIE K EWEE 24,099 37,635
Deposits and other receivables e R HAMEWKIE 951 894
Amounts due from related parties & Uk B8 Bt 75 238 26 26
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITER 902 1,245
Cash and cash equivalents RekREZFEY 2,343 7,670
28,321 47,470
34,614 53,751
Financial liabilities SHMER
At amortised cost: 2 S RS
Trade and bills payables B REMNRIEREMNEE 18,116 23,288
Accruals and other payables FE&t & R & H b & 5KIE 887 1,131
Lease liabilities ME&E 489 411
Bank and other borrowings MITRHAMER 11,106 17,147
30,598 41,977

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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32. Financial risk management and fair 2. UHFEMERBRAAEES
value measurement =

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills payables, accruals and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings.
These financial instruments mainly arise from its
operations. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments approximated to their fair values as
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
estimates are made at a specific point in time and
are based on relevant market information about the
financial instruments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. As the Group’s
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the
Group has not used any derivatives and other
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of the directors of the
Company reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
variable rates expose the Group to interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk mainly
arises from bank and other borrowings which bear
floating interest rate. The Group has not used any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the management of the Company
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform

As disclosed in note 25(b), several of the Group’s
LIBOR bank loans were undertaken interest rate
benchmark reform during the year ended 31
December 2022, one of its bank facilities with the
benchmark of LIBOR changed to HIBOR and the
other one changed to applicable reference rate (e.g.
SOFR is the benchmark rate of US$).

LIBOR

The Financial Conduct Authority has confirmed all
LIBOR settings will either cease to be provided by
any administrator or no longer be representative:

° immediately after 31 December 2021, in the
case of all sterling, euro, Swiss franc and
Japanese yen settings, and the 1-week and
2-month US dollar settings; and

o immediately after 30 June 2023, in the case of
the remaining US dollar settings.

HIBOR

While the HK$ Overnight Index Average (“HONIA”)
has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong
Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform

For contracts which have not been transitioned to
the relevant alternative benchmark rates and without
detailed fallback clauses, if the bilateral negotiations
with the Group’s counterparties are not successfully
concluded before the cessation of LIBORs, there
are significant uncertainties with regard to the
interest rate that would apply. This gives rise to
additional interest rate risk that was not anticipated
when the contracts were entered into.

2. MBEBEEERARBES

BE ()
FIERERE®
FIEEENE

a0 M 3E25(b) BT % B8 Bl £ 2022412
A31BILEFE AEEHIEMBMIEIT
EZEFMEFERBITER M RESTH =
EERE B —JHUBHRITRZE
FEMEAEEENRITHREEE A
EBRTAERENE  S—BEFE
RERA2ER(NERRRREF X
RBETEEFEK) .

o S8R 77 A 2 IR AEF)F

TRMITREERE®R  MARIR
TRXFENEXRERTBHHEIW
EEARBIABAARRIML:

o FFIEHE - BT IWmLEABK
BEZRENKIEKR2EAETER
EME  N2021F12A31H 2 14
SADAR &

e MEHBRETKREME ' K2023
F6H30B 2 & BIER -

BB IR 7T [A E IF 18 P F

BEBTREFHEEH(THONIADE
BMEAEARTRAEFRENZNE
KRAR BERTETEREFBR
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2. MBEBEEERARBES

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued) B ()
Interest rate risk (continued) FEREE
Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark FIEBEXEELHERG &)

reform (continued)

There are fundamental differences between IBORs
and the various alternative benchmark rates.
IBORs are forward looking term rates published for
a period (e.g. 3 months) at the beginning of that
period and include an inter-bank credit spread,
whereas alternative benchmark rates are typically
risk-free overnight rates published at the end of the
overnight period with no embedded credit spread.
These differences will result in additional uncertainty
regarding floating rate interest payments.

As at 31 December 2022, all bank facilities of the
Group ceased the benchmark of LIBOR.

As at 31 December 2021, it is estimated that a
decrease in the Group’s profit after income tax by
approximately US$61,000 would be resulted in the
transition from LIBOR to HIBOR based on the bank
borrowings of the Group.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
related primarily to sales and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which they relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily RMB
and HK$. The Group does not hold or issue any
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes
or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates.

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised monetary assets or
liabilities denominated in RMB, a foreign currency
compared to the functional currency of US$ of the
entity to which they relate.
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FEVBHRRME
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32. Financial risk management and fair

2. MBEBEEERARBES

value measurement (continued) = (&)

Foreign currency risk (continued) ShEERELBE (&)
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Trade and bills receivables B RKKIEN EKRERE 9,478 8,071
Deposits and other receivables e kEMEKKE 297 212
Cash and cash equivalents BekBREeEEY 1,119 1,618
Trade and bills payables EoRMNFRERENRE (868) (1,305)
Accruals and other payables FERT & R & H b & 3B (681) (524)
Bank and other borrowings R 1T & B b 8 3K (5,363) (357)
3,982 7,715

At 31 December 2022, if the US$ had weakened/
strengthened 5% (2021: 5%) against the RMB
with all other variables held constant, the Group's
loss after income tax (2021: profit after income
tax) for the year would have been approximately
US$149,000 lower/higher (2021: US$289,000
higher/lower) respectively.

In the opinion of the directors, the rate of exchange
of the HK$ to the US$ is reasonably stable under
the linked exchange rate system and, accordingly,
the Group does not have any significant foreign
exchange risk arising from HK$. As a result, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

Credit risk and impairment assessment
Risk management

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily for trade and bills receivables).
The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of
the debtors’ financial condition and maintains an
account for allowance for ECL of trade and bills
receivables based upon the expected collectability
of all trade and bills receivables.

R2022F12A31H @ fMETH AR
B 18 /T 1E5% (20214 : 5%) * m Ffr
FEMEERFIILE  AEEBFAN
Fi1& B 18 (20214 : FL&FH) #5925l
B 18 N1149,000% TT (20214F - 1%
/@ 4 #9289,000% 7T) °

EZRR BLAXTEREMERE
ZHETEERE  AUAEEHE
THREBTHERNINERR - &
I & 2 5 BREE DT ©

15 & & b & i 1B 5F {
g &

EERBREEHTIEEIETER
TRITAXEFANBATHNRE M
FREMBERNER - NEBAK
XEREEH (T EREHEWFNA
FEBEBELENEERR K&
BHEBANBBERARETHERE
G - YRBMEE S ERK AR
EUWREBOTER K EERE S EW
RENERUEEREMEEBRER
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2. MBEBEEERARBES

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Risk management (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group has a certain level
of concentration of credit risk as 27% (2021. 34%)
of the gross trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customers.

The bank balances were deposited with
creditworthy banks. Bank balances of the Group
are with counter parties with sound credit ratings to
minimise credit exposures.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantee
at the end of the reporting period which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The following types of financial assets are subject to
the ECL model:

— trade and bills receivables;
— deposits and other receivables; and
— amount due from related parties.

While pledged bank deposits, and cash and cash
equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

Trade and bills receivables

The credit risk on bills receivable is limited because
the bills are guaranteed by banks for payments and
the banks are either the state-owned banks or major
banks located in the PRC with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group applies HKFRS 9 and measures ECL
based on a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.
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32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables (continued)

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for trade receivables. The estimated ECL loss
rates are estimated based on the Group’s historical
settlement experience of various groups of debtors
that have similar loss patterns and are adjusted
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
The Group has identified gross domestic product,
unemployment rate, loss-making enterprises in the
electronic product industry and producers price
index of manufactured products in Hong Kong
and the PRC to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors.

The Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors
is updated. On that basis, the loss allowance as
at reporting periods was determined as follows for
trade receivables:

2. MBEBEEERARBES

B (&)

=ERERBEEMGE)

BHMEEMREE)
ESENZ AR ERZEZE)
RAEEHREEER  BEZRWFE

ERAREERRSHAMBH XK
DM e

RNERE fE R R E RS E MR
ENEMEEER G BAHACE
BRXDENAEEZEAGRLUE
BRANBEBEANBESELR MG
At WL AT AR IR AN ES ) AR
RIEMERIFHARE - EEEEH
R AEOHE BARBEBEEBHA
MERER BRI ER - AKEDH
BRMTENETFERTENBAL
ERE KEXREBEREERTE
EmEEEYNERBERSRRE
AR E > YHERBEZFRARNTE
HEPHHBERELEBEEX -

AEBEFBEEARKYE SR
RBETHRENGE BREHEIK
RETTHEKRAEEGHKRERR
BHNEPHKERZEFEFPREAAOIK
RN AT B B R IREE ) WY 45 R 4
e BEEBEEHEMZOME  AHE
REH AR ERBKENIEBE
o EULER L RBEHWESZE
WRBERBEEREENT

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H

211
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12431H i1 F &
32. Financial risk management and fair NR.UERGEEBRAAREES

value measurement (continued) =)
Credit risk and impairment assessment 1= & 2 b B i 1B 5% 1t (&)
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) EHEEHEZ)
Trade and bills receivables (continued) EBEZEWIER EKE IR (E)
Gross Net
carrying carrying
ECL Rate amount ECL amount
EHEE &8

BREx KO8E GEBEE KEOEFE
Us$000  US$000  US$000
FET FET FET

Ageing based on the past due ZE R @ 8 H 8 2 BRI

date

As at 31 December 2022 2022%E12H31H

Neither past due nor impaired 7 7 53 =k &l (& 0.03% 19,731 (6) 19,725

1 to 30 days past due BEE30KR 1.72% 233 (4) 229

31 to 90 days past due #HIB1Z90K 2.96% 270 (8) 262

91 to 120 days past due #HI91E120K N/A — — —
AEH

Over 120 days past due B 120K 95.34% 966 (921) 45

21,200 (939) 20,261

As at 31 December 2021 R2021512 A31H

Neither past due nor impaired & # B3 5 Rl (8 0.04% 33,054 (12) 33,042

1 to 30 days past due #BH1E30K N/A 653 — 653
3@ A

31 to 90 days past due #HI31EI0K N/A 2,384 — 2,384
T iE A

91 to 120 days past due #HI91E120K N/A — — —
i A

Over 120 days past due BHEEE120K 34.28% 1,374 (471) 903

37,465 (483) 36,982

Other financial assets at amortised cost B ARG ERAEME R EE

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, REHKATENHMEREE (B

including amounts due from related parties and FRERWE T REBERES R EME

deposits and other receivables, are assessed on WHIB)MBEHEEBEZRI2EAE

12m ECL basis as there had been no significant HEEBEELEMHE  EHEREVH

increase in credit risk since initial recognition. WRARE SRR I | AEIEM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables, the management of the
Group closely monitor the follow-up action taken
to recover any receivable balances outstanding
over 180 days. In addition, the Group monitors
subsequent settlement of each of the receivables to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
in accordance with HKFRS 9 on other balances
individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on
the deposits and other receivables is immaterial.

The management of the Company performed
impairment assessment on amounts due from
related parties based on the sufficiency of
accessible highly liquid assets, or the expected
manner of recovery in the next 12 months. In
addition, equity interest of the director in the
Company is also considered. The ECL will be the
effect of discounting the expected repayments at
the loans effective interest rate over the period until
cash is realised.

On that basis, as at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the ECL of the amounts due from related parties
were immaterial.

2. MBEBEEERARBES

B (&)

=ERERBEEMGE)

=R EE R E(E)
KA 5t B A B2 BB E ()

SEAREEEZE N EMEKFIAER
FERR AEEEEEZIERK
(O] 383 HA i 38180 B #Y (T fa] & WX 45 &R AT
REHERETE - AEBENERRE
WRIBR IR B E - AL AT U B 5K
TREH TR R MR E R BB o Lo -
REEBRB(CEBM K MEER)E
IR EE B REL B H &R
FRETHER G - kM s - AR
AEESRAARERE M EMER
RENEERRBRITERX -

ARREEEREBEAESSRBUEE
E TR M AR KA21{E A A # TR 8 =
Yeos st SR R B 05 SR E 1T RUE
APl o SN MEERBZESFTNAR
AHkE - BREEERARSE
B B E R E R E R KRR A
B -

UL E® E o PR2022F K2021F12
A318 ' EWEB A RIE2EHEE
EEITEK-

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

2. MBEBEERAREBER

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued) =(5)
Liquidity risk RBELEME

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments.
Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a
financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the contractual
undiscounted payments and the earliest dates the

nBETRAREEARESRREES
mEETR T AR AERSE
BRENER - EHRARIZEIX
—ERMEEANEBENERLERX
BEISEHRBESAR

REBABRTHIRIT IR A R (B
AR EREFRNREBHEEFHED
FUTEEHMBENIHEBERNOT

creditors can demand repayment, is as follows:

Weighted Total

average  Ondemand  Over1year contractual
interest rate or within but within undiscounted Carrying
per annum 1 year 2years  cash flows amount

mEEY FHEES §
EHE BERGIERN 15RE2ERN FHERELH REE
Uss000 Usso00 Uss000 Uss000
FET FET FE£T FET

At 31 December 2022 R2022512A318
Trade payables BHEANE NATE R 7,055 - 7,055 7,055
Bills payables A ES 6.35% 11,229 - 11,229 11,061
Accruals and other payables EHERARAMERTE NATER 887 - 887 887
Lease liabilities HERRE 4.24% 392 109 501 489
Bank and other borrowings RITR BB 6.88% 11,106 - 11,106 11,106
30,669 109 30,778 30,598
At 31 December 2021 2021512431

Trade payables EHEANE NAF i A 9,019 - 9,019 9,019
Bills payables ERZE 215% 14,338 — 14,338 14,269
Accruals and other payables BABAREMENTE NATER 1,131 — 1,131 1,131
Lease liabilities HEEE 474% 263 164 427 41
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 2.19% 17,147 - 17,147 17,147
41,898 164 42,062 41,977

The table below summarises the maturity analysis
of bank and other borrowings with a repayment on
cross default clause based on agreed scheduled
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed
using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the
on demand time band in the maturity analysis
contained in the above table.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

2. MBEBEERAREBER

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued) = &)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESEARE @)

ARBEERRBITTIAAETER
K5 BRANGER - ARAES
BE - MERTEISRBEER G
e et Bl ERBHTIAER -

The directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Total
Over1year  Over2year  contractual
but within2  but within 5 undiscounted Carrying
Within 1 year years years cash flows amount

2ilE gid2F CITHRARR
1R BR2ER BRSER  SREYE REE
Usso00 Ussooo Uss000 Ussooo Ussooo
FEL FET FER FEL FER

At 31 December 2022 120225128318

Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 11,494 55 36 11,585 11,106
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R

Bank and other borrowings RTR AR 17,458 57 89 17,604 17147
Capital management EXER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders, to support
the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market
risks in the Group’s operation and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising cash and cash equivalents, share
capital and reserves.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debit.

AEBEEEANEERF EBEAN
SEREMFELE  HMFERRKRRE
REDF  IHAKEATHEER -
RN ASELEBRRETT
e 0 ZE 75 M T 45 R B O R DA B 4 5
RIENERNEBABIRERKAR -

AEENERNGEEALARAHEAANRE
HRREAEANK BERREMREFE
W AR o

RERIABELER AEExE
HERNBRROBEEE - HERR
FRUR - BITHRE L EEENR D
ER
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GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

2. MBEBEEERARBESR

32. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group actively monitors, reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be
possible with certain levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

o The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions
and traded in active markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid and ask
prices respectively.

e The notional amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities with a maturity of less than
one year (including trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts
due from the related parties, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills payables, accruals and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings)
are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The following table presents the carrying value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured
at fair value across the three levels of the fair
value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement with fair value of each financial
instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. The levels are defined as
follows:

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12 A31H I F /&

32. Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
(continued)

2. MBEBEEERARBESR

B (&)

ERMIAMAIREE®R

Level 2: fair values measured using Level 2 B FAF R\ ASEGET
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to HEeEF—R 2B A8
meet Level 1, and not using significant B)EY RERAEKRTAE
unobservable inputs. Ry ABIE -

Level 3: fair values measured using significant BE=H: FRERTAERH AH
unobservable input. BRE2 AnEE-

2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTOCI EAnBEFAEMEZEKE
R EE
— Unlisted equity investments —FELEmRERE 6,293 6,281
Financial assets at FVTOCI unlisted equity HAREBEAANRGLEKZNH 2

investments

The fair value of the Group’s investment in unlisted
equity securities held as at 31 December 2022 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by International Valuation Limited (“IVL") an
independent qualified professional valuers (2021:
Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited).

As at 31 December 2022, the financial assets at
FVTOCI is measured at fair value and is classified
as a Level 3 fair value measurement using income
approach based on the financial performance of the
investment. The discounted cash flow method was
used to capture the present value of the expected
future economic benefits to be derived from the
ownership of this investee, based on an appropriate
discount rate (2021: Same).

Discount rate, taking into account weighted average
cost of capital determined using a Capital Asset
Pricing Model, of 14.00% (2021:12.14%) was
adopted.

HMEE—FLHTRERE

7N &= B R2022F12 A318 Fr £ 0 3E
EFTRABENEEZAAEBED
BEBYEEXFEMTEETGE
AR (EREM]) BT Z2HEE
FQRo21F : A =BARTHERA
a]) e

R2022F12A31H » AR BETA
HhzmbasmMeREERAAE
EBEffE  WERKREMNTBRRER
WAEREAE=ZRARBETE -
KAEMRReREEAREBEZNIR
RO ERBIERTAEREENTER
AR 25 IR E (20214 - AHE) °

KARFEREAEECEBREAERF
R INREFEEARK A - £ AH14.00%
(20214 : 12.14%) HY BE IR K o

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

32.

33.

Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
(continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI unlisted equity
investments (continued)

Should the discount rate increase or decrease
by 5% (2021: 5%), the fair value of the financial
assets at FVTOCI would decrease or increase by
approximately US$438,000 or US$497,000 (2021:
US$399,000 or US$452,000) respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur (2021: Nil).

Cash flows information
(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately US$513,000 (2021:
US$429,000) and US$513,000 (2021:
US$429,000) respectively during the year
ended 31 December 2022 in respect of lease
arrangements for the properties (notes 13 and
24).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group had been granted a new loan facility for
the purpose of paying Hong Kong Profits Tax
in which the proceeds from bank borrowings of
approximately US$89,000 were deposited into
the Inland Revenue Department directly by the
bank.
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32.

33.
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B (&)

ERMIAMAIREE®R

BAREEFARMGLSEK G2
HMEE— FLTRERE ()

fis BY 3R =R 38 A0 5k R 5% (20214 :
5%) WARBEFAEMZEK
ENEMEES DR HIE L
438,000 JT 3%497,000% Jt (2021
% : 399,000 Jr 8(452,000% L) °

HZE2022F12A31HILFE » €@ &
ENSRABEZEREF_H 2
M EARBEFEZER  TEE
AFEHE=F 22BN - AEBKX
ARRBERELE CREHRER
AABERBNER (2021F : £) -

HeREEH
(@ EEFBREXSH

#H E2022%F128318 1E F & -
AEBRYWERELHBAF
AREEMNEEBBEZIFERS
#4195l #49513,0003€ 7t (2021
% : 429,000% Jr) &513,0003%
7T (20214F : 429,000 7)) (Mt 3%
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 & 22022F 12 H31H 1F F/&E

BIRER/EEF
(b) METFTHMELENEEEH

33. Cash flows information (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities

TR ANEBERE LB AEL
BENEH(ERAS LIRS
BE)FBE -BREFPHMELSR
BERERESRECNAREKR

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are liabilities

for which cash flows were, or future cash flows EnERRAEESZEGHRERE
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated KPDERBEZBFAFEHRSM

statement of cash flows as cash flows from EMNBE:
financing activities:
Promissory Lease Bank and other
notes liabilities borrowings
RARE HEEE BRARHMER
(note 17) (note 24) (note 25)
(Hit17) (Wit24) (W it2s)
USs$000 US$000 US$000
TE£T TET TET
At 1 January 2021 120211/ 18 6,160 429 7,103
Changes from financing cash flows: FMZEREFELH:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERAENE - - 68,928
Repayments of bank borrowings EERTER — — (58,982)
Repayments of promissory notes EERARE (6,160) — —
Repayments of interests EEFNE (322) — (1,021)
Repayments of lease liabilities — BEMERRE—T¢
principal — (454) —
Repayments of lease liabilities — interest & 2R E & & — 71 8 — (19) —
Total changes from financing cash flows BER&TEZHLEE (6,482) (473) 8,925
Other changes: Eﬂ!’,ﬁib :
Addition of new lease REHNHE — 429 -
Bank borrowings (note 33(a)) fE TR i2330) - - 89
Interest expenses M B 286 19 1,021
Loss on early redemption of promissory REEEA K ZEMER
notes 36 = =
Exchange realignment E 1 38 & — 7 9
Total other changes AtZHas 322 455 1,119
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A31R - 411 17,147

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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FEVBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, £2022F 12 H31H 1 F /&

BIRER/EEF
(b) METFTHMELENEEEH

33. Cash flows information (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities (continued) (%)
Promissory Lease Bank and other
notes liabilities borrowings
RAER HEBR RTRHBER
(note 24) (note 25)
(Ht5t24) (Htit25)
Uss$000 Ussooo Ussooo
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 #2022%1R18 — 411 17,147
Changes from financing cash FMZEHRLFEEH:
flows:
Proceeds from bank borrowings 8 17§ R FT 5 7B — — 35,628
Repayments of bank borrowings 8 18 R 17 {& & — - (41,466)
Repayments of interests BEME - — (792)
Repayments of lease liabilites — EEHE&E — K&
principal - (370) -
Repayments of lease liabilities — EEHEEE — F 8
interest — (24) —
Total changes from financing BERGREZH AR
cash flows - (394) (6,630)
Other changes: Hib &g
Addition of new lease AREHNHE — 513 -
Rent concessions (note 6) Be B R H6) - (32) -
Interest expenses MERX — 24 792
Exchange realignment b 5 59 B — (33) (203)
Total other changes Hitn 2 HHasE — 472 589
At 31 December 2022 12022%12A31H — 489 11,106
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GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &, 22022 12H31H 1 F &
4. AT MBIRRARFEIEED
£
(@) EATMBRARE

34. Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

(a) Statement of financial position at the

Company
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes uss’0oo US$'000
K it FEIT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZBEREAERE
Non-current asset kRrHEE
Investments in a subsidiary RHBARIAKRE — —*
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents H&MBEEHEEY 38 38
Amounts due from JiE Uk BT BB A Bl 3K IR
subsidiaries 4,081 16,035
4,119 16,073
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals ezt E 110 -
Amounts due to shareholders F& & B 3 18 3,500 3,500
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETH B AT R IE — 4
3,610 3,504
Net current assets REBEEZFE 509 12,569
Net assets BEFE 509 12,569
EQUITY HEx
Share capital i 27 1,417 1,032
Reserves 7% (b) (908) 11,537
Total equity R 509 12,569

* Jtem with value below US$1,000

The statement of financial position of the
Company were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 March
20283 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung
sk &

Director

e

* BEEMN1,000kTHIER

AN B B RS AR O R 72023 F 3 A
0B ESFS I A NIRRT
HUTEERREE:

Mr. Qing Haodong

SR E
Director

EF

BEEMEERARF 20224 F5H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 & £2022F 12431H i1 F &
34. Statement of financial position and 5. XATIMBRARGEHEFED

reserve movement of the Company =R
(continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) RXATIEEE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R 3 ik (8 2itEBiE &%
Uss000 Uss$ooo Us$000
FEIT FEIT FETT
At 1 January 2021 7202161 A18 12,793 (1,256) 11,637

Loss and total comprehensive FREE R 2 HE
loss for the year Bes — — —

At 31 December 2021 and 2021F12 H31H

1 January 2022 R&202241A18 12,793 (1,256) 11,537
Loss and total comprehensive &R EE & 2 E &

loss for the year BERE — (14,352) (14,352)
Issuance of shares upon rights 7 4 i% & Bt & B 3

issue and placing, net of TR0 2 Fr 15 3K

transaction costs (note 27) B HBRRSKA

(Kiit27) 1,907 — 1,907

At 31 December 2022 2022%12A31H 14,700 (15,608) (908)
* ltem with value below US$1,000 (B E{E ®1,000% T K TE B
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AEMBEME

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 December
HEZ12A3BILEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20225 20214 20204 20194F 20184
Uss$’ooo  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
FETT FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 121,710 222,040 153,919 101,461 67,279
(Loss)/profit before AR5t PT15 B AT

income tax (B18) /78 (2,077) 2,486 2,549 3,560 3,550
Income tax credit/ FTiEfRige,/

(expense) () 493 (315) (528) (1,047) (939)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (E18),/ 54 (1,584) 2,171 2,021 2513 2,611
(Loss)/profit attributable LA T & 75 &1k

to: (&#8),/ F8 -

owners of the Company ZARZAF#EH A (1,584) 2,171 2,021 2,513 2,611

non-controlling interests ~ 3F 1% A% 1% 2§ — — — — —
(Loss)/profit for the year FfZ (&), FIH (1,584) 2,171 2,021 2,513 2,611

BREEMBERAF 20229 F
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMBME

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERABRE

As at 31 December

»12H831H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
uss’ooo  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$'000
FETT FETT FET FETT FETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 12,546 9,059 9,009 2562 1,411
Current assets RBEE 53,259 68,141 58,780 55,903 32,130
Total assets BEBEE 65,805 77,200 67,789 58,465 33,541
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities REEE 31,219 42,708 35,770 28,397 20,029
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 108 160 67 279 —
Total liabilities BELERE 31,327 42 868 35,837 28,676 20,029
Net current assets REEEFE 22,040 25,433 23,010 27,506 12,101
Net assets BEFE 34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789 13,512
EQUITY =
Equity attributable ZINNTE Z SN
to owners of the FE(hHEz
Company:
Share Capital & A 1,417 1,032 1,032 1,032 —*
Reserves =] 33,061 33,300 30,920 28,757 13,512
34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789 13,512
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F % % 1 2§ — — — — —
Total equity HEREE 34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789 13,512

* ltem with value below US$1,000
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